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To the shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), we are
pleased to present the annual results and the annual report
for the year ended 31st December 2024 of China Star
Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively as the “Group”) to the shareholders.

Year 2024 marked the 25th anniversary of Macau’s return
to the motherland and the achievement of the first-phase
development goals for the Henggin In-depth Cooperation
Zone. During this significant moment of citywide celebration,
President Xi Jinping visited Macau to attend the return
anniversary celebrations and the inauguration ceremony of the
new-term Special Administrative Region (SAR) government. He
delivered an important speech and inspected Macau, which
not only reinforced confidence in Macau's implementation of
“One Country, Two Systems” but also charted a new direction
for its future development.

Throughout the year, Macau and the Greater Bay Area
experienced a series of significant events and continuous
transformation. Key milestones included the official customs
closure of the Guangdong-Macau In-Depth Cooperation Zone
in Hengqgin (March), the temporary removal of 14 years of
purchase restriction on property market (April), an increase
in the duty-free shopping allowance for mainland visitors to
Hong Kong and Macau to RMB15,000 (July), nearly 1 million
tourist visits to Macau during the National Day holiday, the
implementation of new policies “one trip per week” and
“multiple entries with one visa” (November), Macau’s gaming
revenue reaching a cumulative MOP226.782 billion (a year-on-
year increase of 23.9%, recovering to 78% of pre-pandemic
levels), and the official opening of the Henggin Light Rail
Line (December). Another highlight was the completion of the
Shenzhen-Zhongshan Link, a mega infrastructure project in
the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area following
the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-Macau Bridge. After seven years
of construction, it officially opened to traffic on 30th June,
reducing the travel time between Shenzhen and Zhongshan
from two hours to just half an hour, significantly boosting
economic development between the two regions.
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With regard to the property market in Macau, starting in April
2024, Macau followed Hong Kong and other mainland cities in
fully lifting restrictive property measures, effectively unleashing
purchasing power. Multiple developers seized the opportunity
to launch projects, while the U.S. Federal Reserve’s three
interest rate cuts since September last year, combined with the
mainland’s RMB6 trillion debt resolution plan, further fueled the
property market. Annual transaction volumes exceeded 3,000
units, with most property types showing increased trading
volumes but declining prices. Entering 2025, the central
government has continued to roll out a combination of property
market stabilization measures and pro-Macau policies, such
as “multiple entries with one visa” and “one trip per week,”
injecting new growth momentum into Macau’s economy and
aiding its recovery. As the economy gradually rebounds,
this is expected to positively impact the property market.
The effects of interest rate cuts are anticipated to emerge in
the first half of 2025, and with several developers planning
launches around the Lunar New Year, residential transaction
volumes are projected to rise by approximately 10% compared
to the same period last year, reaching around 3,500 units.
Meanwhile, since the official customs closure of Henggin in
March last year, the Guangdong-Macau In-depth Cooperation
Zone has entered a new phase of development. Coupled with
favorable policies such as the removal of purchase restrictions,
the performance of Henggin in the coming year is particularly
noteworthy.
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Reflecting on the Group’s core businesses, in the film-related
business operations, the Group is leveraging its extensive
experience in the film industry to prepare for the production
of short dramas and online movies, with more such projects
expected to commence production in the coming months.
In the property development and investment operations,
the Property C7 has been officially named “Lake Yoho” and
obtained its pre-sale permit on 13th January 2025, with its
topping-out ceremony completed on 24th January 2025. It is
expected to obtain its occupancy permit in early 2026. We
plan to position it as the only upscale residential project by
the Nam Van Lakes Zone, featuring Macau’s highest standard
of hotel-style apartment delivery, complete with front and rear
garden elevator villas, a large premium clubhouse, and a
swimming pool. Additionally, the first tower of Tiffany House is
nearing sell-out, while the second tower, facing Golden Lotus
Square, was launched in the second half of the year. Notably,
the Macau government introduced favorable real estate policy
changes, unifying the mortgage ceiling for all residential
properties at 70% in January 2024 and abolishing punitive
taxes in April 2024. These measures have facilitated upgrades
or transitions to larger units, improving living conditions for
homeowners and boosting sales of Tiffany House, which offers
a relatively high proportion of larger units. In the multimedia
and entertainment business operations, as outlined in the
interim report, we successfully entered the livestreaming
e-commerce in multi-channel network e-commerce platform,
and product wholesale, trading and import-export sectors
through “fTMEBRIAZEEER A" (“YMXT"), our wholly-
owned subsidiary established in China, In the second phase,
we established a team of top-tier livestreaming hosts and
set up multiple livestreaming channels on Douyin (including
our main Douyin accounts [RIAFRE, MAZEM, and RAEH
FEREJE), as well as a “[A#” instant food brand flagship store
on Rednote to expand our customer base. Both platforms
emphasize “deeply rooted in Chinese culinary culture,
adhering to high standards and quality, ensuring every
product and series leaves a lasting impression on consumers
and earns ‘1%’ (decent) praise”. Following the launch of the
first brand, “[A##”, and its debut dessert (red bean paste)
in July 2024, we successively introduced the “All the Way

Blooming (—B8ZIE)” sister series featuring “HEfERE B
31" osmanthus-stewed pear with white fungus, “/BlEEf/\&5&”

phoenix pastry mini gold bricks as gift snacks, “4A&." beef
jerky (Taiwanese style), and “FI A, T #i & #520” cocoa cheese
cookies, all of which received widespread acclaim. In 2025,
more private label products will be introduced to the market.
In other business operations, the Group plans to develop the
shopping mall at Tiffany House into an emporium, providing
dining, shopping, and entertainment options for residents of
Tiffany House and the surrounding community.
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Looking ahead, geopolitical tensions are expected to persist in
the coming year, with the new U.S. administration’s unilateral
protectionist policies and the protracted Russia-Ukraine
conflict adding uncertainty to global trade and supply chains.
In particular, the recently announced U.S. “reciprocal tariff”
policy has sparked market concerns about trade wars and a
global economic downturn, making the economic environment
in the coming year highly challenging. During the year, we
issued a profit warning due to significant marketing, sales,
and distribution expenses, as well as increased administrative
costs, stemming from property sales and the multimedia and
entertainment business operations. However, we believe these
expenditures will yield substantial returns in the future. On the
other hand, as the market enters an interest rate reduction
cycle and the Macau government introduces property-friendly
measures, such as the full lifting of restrictive policies in April
last year in line with Hong Kong and other mainland cities,
we expect these factors to support sales of the Property C7
and the second tower of Tiffany House. With respect to the
multimedia and entertainment business operations, we will
enhance the development and launch of “[A#£” products on
e-commerce platforms to meet the needs of target customers,
expand their reach to a broader consumer base, strengthen
supply chains, and improve our private label portfolio to
heighten profit margins. The Group also plans to leverage its
extensive experience in the film industry to invest in producing
short dramas and online movies.

Looking forward, the Group aims to maximize investment
returns and achieve steady business growth by continuously
improving profitability and adapting to the changing market
conditions. Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to
extend my immense appreciation to the shareholders for their
relentless support, our staff force for their unremitting spirit,
and our business partners for their cooperation and support.

Heung Wah Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th March 2025
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31st December 2024, the Group recorded
revenue of HK$728,216,000, represented an increase of 253%
as compared to HK$206,168,000 for the year ended 31st
December 2023. During the year, the Group recorded solid
revenue growth as property development and investment
operations contributed revenue of HK$675,240,000 (2023:
HK$148,230,000), multi-media and entertainment business
operations contributed revenue of HK$50,788,000 (2023:
HK$53,503,000) and film related business operations
contributed revenue of HK$2,188,000 (2023: HK$4,435,000) to
the Group.

Loss for the year amounted to HK$350,629,000, representing
an increase of 21% from HK$289,508,000 for the year ended
31st December 2023. The increase in loss mainly attributable
to: (i) substantial increase in loss arising on change in fair
value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
amounted to HK$79,366,000 (2023: HK$27,721,000); (ii)
substantial increase in administrative expenses amounted
to HK$147,094,000 (2023: HK$95,408,000) due to increase
in headcount and operation premises of the Group during
the year; and (iii) substantial increase in marketing and
selling expenses incurred in property sales and multi-
media and entertainment business operations amounted to
HK$101,043,000 (2023: HK$79,108,000). The effect was
partially offset by the gross profit of HK$126,951,000 (2023:
HK$69,331,000) generated mainly from property development
and investment operations and multi-media and entertainment
business operations.

Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31st December 2024 amounted to HK$351,930,000,
representing an increase of 22% from HK$289,477,000 in the
previous year.

DIVIDEND
The directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st December 2024 (2023: nil).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group has three reportable segments — (1) film related
business operations; (2) property development and investment
operations; and (3) multi-media and entertainment business
operations.

HK$2,188,000 or 0%
was generated from film related business operations,
HK$675,240,000 or 93% was generated from property
development and investment operations, and HK$50,788,000

Of the total revenue for the year,

or 7% was generated from multi-media and entertainment
business operations.

Film Related Business Operations

Film related business operations included investment,
production, distribution and licensing of films and television
drama series and provision of other film related services
including artist management services.

During the previous few years, the Group has shifted its
resources to property investment and development; and
multi-media and entertainment business and thus contributed
less resources in this segment. Film production is the
Group’s ongoing business, revenue can come from sales of
film library and sub-distribute films on behalf of other film
owners. With our extensive experience and network in the
industry, the Group considers that we have comparative
advantage in this segment. A new production of the Group
is in script writing process and expects to start production in
year 2025. The Group also plan to start investment in short
dramas and internet movies which are now very popular in
the entertainment market. The Group also has investment in
production of film which is co-financing with other production
companies and will share revenue from the invested film
according to the investment percentage in the relevant
agreement. The Group takes a passive role in this kind of co-
production arrangement but needs to contribute less human
resource.
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In year 2024, revenue from film related business operations
amounted to HK$2,188,000 (2023: HK$4,435,000) and
its segment loss amounted to HK$85,465,000 (2023:
HK$52,560,000). The Group currently has no film or television
drama series in production stage and this year’s revenue was
mainly sub-distribution fees and artist management service
fees. The segment loss mainly included loss arising on
change in fair value of investment in films of HK$69,433,000
(2023: HK$7,265,000) which mainly represented investment
in a film released in year 2024 with poor box office and
revenue; impairment loss recognized in respect of film rights
of HK$4,800,000 (2023: HK$100,000);
recognised in respect of films in progress of HK$9,625,000
(2023:
deposits and other receivables for film related business of

and impairment loss

nil). For the last year, allowance for ECL on
HK$41,060,000 was made as deposit paid to a production
house for production of television drama series amounted to

RMB38,000,000 was liquidated.

Property Development and Investment Operations

Property development and investment operations included
investing and development of properties and property
management services of Tiffany House. The Group mainly
has two projects in Macau, namely (i) Lot C7 do Plano de
Urbanizacao da Baia de Praia Grande, located in the Nam Van
Lakes Zone, at Avenida Doutor Stanley Ho, registered with the
Macau Land and Real Estate Registry under no. 23070 (the
“Property C7”); and (ii) Tiffany House located at Rua De Luis
Gonzaga Gomes and Rua De Xiamen, Macau.
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The Property C7 is a lot of land with site area of 4,669 square
meters which are developing for residential and parking
purpose with the maximum allowed height of the building of
46.7 meters above sea level and maximum utilization rate
of 5.58 (parking not included) according to the Urbanistic
Conditions Plan issued by Land and Urban Construction
Bureau (“DSSCU”) on 29th June 2023. The Property C7 will be
developed into a thirteen storey building and one basement
and will have a gross floor area of (a) residential — 25,832
square meters, (b) commercial — 215 square meters and
(c) parking — 3,930 square meters. In year 2023, the Group
has entered into an operation entrustment agreement and
a main sale agreement with a well-known Macau property
developer and entrust it to assist for design, development and
construction, sales and finance arrangement of the Property
C7. The Group considered that this professional arrangement
for the Property C7 can speed up the construction process
and assist the later sales. The construction work of the
Property C7 commenced on 14th December 2023. The
Property C7 is formally named as “Lake Yoho” and will provide
312 residential units with 15 villas, one commercial unit, and
144 carparks and 30 motorcycle parks at the underground
level. The Property C7 has completed its topping out on 24th
January 2025 and obtained its presale permit on 13th January
2025. The occupation permit is expected to obtain in the first
half of year 2026. During the year, the Group has obtained
a credit facility in the amount of HK$550,000,000 to finance
the construction costs, design and sales expenses of the
Property C7. The facility is secured by first legal mortgage
over the leasehold land and properties to be erected on
Property C7 and will mature twenty-eight months after the date
of drawdown. The Group is preparing for pre-sale of Property
C7 in year 2025. After all these arrangements, the Group has
ready for the funding required for development and sales of
Property C7.

After the completion of the Acquisition (defined below) on
12th July 2024 as detailed disclosed in the below section
“Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions and Disposals”,
the Group effectively owned 75% interest in the Property C7.

11
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Tiffany House is located adjacent to Macao Polytechnic
Institute and next to Golden Lotus Square, and is a couple
of blocks away from Macau Fisherman’s Wharf and Sands
Casino. Tiffany House has a gross floor area of (a) residential
— 31,192 square meters, including 3,819 square meters for
clubhouse, (b) commercial — 3,716 square meters and (c)
parking — 11,250 square meters. It provides 230 residential
units in two towers, with units ranging from studio flats to
four-bedroom apartments as well as special units and 272
carparks and 75 motorcycle parks in three underground levels.
A prestigious clubhouse decided by Mr. William Chang, a
famous art director and star designer in Hong Kong which
provides a wide range of facilities including swimming pool,
gym room, well equipped kitchen, yoga and dance room,
etc. Tiffany House has obtained its occupational permit in
December 2019. The sales of the residential units of Tiffany
House started in October 2022 and its first sales completed in
January 2023. Sales started at Tower 1 of Tiffany House with
115 residential units and gross floor area of 161,000 square
feet. Tower 2 which facing Golden Lotus Square and Guia
Hill with 115 units and gross floor area of 175,000 square
feet are expected to have higher unit price has started sales
in September 2024. During the year, sales of 66 residential
units with gross floor area of 87,000 square feet in Tower 1,
16 residential units with gross floor area of 15,000 square
feet in Tower 2 and 27 carparks and 5 motorcycle parks were
completed with aggregate consideration of HK$674,308,000.
As at 31st December 2024, there were 126 residential units
with gross floor area of 218,000 square feet, 243 carparks
and 70 motorcycle parks unsold, of which 21 residential units
with gross floor area of 33,000 square feet, 5 carparks and
2 motorcycle parks have signed provisional agreements with
aggregate consideration of HK$197,697,000. During the year,
the Macau government has announced substantial changes to
Macau’s real estate policy. The removal of the standardization
of the maximum mortgage limit across all residences at 70%
in January 2024 and the relief of imposition of punitive taxes
in April 2024 have aid property owners looking to upgrade
or alter their living conditions for larger units.
measures have benefit sales of Tiffany House which has
comparatively more large units. Our marketing strategy is “you
pay similar price and you enjoy larger area” and therefore
we achieved higher transactions in this year.
properties value is unavoidably affected by the downturn of
residential market in Macau. The Group believes that excellent
building management services can increase the value of the
properties and thus Tiffany House is managed by our self-
formed building management services teams and has provided
excellent services to all tenants.

In turn, these

However, our



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4= e CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED 4 22 4 Bl 5 BR » 1)

B P g i 2t % 73 Hr Management Discussion and Analysis

RZZ_NE NERBIRELEEB 2HEZR
675,240,000 7t (= F = = 4 : 148,230,000/ 7T) °
MEDHEEE A5121,106,0008 T (Z T == F ¢
134,374,000 7T) - AEEAERBAREURLE e T
EZHE DEEBRIZARURNB e REZRITER
([EHER]) 2@MEKAR113,474,0008 L (ZE==F:
139,006,000/ 7T) R IR JE » 5 & Z #i #28,481,0007%5
T(ZEZ=F:8) REXNAELBEEERERE
EREEBHRABERAE - KRB o & Z MR IE
DEMNEMERZEAEREGHEEZTRE RZT
ZHEAEEEDMRYEHEEERNBERE I
BKIWRPEHERRERERAN c T - MFRPFIEE
R REEMI1%  EBEFEEMTFEHRKFHER
FTHI% BAZT_RFEF BMEERS T5

B2ASRE -

SHRERRBCEXY

MMNEAMAZEBERRABA/ARARTENZEN
BRAR IBXEBRZEBRRELLEER BRES
HERKREFEBFTAERETEBNME HEERK
EoURBENHEEARMEER RMCELHZRE
FHEETRARNBERYRAERIZEEERE (B
RAMEENZRFAARE MAZRRAKEEIE
BE)  URARMNEFER - AEERETLEZEE
mEnE IR FRECEER HERBRAER
CEIHEREBABARENARXZBA (AR FE
BHD)REHBN\TEBRRNGCE  BRANTERLE
FREFX NBE_Z_MNF+_A=+—BILFER "
RESESIBBETaMNTN  YHEBEMANERER
BERMNBEHERSBERATHEBAEIN - HIITFF
ZARFXmEER BEORERIBREIE £ERM
MERmEEm R_T_HFLAH HMAKELEES
KmEER REEFAED] - FANAEDUAREL
B tFEURERR R AN RBEK  BRARTS L

In year 2024, revenue from property development and
investment operations amounted to HK$675,240,000
(2023: HK$148,230,000) and its segment loss amounted to
HK$121,106,000 (2023: HK$134,374,000). All revenue in this
year came from sales in Tiffany House. The segment loss
was mainly included finance costs for the bank loan of Tiffany
House (the “Term Loan”) amounted to HK$113,474,000 (2023:
HK$139,006,000) and the write-down of Tiffany House of
HK$28,481,000 (2023: nil). The finance costs continued the
burden for the performance of the property development and
investment operations. Write down of Tiffany House represented
the shortfall of the carrying amount of some of individual unit
prices compared with their estimated selling prices. In year
2024, the Group made sound decision towards speeding up
the process of property sales and successfully decreased
the Term Loan and its finance costs. Macau’s total residential
transactions increased by 11% in year 2024 but the average
price per square meter of the overall residential units fell by
9% year-on-year. In the first quarter of year 2025, the property
market continues to be sluggish, and the market has a strong
wait-and-see atmosphere.

Multi-media and Entertainment Business Operations

MNERRAZHEERAT,

the Company in China which principal activities are multi-

a wholly owned subsidiary of

media and entertainment business operations which included
development, promotion and operation of livestreaming
e-commerce in multi-channel network e-commerce platform
and development and sales of private label products. We
have established team of talented livestreamers and set up
various livestreaming channels in Douyin including our main
Douyin account MARE , MAZE R and RFEEHEEE to
enhance our customer base. The Group has positioned it to
the appropriate market share, i.e. premium products such as
brand handbags. Our Douyin channel [RAZf has created
the record of over RMB100 million gross merchandise value
(“GMV”) a day and over 80 million viewers in the day and is
now the first seller in Douyin for brand bags. During the year
ended 31st December 2024, other than being as the mediator
in the internet platform and keep a margin of commission each
& every sale that is done through our livestreaming channels
advertising fees income, we have developed our private label
products and cooperate with other suppliers or factories to
produce our private label products. In July 2024, we launched

13
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our first private label product “Red Beans Paste (R E T4 S
#»)”. Our Red Beans Paste is made of high-quality red beans,
over 10 years tangerine peel and other fresh ingredients
which is differentiated from most similar products on the
market. We use the slogan “ {R[FIFFH])
and healthier message of the product to our customers and
position it as “ZEFE - TRTHR  EHEH KRBE " in
order to satisfy the consumers’ needs in different moment of

to convey the superior

a day. In October 2024, we launch another popular product
“Beef Jerky (RAIFENFAT )", its slogan is “EEXNFH
g RBEITBAKES "

stock sold out every day and we have to demand supplier to

In January and February 2025, our

increase their production capacities. Up to the year ended 31st
December 2024, we have already launched Red Beans Paste
(BREETF4EY), Beef Jerky (RAFEMIFHWT ), Fengheung
Pastry ( BIEEL ) and Stewed whole pear with Osmanthus and
White Fungus (EFEIREMEEESR ). Other than livestreaming in
Douyin, the sales channel of these products include Taobao
(¥E ), Rednote (/NALZE ), Tmall (X% ) and Mini program (
{=/NEFF ) in order to increase our sales channels. Our private
label products become increasingly recognise in the market,
quickly becoming synonymous with “quality, premium and
lifestyle” and thereby, our brand is gaining millions of returning
customers.

In year 2024, our total GMV (after sales return) was
RMB378,357,000. Revenue from multi-media and entertainment
business operations amounted to HK$50,788,000 (2023:
HK$53,503,000) and its segment loss amounted to
HK$55,780,000 (2023: HK$58,973,000).
similar to last year as the Group shifted part of its resource

The revenue was

to development of private label products and these products
start to launch in the second half of the year. The loss mainly
included administrative, marketing and operation expenses.
As more and more new joiners enter the livestreaming
e-commerce industry, competition becomes increasingly
fierce. The commission margin and income from livestreaming
is unavoidable influenced. Our products must be unique and
superior to other competitors, so we produce, renovate and
develop our private label products “ [A# ”. Our private label
products become more popular in the market in the beginning
of year 2025. During the year ended 31st December 2024, the
Group has built a more comprehensive organization structure
to support the rapid growth of this business and to lay a solid
foundation for its future development and thus marketing and
advertising expenses are spent to increase the publicity of our
sales channels and the number of our followers.
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Other Business Operations

For the commercial mall in Tiffany House, the Group intends to
develop it into shopping mall which can provide restaurants,
shops and daily necessities to the tenants in Tiffany House
and the nearby residents. In year 2024, the Group has opened
a restaurant, a café and a convenient store. As all these
business operations are still in its early stages, we will not
classify them into new and reportable business segments.
During the year ended 31st December 2024, these operations
were still operated at a loss. They need time to increase
their customers and reach a balance between income and
expenditure.

Geographical Segments

For the geographical segments, revenue of HK$192,000 or
0% (2023: HK$805,000 or 1%) was sourced from Hong Kong,
revenue of HK$675,240,000 or 93% (2023: HK$148,230,000
or 72%) was sourced from Macau, revenue of HK$52,784,000
or 7% (2023: HK$56,673,000 or 27%) was sourced from China
and no revenue (2023: HK$460,000 or 0%) was sourced from
other territories. Revenue from Macau mainly represented
property sales of Tiffany House and revenue from China mainly
represented income from multi-media and entertainment
business operations.

Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31st December 2024, administrative
expenses amounted to HK$147,094,000 (2023:
HK$95,408,000), The
increase mainly included administrative expenses incurred

representing an increase of 54%.

in our multi-media and entertainment business operations,
catering operations and the operation of retail sales. During
the year, both headcount and operation premises of the Group
were increased. Depreciation increased from HK$12,071,000
from the year ended 31st December 2023 to HK$27,621,000
for the year ended 31st December 2024, an increased
by 129% as decorations in catering operations and retail
sales started depreciation in the year. Employee benefit
expenses classified as administrative expenses amounted
to HK$62,178,000 as compared to HK$43,023,000, also
increased by 45%.
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Marketing, Selling and Distribution Expenses

For the year ended 31st December 2024, marketing, selling
and distribution expenses amounted to HK$101,043,000
(2023: HK$79,108,000), representing an increase of 28%. The
increase was mainly due to marketing and selling expenses
of Tiffany House which included engagement of consultancy
parties and agency commission and marketing expenses
incurred in multi-media and entertainment business operations
which included advertising expenses in maintaining the
publicity of the livestreaming channels such as the Douyin
accounts and the number of followers.

Finance Costs

For the year ended 31st December 2024, finance costs
amounted to HK$134,827,000 (2023: HK$142,994,000) were
charged to the consolidated income statement which mainly
included interests financing construction costs of Tiffany
House amounted to HK$113,474,000 (2023: HK$139,006,000).
Interests amounted to HK$29,286,000 (2023: nil) financing
construction costs of the Property C7 were capitalized to
stock of properties. The decrease in finance costs charged to
consolidated income statement was mainly due to decrease of
Term Loan after loan repayment in the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31st December 2024, the Group had total assets of
HK$4,205,511,000 (2023: HK$5,184,596,000) and net current
assets of HK$2,863,164,000 (2023: HK$3,833,363,000),
representing a current ratio of 4.6 (2023: 4.5). The Group
had cash and bank balances, time deposits and restricted
cash in aggregate balance of HK$126,425,000 (2023:

HK$130,581,000).
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As at 31st December 2024, the Group had total borrowing
of HK$1,629,316,000 (2023: HK$1,803,257,000) which
comprised the Term Loan of HK$1,057,829,000 (2023:
HK$1,580,312,000), a secured bank loan (the “Secured
Loan”) of HK$80,986,000 (2023: HK$87,142,000),
term loan from a finance company (the “Short Term Loan”) of
HK$165,000,000 (2023: unsecured loan of HK$100,000,000),
an unsecured loan from a related company (the “Director
Loan”) of HK$35,000,000 (2023: nil),
loan (the “Construction Loan”) and its accrued interests
of HK$272,315,000 (2023: nil) and lease liabilities of
HK$18,186,000 (2023: HK$35,803,000).

a secured

a secured property

The purpose of the Term Loan is to finance the construction
costs and any other soft costs in relation to Tiffany House
and secured by first legal mortgage over properties of Tiffany
House with carrying amount as stock of properties and
restricted cash in aggregate amount of HK$1,460,572,000
(2023: HK$2,308,160,000), interest bearing at Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) for three or six month period
selected by the borrower plus margin of 2.85% (2023: HIBOR
plus 3%) per annum for each interest period and its minimum
repayment schedules are as follows:

Minimum

Repayment Date (counting Repayment

Instalments  from 13th December 2022) Amount
(HK$)

1 12 months 50,000,000
2 18 months 160,000,000
3 24 months 160,000,000
4 30 months 160,000,000
5 36 months 160,000,000
6 42 months 160,000,000
7 48 months (final maturity) 850,000,000
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There is a clause in the Term Loan that mandatory prepayment
in an amount of 90% of the net sales proceeds from Tiffany
House (net deduction of direct expenses to be accepted
by the lender) or dispositions of any properties or assets
of Tiffany House unless otherwise approved by the lender.
The remaining sales proceeds from Tiffany House after the
repayment shall be deposited into charge accounts, and can
only be used for the payment of interest of the Term Loan.
The original Term Loan facility was HK$1,700,000,000, after
an aggregate repayment of HK$642,171,000, the outstanding
balance is HK$1,057,829,000 which has fulfilled the minimum
repayment requirement in the first 24 months. During the
year ended 31st December 2024, the Group repaid principal
of HK$522,483,000 and has to repay further principal of
HK$47,829,000 within the next 12 months in order to fulfill the
minimum repayment amount.

The Secured Loan is in original currency of New Taiwan Dollar
342,000,000, secured by investment property in carrying
amount of HK$150,297,000, interest bearing at floating rate of
2-year New Taiwan Dollar deposit at Chungwa Post Co., Ltd
plus margin 1.43% per annum (i.e. 3.15% as at 31st December
2024) which will mature on 12th March 2028.

The Short Term Loan is secured by the Group’s property
in carrying amount of HK$42,799,000 (2023: nil), personal
guarantee provided by Mr. Heung Wah Keung (“Mr. Heung”)
and Ms. Chen Ming Yin Tiffany (“Ms. Chen”), being directors
and controlling shareholders of the Company, interest bearing
at 183.5% per annum and will mature on 20th November
2025. Part of the funding from the Short Term Loan was
used to repay an unsecured loan in principal amount of
HK$100,000,000 on 20th November 2024 which was interest
bearing at 10% per annum.

The Director Loan is unsecured, interest bearing at 13.5% per
annum and will mature on 20th November 2025. The source of
fund for the Director Loan was same as the Short Term Loan.
The repayment of the Director Loan is deferred after the Short
Term Loan.
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The purpose of the Construction Loan is to finance the
construction costs, design and sales expenses of the
Property C7. The facility amount of the Construction
Loan is HK$550,000,000, secured by first legal mortgage
over the leasehold land and properties to be erected on
Property C7 with carrying amount as stock of properties of
HK$1,670,860,000 and will mature twenty-eight months after
i.e. 2nd November 2026.
payable annually at the rate of 18% per annum.

the date of drawdown, Interest is

As at 31st December 2024, the Group had bank and other
credit facilities amounted to HK$2,466,746,000 which
were utilized to extent of HK$2,030,986,000. The Group’s
gearing was acceptable during the year with total debts of
HK$1,629,316,000 (2023: HK$1,803,257,000) against owners’
equity of HK$2,053,818,000 (2023: HK$2,661,142,000). This
represents a gearing ratio, calculated in the basis of the
Group’s total borrowings over owners’ equity of 79% (2023:
68%).

As at the date of approving these annual results and as at
31st December 2024,
securities listed in Hong Kong held at 31st December 2024

the fair value of the Group’s equity

was HK$8,183,000 (excluded fair value of equity security
stated at HK$2,700,000 sold after 31st December 2024) and
HK$11,802,000 respectively. During the year ended 31st
December 2024,
any equity securities listed in Hong Kong. The loss arising on

the Group did not acquired or disposed

change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through
profit and loss of HK$9,933,000 was resulted from change in
fair values of equity securities listed in Hong Kong between
the year ended 31st December 2024 and 31st December
2023. As at 31st December 2024, no single equity security’s
fair value held by the Group accounted for 5% or more of the
total assets of the Group.

During the year, 164,000,000 awards granted to Ms. Chen, the
substantial shareholder and executive director of the Company
were lapsed and no awards were granted, vested, expired or
cancelled. As at 31st December 2024, there were no awards
outstanding.

During the year ended 31st December 2024, no share options
of the Company were outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed,
expired or cancelled.
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CHARGES OF ASSETS

As at 31st December 2024,
certain bank accounts in aggregate carrying amount of
HK$1,460,572,000 and quota capital of China Star Creative
Development Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of the

stock of properties and

Company which is engaged in the business of property
development and investment has been pledged for banking
facilities of HK$1,700,000,000 granted to the Group; stock
of properties in carrying amounts of HK$1,670,860,000 has
been pledged for other credit facilities of HK$550,000,000
granted to the Group; time deposit in amount of HK$168,000
has been pledged as guarantee to Macau government for
deposits in the development of stock of properties in Macau;
the Group’s property in carrying amount of HK$42,799,000 has
been pledged for the Short Term Loan facility; and investment
property in carrying amount of HK$150,297,000 has been
pledged for the Secured Loan facility.

EXCHANGE RISK AND HEDGING

Majority of the Group’s transactions, assets and liabilities are
denominated in Hong Kong Dollar, Macau Pataca, United
States Dollar, New Taiwan Dollar and Renminbi. The exposure
to fluctuation in exchange rates in Renminbi mainly arises from
multi-media and entertainment business operations in China
and receipts and expenditure incurred in film investment,
production and distribution. The Group has closely monitors its
exposure to this fluctuation and consider appropriate hedging
activities if necessary. The exposure to fluctuation in other
currencies is consider to be minimal and no hedge activity is
considered necessary.

COMMITMENTS

As at 31st December 2024, outstanding commitments
by the Group amounted to HK$1,058,405,000, of which
HK$1,025,212,000 for development expenditure of stock
HK$16,046,000 for development
expenditure of catering operations in Macau and
HK$17,147,000 for film rights, films in progress and film
deposits.

of properties in Macau,

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31st December 2024,
contingent liability.

the Group had no material
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

Modern Vision (Asia) Limited (“Modern Vision”) which is an
indirect wholly owned subsidiary of the Company is currently
indirectly interested in 50% of the Property C7 through Over
Profit International Limited (“Over Profit”). On 20th February
2024, Reform Base Holdings Limited (“Reform Base”) which
is wholly owned by Ms. Chen, Ms. Chen and Modern Vision
entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”) pursuant to
which Reform Base has agreed to transfer the rights (the
“Rights”) in relation to the shareholding of Reform Base in
Over Profit including: (1) the right of Modern Vision to make
recommendations to Reform Base on the management and
operations of Over Profit; (2) the right of Modern Vision to
make recommendation of such persons as Modern Vision may
elect to be directors of Over Profit; and (3) the right for Modern
Vision to receive dividends and other distribution of Over
Profit payable or due to Reform Base, at the consideration of
HK$479,678,000 (the “Acquisition”). The consideration shall
be satisfied by setting-off such amount from loan to director
in principal amount of HK$500,000,000. The difference
of HK$20,322,000 should be pay by Ms. Chen to Modern
Vision between 6 and 12 months from date of completion.
The transaction constitutes a disclosable transaction and
connected transaction of the Company and was approved
by the shareholders of the Company on 8th July 2024 and
completed on 12th July 2024.

There were no other significant investments, material
acquisitions or disposals during the year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
As at 31st December 2024, the Group employed 237
staff (2023: 236 staff) with employee benefit expenses
(included directors’ remuneration) of HK$90,799,000
(2023: HK$58,404,000), of which HK$62,178,000 (2023:
HK$43,023,000) classified as administrative expenses
and HK$28,621,000 (2023: HK$15,381,000) classified as
marketing, selling and distribution expenses, an overall
increase of 55%. The increase mainly included increase
in headcount who are responsible for multi-media and
entertainment business operations in China and catering
and retail operations in Macau. The directors believe that
the quality of its employees is the single most important
factor in sustaining the Group’s reputation and improving
its profitability. The staff are remunerated based on their
work performance, professional experience and prevailing
industry practices. Apart from basic salaries, pension fund,
housing allowances, meal allowances, medical schemes
and discretionary bonuses, share options and share awards
are awarded to certain staff according to the assessment of
individual performance.
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EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

There is no significant event took place subsequent to end of
the reporting date.

PROSPECT

In year 2024, the Group has achieved remarkable sales
in Tiffany House and the Property C7 has commenced
construction and plans to pre-sell in year 2025. The Group
adopts a conservative approach in selling properties and
Macau’s economy is crucial for our properties sales. In year
2024, Macau celebrated its 25th anniversary of returning
to the motherland, President Xi Jinping visited Macau for
the handover celebration and the inauguration ceremony of
the new Macau government. This visit enhanced Macau's
confidence in implementing “one country, two systems”
outlined a new direction for Macau’s future development.
As an integral special region of China’s long-term economic
development, Macau’s economic future is secure and strong,
boistering our confidence in Macau’s prospects. Macau
property market is expected to experience several positive
trends in the coming years. Macau’s efforts to diversify its
economy away from heavy reliance on gaming and tourism
will create new opportunities in commercial and industrial
real estate. Meanwhile, improvements in transportation links
between Macau, Hong Kong, and mainland China could have
boosted property values in our properties’ areas. Macau
government is expected to maintain a stable and supportive
regulatory environment for property investments, encouraging
both local and foreign investors. Our properties will benefit
from demand for luxury properties with the return of high-
net-worth individuals and investors. However, the interest
rate trends remain a significant factor influencing property
demand. In conclusion, we are confidence with the Macau
property market, supported by favorable government policies,
infrastructure development, and increased demand across
various sectors. Investors and potential buyers can anticipate
a dynamic and growing market with numerous opportunities
for both short-term gains and long-term investments.
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Due to the keen competition in year 2024, the Group’s
livestreaming e-commerce business has been adversely
impacted. Nevertheless, the Group remains optimistic about
the potential of livestreaming e-commerce business in China.
Keen competition also leads to a growing user base as more
consumers adopt this shopping method. Our directors, Ms.
Chen and Mr. Heung are key opinion leaders and celebrities
who play a crucial role in driving sales through live streaming
by leveraging their large followings to promote products
effectively. With the launch of more and more of our new
private label products in the market, reaching a wider audience
and with their generally higher margin, we can expect a boost
in sales of these products which would further increase our
revenue. In the future, our private label products will extend to
in-store sales which remain a key part of major sales channels.

In conclusion, the future of livestreaming e-commerce
looks promising, driven by sustained growth, technological
innovation, and evolving consumer preferences. As the market
matures, it will likely become an even more integral part
of the global e-commerce landscape. With the Company’s
continuous improvements in supply chain management
capabilities and the expansion of its product portfolio, we
are able to collaborate with more e-commerce platforms and
tailor our product portfolio to meet the diverse needs of target
consumers of different platforms. This would ensure that
consumers receive consistently high-quality products, brand
experience and services through different platforms.

Looking forward, the Group will continue to grasp favorable
opportunities brought by its multi-media and entertainment
business and will enhance the development of commercial mall
in Tiffany House as well as sales of residential units and will
strive to achieve high quality development and successfully
monetizing the value of the Property C7.
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DIRECTORS

Mr. HEUNG Wah Keung, aged 76, is the Chairman and
executive director of the Company. He is the husband of
Ms. Chen, Vice Chairman and executive director of the
Company. He has 50 years of experience in the entertainment
and multimedia industries. He was the founder of Win's
Entertainment Limited (“Win’s”) and One Hundred Years of
Film Company Limited (“One Hundred Years”), which produces
films recommended by audiences and distributors around the
world. He is also the honorable chairman and director of Hong
Kong Kowloon and New Territories Motion Picture Industry
Association Limited. Mr. Heung was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in 1996.

Ms. CHEN Ming Yin, Tiffany, aged 68, is the Vice Chairman
and executive director of the Company and the wife of
Mr. Heung. She has nearly 40 years of experience in the
entertainment and multimedia industries and over 15 years of
experience in property development. Ms. Chen has produced
a number of blockbuster films for Win's and One Hundred
Years. In 2003, she was selected as one of 2003 Women
in Entertainment — International Power by The Hollywood
Reporter. For the years from 2006 to 2010, Ms. Chen was
involved in the planning, monitoring and management of the
renovation and operation of “Beijing Jianguo Apartment” into
serviced apartment by Beijing Shama Real Estate Development
Co. Ltd. Ms. Chen was responsible for all planning and
monitoring of the purchase of Macau Kingsway Hotel in 2007
and then renovated and designed it into two years later’s Hotel
Lan Kwai Fong Macau that launched in August 2009. Hotel Lan
Kwai Fong Macau has been awarded with several international
accolades, which included the “5th China Hotel Starlight
Awards 2009 — Best Designed Boutique Hotel of China”
and the “2012 TripAdvisor Travelers’ Choice 2012 Winner —
Trendiest”. In respect of promoting the notion of environmental
protection, Hotel Lan Kwai Fong Macau has won the “AHF Asia
Awards 2010 - Leading Green Hotel of Asia” and the “Macao
Green Hotel Award 2010 — Bronze Award”. The result has
been obvious and encouraging. Hotel Lan Kwai Fong Macau
was disposed in 2018 and brought considerable profit to the
Group. Other than the duties and responsibilities of the Vice
Chairman, Ms. Chen is also responsible for implementation,
monitoring and management of the approval, planning and
development of the property development projects of the
Group. The Group’s property development project, Tiffany
House is responsible by Mr. Chen. In year 2023, Ms. Chen
develops multi-media and entertainment business operations
for the Group. Ms. Chen is an internet celebrity and she
has an account in Douyin which attracted over ten million of
followers. On 7th May 2023, Ms. Chen started a livestreaming
e-commerce using her Douyin account and she is the network
anchor for the livestreaming e-commerce event. The gross
merchandise value for that date was over RMB81 million. Ms.
Chen was appointed as an executive director of the Company
in 1996.
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Ms. LI Yuk Sheung, aged 57, is an executive director of
the Company. She has more than 20 years experience of
management in the entertainment and multimedia industries.
She is responsible for the overall operations, and is familiar
with the Group’s system. Ms. Li was appointed as an executive
director of the Company in 2001.

Mr. HUNG Cho Sing, aged 84, is an independent non-
executive director of the Company. He has over 50 years
of experience in the film distribution industry and founded
Delon International Film Corporation in 1970. He has been the
chairman of Hong Kong Kowloon and New Territories Motion
Picture Industry Association Limited since 1991 and was the
chairman of Hong Kong Film Awards Association from 1992 to
1995. He was also appointed as a consultant of the China Film
Association. Mr. Hung is also a member of the 1,500-member-
HKSAR Election Committee and a vice-chairman of the Cultural
Profession Committee of the Guangdong, Hong Kong and
Macau Cooperation Promotion Council (BR%E EERAE (ER
EeXtEELZEgE|EEEE), and was elected the vice-
chairman of Film Association of Guangdong, China for the
period from November 2016 to November 2021. Mr. Hung
was awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) by the HKSAR
Government in 2005 in recognition of his contribution to the
Hong Kong film industry.

Mr. Hung was an independent non-executive director of Miko
International Holdings Limited (stock code: 1247) during the
period from 14th April 2016 to 16th June 2023. Mr. Hung is an
independent non-executive director of Harbour Digital Asset
Capital Limited (stock code: 913) and Oshidori International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 622) since 10th October 2014
and 6th April 2017 respectively. All these companies are listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Mr. Hung was an executive
director of Eje (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited (stock code:
8101) from 23rd May 2016 to 21st December 2022. Mr. Hung
was an independent non-executive director of hmvod Limited
(stock code: 8103) during the period from 3rd April 2023
to 27th September 2024. Mr. Hung is an independent non-
executive director of Koala Financial Group Limited (stock
code: 8226) since 15th May 2015. The above three companies
are listed on the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Hung
was appointed as a non-executive director of the Company in
1996.
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Mr. HO Wai Chi, Paul, aged 73, is an independent non-
executive director of the Company. He is the managing
partner of Paul W. C. Ho & Company, Certified Public
Accountants (Practising), and is an associate of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, United
Kingdom and a fellow of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Ho was an independent non-
executive director of Ngai Hing Hong Company Limited (stock
code: 1047), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, during the period for 1st April 2003 to 20th
December 2024. Mr. Ho was appointed as a non-executive
director of the Company in 1996.

Mr. TAl Kwok Leung, Alexander, aged 67, is an independent
non-executive director of the Company. Mr. Tai graduated
from Victoria University of Wellington in New Zealand with a
degree in Bachelor of Commerce and Administration in 1982
and became an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants in 1983. Mr. Tai has extensive
accountancy, corporate finance and investment experience
in Hong Kong and overseas. Mr. Tai is licensed corporation
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance to conduct Type
1 (dealing in securities), Type 4 (advising on securities), and
Type 9 (asset management) regulated activities. Mr. Tai is
a member of Shandong Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference.

Mr. Tai was appointed as an executive director of Finet Group
Limited (stock code: 8317), which is listed on the GEM Board
of the Stock Exchange, on 18th January 2024. He is also an
independent non-executive director of G & M Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 6038) and BExcellent Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1775) which are both listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, since 12th May 2017 and 1st July
2024, respectively. Mr. Tai was also an independent non-
executive director of Shengiing Bank Co, Ltd. (stock code:
2066), AAG Energy Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 2686), Luk
Fook Holdings (International) Limited (Stock Code: 0590) and
Jiayuan International Group Limited (Stock Code: 2768), which
are all listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from
7th August 2018 to 14th October 2024, from 24th August 2018
to 12th July 2023, from 24th July 2008 to 20th August 2020
and from 12th February 2016 to 30th June 2022, respectively.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. TSANG Anna, aged 60, is the Legal Administration
Manager of the Group. She has over 15 years of experience
in the TV & Film Industry. Ms. Tsang has extensive
experience across production, distribution and library content
management of the Film & TV business and expertise in legal
related aspects in Film & TV production, distribution and
copyright enforcement. Ms. Tsang oversees the Department
of Legal Administration, Film & TV Distribution and Content
Library Management of the Group. Ms. Tsang also involves
negotiation on Film & TV production and distribution projects
and took on responsibility of Film & TV production, distribution
and copyright legal-related aspect for the Group. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Tsang worked at the Legal Department
of Hong Kong Hospital Authority and TVBI International
Limited. Ms. Tsang has completed Company Secretary
studies and had been studied LLB of University of London
and a graduate of Diploma for Legal Studies. Ms. Tsang has
achieved the qualification to use the benchmark as Legal
Executive of The Law Society of Hong Kong. Ms. Tsang joined
the Group in 1999.

Mr. WAI Kai Fai, aged 62, is the Film and TV Consultant of the
Group. Mr. Wai is a renowned Film and TV Producer, Director
and Scriptwriter, he has produced, directed and script-written
films and TV drama for more than 20 years. Mr. Wai's Feature
Films Production has been invited by Worldwide Film Festival
for screening and nomination for awards, many of Mr. Wai's
Feature Film earned awards in Hong Kong and Worldwide.
Mr. Wai's TV series “Look Back with Anger” and “The Greed of
Man”
re-run of these TV series is also a hit and has pull in lots of

is hugely popular on the premiere run, after many years,

new generation audience. The feature films produced and/or
directed by Mr. Wai include “Needing You”, “Love On A Diet”,
“Fat Choi Spirit”, “My Left Eye Sees Ghosts”, “Love For All
Seasons”, “Running On Karma”, “Fantasia”, “The Shopaholics”,
“Mad Detective”,
2000.

“Written By” etc. Mr. Wai joined the Group in
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Ms. WONG Shuk Han, Dorothy, aged 59, is the Financial
Controller and Company Secretary of the Company. She
graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor
degree in Accountancy in 1990. She is an associate member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Prior to her employment with the Group, she
worked with an international accounting firm for over 10 years.
Ms. Wong is primarily responsible for the supervision of the
Group’s accounting and financial reporting procedures and
internal control system. Ms. Wong joined the Group in 2001.

Ms. YEUNG Porlin, age 59, currently serves as the Regional
Director of the group, with over 20 years of experience in
television & film operations and real estate development
and management. Since joining the group in 1997, she has
successfully spearheaded the strategic transition from the TV
and Film industry to physical asset operations. Beginning in
2006, she assisted the group in overseeing the development
of high-end serviced residences, star-rated hotels, and
commercial complexes in Beijing and Macau, driving the
completion of over 100,000 meters square of assets. In 2013,
she concurrently assumed the role of Executive Director of
Macau Lan Kwai Fong Hotel, where she innovatively launched
the “entertainment + accommodation” project, setting a new
benchmark for boutique hotels in Macau. Under her leadership,
the team received multiple accolades, including the “5th
China Hotel Starlight Awards 2009 — Best Designed Boutique
Hotel of China”, the “AHF Asia Awards 2010 — Leading Green
Hotel of Asia”, the “Macao Green Hotel Award 2010 — Bronze
Award”, and the “2012 Trip Advisor Travelers’ Choice — Top 25
Trendiest Hotels in China”. Ms. Yeung holds a MBA from the
University of Leicester (UK) and an Advanced Diploma in Hotel
Management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. ZHANG Sai, aged 34, is the Chief Operating Officer of the
multi-media and entertainment business in China. Mr. Zhang
graduated from Anhui University (211 University) in 2013
with a Double Bachelor's Degree in Chemical Engineering
and Business Administration. Before joining the Group, Mr.
Zhang worked in the e-commerce industry for 8 years and has
extensive experience in traditional e-commerce, livestreaming
and brand operation management. Mr. Zhang is mainly
responsible for the overall planning and execution of China’s
multi-media and entertainment business operations. Mr. Zhang
joined the Group in 2023.
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INTRODUCTION

The board (the “Board”) of directors (“Directors”) of the
Company and the management of the Company are committed
to establishing good corporate governance practices and
procedures. The maintenance of high standard of business
ethics and corporate governance practices has always
been one of the goals of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”).
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective

The Company believes that good corporate
management, successful business growth and a healthy
corporate culture, thereby leading to the enhancement of
shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasize a quality Board, sound internal controls,
transparency and accountability to all shareholders. By
applying rigorous corporate governance practices, the
Group believes that its accountability and transparency will
be improved thereby instilling confidence to shareholders
and the public. Throughout the financial year ended 31st
December 2024, the Company has applied the principles
and complied with all the applicable code provisions laid
down in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
The Board
has, since the amendments to the Listing Rules regarding

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

corporate governance practices were first proposed by the
Stock Exchange, continued to monitor and review the Group’s
progress in respect of corporate governance practices to
ensure compliance. Meetings were held throughout the year
and where appropriate, circulars and other guidance notes
were issued to directors and senior management of the
Group to ensure awareness to issues regarding corporate
governance practices.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE AND
VALUE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are
conducted in accordance with high ethical standards. This
reflects its belief that, in the achievement of its long-term
objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency
and accountability. By so acting, the Company believes that
Shareholder wealth will be maximised in the long term and
that its employees, those with whom it does business and the
communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board
instructs management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a
view to ensuring that its objectives are met.

The Board is committed to maintaining and developing robust
corporate governance practices that are intended to ensure:

(a) satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

(b) that the interests of those who deal with the Company
are safeguarded;

(c) that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

(d) the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers; and

(e) that high standards of ethics are maintained.

The Board is responsible for determining the mission and
value of the Company, promoting the corporate culture among
its operations and all the staff and incorporating them into
business decisions and operations to ensure that the value
and business strategies of the Company are in line with the
corporate culture.
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THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic
decisions and performances and is collectively responsible
for promoting the success of the Company by directing
and supervising its affairs. In practice, the Board takes
responsibility for decision making in all major matters of the
Company including: the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, the setting of objectives, annual budgets and overall
strategies, material transaction, appointment of directors and
other significant financial and operational matters. The Board
is also responsible for performing overall corporate governance
duties, including formulating and reviewing the Company’s
corporate governance policy and practice, reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of directors and senior management, reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements, formulating, reviewing and
monitoring the code of conduct applicable to directors, and
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code. During
the year, the Board has performed all of the above functions.
The day-to-day management, administration and operation of
the Company are delegated to the senior executives. These
responsibilities include the implementation of decisions of the
Board, the co-ordination and direction of day-to-day operation
and management of the Company in accordance with the
management strategies and plans approved by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by these senior executives
and the Board has the full support of them to discharge its
responsibilities.
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Composition

As at 31st December 2024, the Board comprises six Directors:
including three executive Directors, namely, Mr. Heung
(Chairman), Ms. Chen (Vice Chairman, performing the role of
chief executive as stated in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules)
and Ms. Li Yuk Sheung and three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Hung Cho Sing, Mr. Ho Wai Chi, Paul

and Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander.

One of the independent non-executive Directors has
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The number of
independent non-executive Directors is more than one-third
of the Board. Biographical details of the Directors are set out
in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 24 to 28.

The presence of three independent non-executive Directors is
considered by the Board to be a reasonable balance between
executive and non-executive Directors. The Board is of the
opinion that such balance can provide adequate checks and
balances for safeguarding the interests of shareholders and of
the Group. The independent non-executive Directors provide
to the Group with a wide range of expertise and experience
so that independent judgement can effectively be exercised
as well as ensuring that the interests of all shareholders are
taken into account. They are also responsible for participating
in Board meetings, dealing with potential conflicts of interest,
serving on audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee, scrutinising the Group’s performance
and reporting. Through their active participation, they provide
their valuable skills, expertise and experience to the Board and
the committees on which they serve so that the management
process can be critically reviewed and controlled.
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The Directors have distinguished themselves in their field
of expertise, and have exhibited high standards of personal
and professional ethics and integrity. All the Directors give
sufficient time and attention to the Company’s affairs. The
Board believes that the ratio of executive to non-executive
Directors is reasonable and adequate to provide checks and
balances that safeguard the interest of the shareholders and
the Company as a whole.

All the directors, including the non-executive directors, will be
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election every three
years in accordance with the Listing Rules and the new bye-
laws of the Company as adopted by a resolution on 29th June
2023 (the “Bye-laws”). The remuneration of the directors are
determined with reference to their duties and to the prevailing
market conditions.

The Board as a whole is responsible for the appointment of
new director and nomination for re-election by shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company with reference to
recommendations from the Nomination Committee. Under the
Bye-laws, the Board may from time to time appoint a director
either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Any new
director so appointed shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at the annual general meeting at least once every three years
and the directors to retire at every annual general meeting
shall be decided by the Board.

Pursuant to Bye-law 99(A) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Hung Cho
Sing will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting and,
being eligible, will offer himself for re-election.
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CHAIRMAN AND VICE CHAIRMAN

The roles of Mr. Heung (Chairman) and Ms. Chen (Vice
Chairman, performing the role of chief executive as stated
in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules) are separate and not
performed by the same individual to ensure that there is a
clear division of responsibilities at the board level to entail a
balance of power and authority.

The Chairman is responsible for leadership of the Board,
for ensuring that the Board functions effectively, and for
ensuring effective communication of the views of the Board
with the shareholders. In performing this role, the Chairman’s
responsibilities include chairing meetings of the Board;
ensuring the board meetings receive accurate, complete,
timely, reliable and clear information concerning affairs of the
Company; ensuring constructive relations between executive
and non-executive Directors; formulating for discussion
and decision, questions which have been moved for the
consideration of the Board; ensuring that all Directors are
properly briefed on issues arising at board meetings; acting
as liaison between the Board and management; in consultation
with the Vice Chairman and the company secretary or his/her
designated delegates, drawing up and approving the agenda
for each board meeting taking into account, where appropriate,
any matters proposed by the other Directors for inclusion in
the agenda; take primary responsibility for ensuring that good
corporate governance practices and procedures established;
and at least annually hold meetings with independent non-
executive Directors without the presence of the executive
Directors.

The Vice Chairman is primarily responsible for recommending
policy and strategic directions for Board approval;
implementing the strategies and policies adopted by the
Board; and conducting the day-to-day operation of the
Company.
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INDEPENDENCE

The Company has three independent non-executive Directors,
throughout the year at least one of whom has appropriate
financial management expertise, in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The Group has received from each independent non-
executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence.
The Company considers these Directors to be independent
under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors are identified as such
in all corporate communications containing the names of the
Directors. In addition, there is no material relationship among
members of the Board except that Mr. Heung, the Chairman, is
the husband of Ms. Chen, the Vice Chairman of the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
remunerated at HK$240,000 for the year ended 31st December
2024.

During the year, the Board has reviewed the implementation
and effectiveness of mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. Taking into account the
following channels and mechanisms, the Board considered
that the Company had in place mechanisms which remain
effective to ensure a strong independent element within the
Board:

(1) 50% of the Board members are independent non-
executive Directors;

(2) annual meeting between the chairman of the Board
and all independent non-executive Directors without
presence of other directors provide an effective platform
for the chairman of the Board to listen to independent
views on various issues concerning the Group;

(3) independent professional advice would be provided to
independent non-executive Directors upon reasonable
request to assist them to perform their duties to the
Company;

(4) all independent non-executive directors are required to
provide an annual written confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

(5) no equity-based remuneration with performance-related
elements are granted to independent non-executive
Director.
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BOARD MEETINGS AND SHAREHOLDERS’
MEETINGS

The Board regularly meets in person or through telephone
or other electronic means of communication at least four
times every year to determine overall strategic direction
and objectives and approve interim and annual results, and
other significant matters. At least 14 days’ notice of regular
Board meeting are given to all Directors, who are all given an
opportunity to attend and include matters in the agenda for
discussion. Apart from regular meetings, senior management
from time to time provides Directors with information on
activities and development of the businesses of the Group.
The company secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for the meeting and ensures that all applicable rules
and regulations in connection with the meetings are observed
and complied with. The finalized agenda and accompanying
board papers are then sent to all Directors at least three
days prior to the meeting. The company secretary also takes
detailed minutes of the meetings and keeps records of matters
discussed and decision resolved at the meetings.

During the year under review, ten board meetings were held.
Details of the attendance of the Directors at the general
meetings, meetings of the Board and its respective committees
are as follows:

HESEIH
Number of meetings attended
RERBE RR 5 Exg® ERZEE FMZEe REZES
& RE =L = =E =E
Annual Special Audit Remuneration Nomination
BN General General Board Committee Committee Committee
Name of Director Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
HITES
Executive Directors
5 E 1/1 1/1 10/10* TNEMA TEA 1/1
Mr. Heung N/A N/A
R+ 1/1 1/1 9/9 TEHR 1/1 TEHR
Ms. Chen N/A N/A
FEIE 11 1/1 9/9 TEMA TEMA TEA
Li Yuk Sheung N/A N/A N/A
BYFHITES
Independent Non-Executive Directors
HEE 1/1 1/1 10/10* 3/3 1/ 1/1
Hung Cho Sing
I 11 1/1 10/10* 3/3 TEA TER
Ho Wai Chi, Paul N/A N/A
HER 11 11 10/10* 3/3 1/1 11

Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander

O ER - REEE R RHER R IR ERANTESHE
ZERTEB I FRTEFRT -

* Included a Board meeting where the Chairman of the Board met
with independent non-executive Directors, without the presence of
the executive Directors.
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During regular meetings of the Board, the Directors discuss
and formulate the overall strategies of the Group, monitor
financial performances and discuss the annual and interim
results, set annual budgets, as well as discuss and decide on
other significant matters. The execution of daily operational
matters is delegated to management of the Group.

The company secretary records the proceedings of each
board meeting in detail by keeping minutes, including the
record of all decisions by the Board together with concerns
raised and dissenting views expressed (if any). Drafts of
board minutes are circulated to all directors for comment and
approval as soon as practicable after the meeting. All minutes
are open for inspection at any reasonable time on request by
any Director.

All Directors have access to relevant and timely information
at all times as the Chairman ensures that the management
will supply the Board and its committees with all relevant
information in a timely manner. They may make further
enquiries if in their opinion it is necessary or appropriate to
request for further information.

They also have unrestricted access to the advice and services
of the company secretary, who is held responsible for
providing Directors with board papers and related materials
and ensuring that all proper Board procedures are followed
and that all applicable laws and regulations are complied with.
If considered necessary and appropriate by the Directors, they
may retain the service of independent professional advisers at
the Group’s expense.

In case where a conflict of interest may arise involving a
substantial shareholder or a director, such matter will be
discussed in a physical meeting and will not be dealt with
by way of written resolutions. Independent non-executive
Directors with no conflict of interest will be present at meetings
dealing with such conflict issues.

The board committees, including the audit committee, the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee, have
all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used in
board meetings for all committee meetings.

37
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The annual general meeting and other general meetings of
the Company are the primary forum for communication by
the Company with the shareholders and for shareholders’
participation. All shareholders are encouraged to attend the
general meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote
at meetings on their behalf if they are unable to attend the
meetings.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
must keep breast of their collective responsibilities as
directors and of the business of the Group. As such, the
Group provides a comprehensive and formal induction to each
newly appointed director upon his/her appointment. Briefings
and orientations are provided and organised to ensure that
the new Directors are familiar with the role of the Board, their
legal and other duties as a director as well as the business
and governance practices of the Group. Such programmes
are tailored to each individual director taking into account
their background and expertise. The company secretary will
continuously update all Directors on the latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors.

All Directors also participate in continuous professional
development programmes provided or procured by the Group,
such as external seminars organised by qualified professionals
update materials regarding laws and regulation and the Listing
Rules, to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills in
relation to their contribution to the Board. A record of the
training received by the respective Directors are kept and
updated by the company secretary of the Company.
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The participation by individual Director in the continuous
professional development programme with appropriate
emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of a Director of a
listed company in 2024 is recorded in the following table.

MEEERE SHEIFHUBENR

BHER mEeE EE
Attending
Reading external
regulatory seminars/
EEnE Name of Director updates programmes
HITES Executive Directors
B Mr. Heung v
B 20+ Mr. Chen v
TERE Li Yuk Sheung v v/
BYFHTES Independent Non-Executive Directors
HEE Hung Cho Sing v
fA{EE Ho Wai Chi, Paul v 4
HER Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander v v

EEEPBNEENEZOCRBREFAANERAREER
NRBRFI MBI ETZBUSEE TS  URHEME
RAEIE -

B
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Each Director will, upon his/her first appointment and thereafter
on a yearly basis, disclose to the Group the number and
nature of offices held by such Director in public companies
and organizations and other significant commitments.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

A remuneration committee was formed with specific
written terms of reference. As at 31st December 2024, the
remuneration committee consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Mr.
Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander, and an executive Director,
namely, Ms. Chen. Mr. Hung Cho Sing is the chairman of the
committee.

The remuneration committee is responsible for formulating
and recommending to the Board the remuneration policy
and structure and remuneration for all directors and senior
management, and make recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and members of senior management of the Group. This
committee consults with the Chairman on its proposals and
recommendations and has access to professional advice
if deemed necessary. The remuneration committee is also
provided with other resources enabling it to discharge its duties.

The specific terms of reference of the remuneration committee
are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website. The remuneration committee meets at
least once a year.
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During the year under review, the remuneration committee
held one meeting to determine the remuneration package of
each executive directors, independent non-executive directors
and the staff of the Group for making recommendations to
the Board for approval. The remuneration committee will also
review the share option scheme and the share award scheme
of the Company on an annual basis.

The remuneration of the senior management of the Group for
the year ended 31st December 2024 by band is set out below:
Remuneration band Number of individuals
Up to HK$500,000

HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

- a4 N

Further details of the executive Directors’ emoluments for the
year ended 31st December 2024 are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to a resolution passed at an annual general meeting
of the Company held on 29th June 2022,
adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022 Option

the Company

Scheme”) to replace the share option scheme adopted on
28th June 2012. Pursuant to a resolution passed at annual
general meeting of the Company held on 29th June 2023, the
Company adopted amendments to the 2022 Option Scheme
(the 2022 Option Scheme and its amendments together the
Particulars of the 2022 Option
Scheme and the Amended Option Scheme are set out in note

“Amended Option Scheme”).

41 to the consolidated financial statements.

Apart from the Amended Option Scheme, the Company has no
other share option scheme in place as at 31st December 2024.

No share option was outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed,
expired or cancelled during the year ended 31st December
2024.

The Company adopted a share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) by ordinary resolution of the shareholders of
the Company in the annual general meeting held on 29th June
2023.



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4= e CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED 4 22 4 Bl 5 BR » 1)

>
i
3

Bein BB R B BE N R A M IR M iE41

BE-_T-ME+=A=+—H1L%FE  164,000,000%
B (TEEER ) EAM - RF-mF+=A=+—8
2B M KT - BE-B-ME+ A
=ST—HEFE BERORBASTLERL 58 -
78 W Bk L 85 AE o] 22 R

REEES

REZEGERY YAEEATAEABRBEEE - R0
TETNFE+ A=t —H REZESHMEBUIE
HOTEF(ABERREERNAEERL) R —RRTES
(AAkE) i - BEREERRLZEGZERF -

REZEBERACHEFRIBIESTERRE AKX
ERE—R UREAEZZEENESSREIEREZZ
DHRARBAZEERE MEAERAEBALTHE
EEeRE YHEENATRELEEES FHEBIL
FRTEZZBYUNERAZERENZCESTRESHE
8 (LERIRMBIER) AEEQRIERESR -
REZBENERRENERABITERE - WEFE
REZEGNSKAUEXEANETERE  BERMA
REBALSE

o

&t #it ¥ Corporate Governance Report

Particulars of the Share Awards Scheme are set out in note 41
to the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31st December 2024, 164,000,000
awards (“Awarded Shares”) was lapsed and no granted
Awarded Shares were outstanding as at 31st December 2024,
No award was granted, vested, forfeited or cancelled pursuant
to the Share Award Scheme during the year ended 31st
December 2024.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

A nomination committee was formed with specific written
terms of reference. As at 31st December 2024, the nomination
committee consists of two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander and
Mr. Hung Cho Sing, and an executive Director, namely
Mr. Heung. Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander is the chairman of
the nomination committee.

The duties of the nomination committee include reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually,
making recommendations on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy,
identifying individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board and selecting individuals nominated for directorship,
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for directors, in particular the chairman and the vice
chairman. The nomination committee is also provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties. Where necessary,
the nomination committee can seek independent professional
advice, at the Group’s expense, to perform its responsibilities.
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The Company has an Nomination Policy governing nomination
practices and procedures. The Nomination Committee
considers a variety of factors in assessing the suitability of a
proposed candidate, including:

(1) Reputation for integrity;

(2) Accomplishment, experience and reputation in the
business and industry;

(3) Commitment in respect of time, interest and attention to
the Company’s business, including devoting adequate
time for preparation and participation in meetings,
training and other Board or Company associated
activities;

(4) Diversity in all aspects, including, but not limited to,
gender, age, cultural, educational and professional
background, skills, knowledge, experience and length
of service;

(5) Ability to assist and support management and make
significant contributions to the Company’s success;

(6) Compliance with the criteria of independence as
prescribed under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the
appointment of an independent non-executive director;
and

(7) Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

In considering the appointment of any proposed candidate
to the Board, the Nomination Committee shall undertake
adequate due diligence in respect of the individual, evaluate
the candidate using the same criteria regardless of the source
of the candidacy, and make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval.

In considering the re-appointment of any existing member(s)
of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall review the
retiring director’s overall contribution to the Company as well
as the selection criteria set out in the Nomination Policy. The
Nomination Committee will then make recommendations to the
Board for its consideration, with the Board determining whether
to recommend the proposed candidates for re-election at a
general meeting.
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The specific terms of reference of the nomination committee
are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
Company’s website. The nomination committee meets at least
once a year.

During the year under review, the nomination committee held
one meeting to review and consider the structure, size and
composition of the Board and the Nomination Policy, the
independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
the re-appointment of retiring Directors, the existing terms of
reference of the nomination committee and to review the Board
Diversity Policy.

BOARD DIVERSITY

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy (the “Policy”) in
2013 and amended pursuant to the resolution of the Board
passed on 26th March 2019. The key terms of the Policy are
set out as follows.

1. Purpose

This Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve
diversity in the Board.

2. Vision

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diversified Board to enhance the quality of its
performance.

3. Policy Statement

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced
development, the Company sees an increase in diversity at
the Board level to be an essential element in the attainment
of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.
In achieving diversity of the Board, a number of aspects
of each director candidate will be considered, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments
will be based on meritocracy, and the candidates will be
considered based on the objective criteria set out in this
Policy having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the
Board.

4. Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives, including but not limited to the
candidate’s gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional skills and knowledge,
and working experience. The ultimate decision will be
made by the Board based on the merit and contribution
which the candidates may be able to bring to the Board.
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5. Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will report annually on the
Board’s composition under the diversified perspectives
in the Corporate Governance Report, and monitor the
implementation of this Policy.

6. Review of this Policy

The Nomination Committee will review this Policy, on
an annual basis, to ensure its implementation and
effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

Regarding gender diversity, the Board is of the view that
two female representatives on the Board are sufficient. The
nomination policy of the Company can ensure that there will
be a pipeline of potential successors to the Board which
continues the gender diversity within the Board. During
the year, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy.

The Board considered that the current structure, size and
composition of the Board to be appropriate in enabling it to
perform a balanced and independent monitoring function
on management practices to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and diversity within the Board has been
achieved as the Board is composed of director from a diverse
range of background.

An analysis of the composition of the Board at 31st December
2024 is set out in the following:

BFTE (33%)
1 o
TIRIA L (50%) Accounting (33%)
71 years old
or above (50%)

%)

Film %)

%)

e %)

FH#E R Age Group H K Expertise
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an audit committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules requires that the audit committee must
comprise a minimum of three non-executive directors, at least
one of them should be independent non-executive directors
with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise. The main duties of the
audit committee include the followings:

(a) To review the financial statements and reports and
consider any significant or unusual items raised by the
external auditor before submission to the Board.

(b) To review the relationship with the external auditor
by reference to the work performed by the auditor,
their fees and terms of engagement, and make

recommendation to the Board on the appointment,

re-appointment and removal of external auditor.

(c) To review the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated

procedures.

Other duties of the audit committee are set out in its specific
terms of reference which are posted on the Stock Exchange’s
website and the Company’s website. The audit committee is
provided with sufficient resources enabling it to discharge its
duties.

As at 31st December 2024,
members, namely Mr. Ho Wai Chi, Paul (chairman of the audit

the audit committee has three
committee), Mr. Hung Cho Sing and Mr. Tai Kwok Leung,
Alexander, all being independent non-executive Directors.
No member of the audit committee is a former partner of the
existing auditing firm of the Company within two years on
the date of his ceasing to be a partner or had any financial
interest in the auditing firm. The audit committee has reviewed
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters
with the management team of the Company. During the year,
the audit committee held three meetings to consider and
review the Group’s annual report and interim report.
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The audit committee has also reviewed the financial reporting
and compliance procedures, report on the company’s internal
control and risk management review and processes as well as
the re-appointment of the external auditor. There is no material
uncertainty relating to events and conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. There is no disagreement between the Board
and the audit committee regarding the selection, appointment,
resignation or dismissal of external auditor.

The Group’s external auditors is HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited. HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has written to
the Audit Committee confirming that they are independent
with respect to the Company and that there is no relationship
between HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited and the
Company which may reasonably be thought to bear on their
independence. In order to maintain the external auditors’
independence, it would only be employed for non-audit
work if the work does not compromise the external auditors’
independence and has been pre-approved by the Audit
Committee. During the year, the external auditors provided
audit services and non-audit services to the Group. Audit
services include services provided in connection with the audit
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements. Non-audit
services include services such as issuance of special audit
reports or interim review or other regulatory purposes.

The Company’s annual report for the year ended 31st
December 2024 has been reviewed by the audit committee.
The financial statements for the year were audited by HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire
upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. The audit
committee has recommended to the Board that HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited be nominated for appointment as the
auditor of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

For the year ended 31st December 2024, the fees paid and
payable in respect of audit services and non-audit services
provided by the auditors, HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited,
amounted to HK$950,000 and HK$150,000 respectively.
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The company secretary keeps full minutes of all audit
committee meetings. In line with practices consistent with
Board meetings and other committee meetings, draft and final
versions of audit committee meeting minutes are circulated to
all members of the audit committee for comments, approval
and record as soon as practicable after each meeting.

CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules for securities
transactions by directors of the Company on terms no less
exacting than the required standard set out in the Model Code.
The Model Code is extended to relevant employees (including
any employee or a director or employee of a subsidiary or
holding company who, because of his office or employment, is
likely to possess inside information in relation to the Company
or its securities) in respect of their dealings in the Company’s
securities. All the members of the Board have confirmed,
following specific enquiry of all of them by the Company,
that they have complied with the required standard as set
out in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding
directors securities transactions throughout the year ended
31st December 2024. The Model Code also applies to other
specified senior management of the Group.

The Directors’ interests in shares of the Company and its
associated corporations are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ Report” on pages 54 to 65.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES OF
DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements, which give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group. The auditors are responsible
to form an independent opinion, based on the audit, on the
financial statements prepared by the Directors and report the
opinion solely to the shareholders of the Company.

The Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 66 to 73 set out
the reporting responsibilities of the auditors of the Company
for the consolidated financial statements.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
company secretary. The company secretary reports to the
Board, and is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and for facilitating information flows and
communications among Directors as well as with shareholders
and the management. Ms. Wong Shuk Han, Dorothy has
been appointed as the company secretary of the Company
with effect from December 2001 and Ms. Wong has complied
with the professional training requirement of the Listing Rules
during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

No corporate governance committee has been established
and the Board will therefore be responsible for performing
the corporate governance functions such as developing,
reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies, practices
on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies, practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the Company’s code of conduct and
the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report, etc.

During the financial year ended 31st December 2024, the
Board has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the effectiveness
of the Group’s risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management process includes risk identification, risk
evaluation, risk management and risk control and review.

The management is entrusted with duties to identify, analyze,
evaluate, respond, monitor and communicate risks associated
with any activity, function or process within its scope of
responsibility and authority.

The Group has established a whistleblowing policy for
employees and those who deal with the Group to raise
concerns, in confidence and anonymity, with the Audit
Committee about possible improprieties in any matter and
an anti-corruption policy for achieving the highest standards
of business conduct with zero tolerance for corruption and
related malpractice.

The Group has overseen its risk management and internal
control system on an ongoing basis and conducted at least
annually.
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The Group has conducted a review of the implemented
system and procedures, including areas covering financial,
operational, compliance controls and risk management
functions during the year under review. The systems are
implemented to minimise the risk to which the Group is
exposed and is used as a management tool for the day-to-day
operation of business. The system can only provide reasonable
but not absolute assurance against misstatement or losses.

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the
Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control
system of the Company and is currently of the view that there
is no immediate need to set up an internal audit function within
the Group in light of the size, nature and complexity of the
Group’s business. The situation will be reviewed from time to
time.

The Group had engaged Insightnetic Consultancy Limited,
external professional consultant, to conduct risk management
and independent internal control review for the year ended
31st December 2024 and the review is completed as at the
date of this annual report.

For the year ended 31st December 2024, the Board
considered the Group’s risk management and internal control
system as adequate and effective and that the Company has
complied with the code provisions on risk management and
internal control of the CG Code.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for decisions in relation to the overall
strategic development of the Group’s business. All Directors
have formal letters of appointment setting out key terms and
conditions relative to their appointment. Due to the diversity
and volume of the Group’s business, responsibility in relation
to the daily operations and execution of the strategic business
plans are delegated to management of the Group.

All committees, namely the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee, have specific terms
of reference clearly defining the authorities and responsibilities
of the respective committees. All committees are required by
their terms of reference to report to the Board in relation to
their decisions, findings or recommendations, and in certain
specific situations, to seek the Board’s approval before taking
any actions.
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The Board review, on a yearly basis, all delegations by the
Board to different committees to ensure that such delegations
are appropriate and continue to be beneficial to the Company
as a whole.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITY
INSURANCE

Insurance cover has been taken out for Directors’ and
Officers’ Liability to provide adequate cover, as determined
by the Board, in respect of the Board members and senior
management members of the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of
transparency and employs a policy of open and timely
disclosure of relevant information to its shareholders. The
commitment to fair disclosure and comprehensive and
transparent reporting of the Company’s activities can be
reflected in many aspects.

All shareholders have the right to (a) speak at a general
meeting; and (b) vote at a general meeting except where a
shareholder is required, by the Listing Rules, to abstain from
voting to approve the matter under consideration.

In endeavouring to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders, the annual general meeting provides a useful
forum for shareholders to exchange views with the Board.

The Chairman was also actively involved in organizing, and
personally held the annual general meeting in 2024 in order
to ensure that shareholders’ views were communicated to the
Board. A separate resolution was proposed by the Chairman in
respect of each separate issue at the annual general meeting.

The proceedings of the annual general meeting are reviewed
from time to time to ensure the Company conforms to
the best practices regarding corporate governance. The
annual general meeting circular, which is circulated to all
shareholders at least twenty-one days prior to the holding of
the annual general meeting, sets out the details in relation
to each resolution proposed, voting procedures (including
procedures for demanding and conducting a poll) and other
relevant information. At the Company’s 2024 annual general
meeting, all the resolutions were put to the vote by poll and
Tricor Investor Services Limited, the Company’s Hong Kong
Branch Share Registrar and Transfer Office, was engaged as
scrutineer to ensure the votes were properly counted. The rights
of shareholders and the procedures for demanding a poll on
resolutions at shareholders’ meeting are contained in the Bye-
laws.
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The Company also communicates to its shareholders through
its annual and interim reports. The Directors, company
secretary or other appropriate members of senior management
also respond promptly to inquiries from shareholders and
investors.

The annual general meetings and other general meetings of
the Company are the primary communication between the
Company and the Shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged
to participate in general meetings. Board members,
appropriate management executives and external auditors
will attend annual general meetings to answer Shareholders’
questions at the general meetings. The Company’s website
provides the Shareholders with corporate information, interim
and annual reports, announcements and circulars issued
by the Company. It also provides information on corporate
governance of the Group and the compositions and functions
of the Board and the Board committees.

The Board has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness
of the shareholders’ communication policy during 2024 and is
of the view that communications with the shareholders have
been appropriate and effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Procedures for shareholders to convene a Special General
Meeting (the “SGM”)

The Board shall, on the requisition in writing of the
shareholders of not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company upon which all calls or other sums then due
have been paid, forthwith proceed to convene a SGM.

If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to
proceed to convene the SGM, the requisitionists or any of them
representing more than one half of the total voting rights of all
of them, may themselves convene a SGM, but any meeting so
convened shall not be held after three months from the date of
the original deposit.
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Pursuant to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, either any
number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (6%) of the paid-up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company, or not less than 100 registered shareholders, can
request the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders
entitled to receive notice of the next general meeting notice of
any resolution which may properly be moved and is intended
to be moved at that meeting; and (b) circulate to shareholders
entitled to have notice of any general meeting any statement of
not more than 1,000 words with respect to the matter referred
to in any proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with
at that meeting.

Other aspects of the shareholders’ right are also disclosed in
the Bye-laws. The Bye-laws is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

PROCEDURES FOR DIRECTING
SHAREHOLDERS’ ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and
concerns to the Board in writing through the company
secretary whose contact details are as follows:

Unit 3409, Shun Tak Centre, West Tower,
168-200 Connaught Road Central,

Hong Kong

Fax: (852) 2313 1888

Email: mail@chinastar.com.hk

Shareholders may also make enquiries with the Board at the
general meetings of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and timely
disclosure of corporate information to shareholders and
investors. The Company updates shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its
annual and interim reports and notices, announcements and
circulars. The Company’'s website (www.chinastar.com.hk)
provides a communication platform to the public and the
shareholders.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has approved and adopted a new dividend policy
on 26th March 2019. This policy aims to provide shareholders
of the Company and potential investors the dividend policy of
the Company.
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Under the new dividend policy, the Company does not have
any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. The declaration,
payment and amount of dividends are subject to the Board’s
discretion having regard to the following factors:

a. the earnings, financial condition, capital requirements
and future plans of the Group;

b. the shareholders’ interests of the Company;
©. the Company’s availability of reserves;
d. the contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends

by the Company to its shareholders;

e the statutory and regulatory restrictions on the payment
of dividends by the Company; and

s any other factors the Board may consider relevant.

The declaration of dividends by the Company is also subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda,
the Listing Rules, the Bye-laws and any applicable laws, rules
and regulations.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the new bye-laws of the Company
by a special resolution of the shareholders of the Company
in the annual general meeting held on 29th June 2023. The
Company’s memorandum of association and new bye-laws
is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

CONCLUSION

The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all the applicable code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules for the year ended 31st December 2024.

The Company believes that good corporate governance is
significant in maintaining investor confidence and attracting
investment. The management will devote considerable effort
to strengthen and improve the standards of the corporate
governance of the Group.



CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED th 2 S Bl G R A 1] ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4%

# $ 7 #t 5 Directors’ Report

B R R EERERBE S NE T A=+—H
HFEZEBREAMBEE

TEXRK

ARBZETBEBR/REER  MAKBEIREERE
BUE BIUREREFXREREER RHUEBAERE
WG MERERKRE ANEEERBLEZAERRE
FABTEMAR HEEMEENLHEBERHEEARM
FEEm o

HFENBRARARAECEZERFRE  2RERNESE
BF 75 3R R MI5E43 % 20 ©

REAR DIk
AREHE-F-ME+=A=t+—BLERZEES
BIBRE74E RETSH 2 A RARREA R ARAK
A o

AEER_T_WME+ A=+ —BZHBHRREARE
T6ERFTTHE ZRA M BHAMNEK

EE R E S NE+ A=+ —HIEE
Z RS

B

AEERAFRAL EELEERRREMBR -

£ qe)-

ARBZEGOE AREER KERARPBHRR
ZHRLERAMUERREBEE-_T-_MFE+=-_A=+—Hit
FERBEMPRASENEZZRHFE  DHERS
AEEFETE FBEEF23ENFH0EEF2518H [ £
FHE] [BEREBRANRIMIREFHBHREIA -
Lt AR ARE 2 —#D

The directors present their report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding
and the Group is principally engaged in investment,
production, distribution and licensing of films and television
drama series, provision of artist management services,
properties development and investment, building management
services and development, promotion and operation in
multi-channel network e-commerce platform and development
and sales of private label products.

The activities of its principal subsidiaries and joint venture
are set out in notes 43 and 20 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December
2024 are set out in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 74
and page 75 respectively.

The financial position of the Group as at 31st December 2024
is set out in the consolidated statement of financial position on
pages 76 and 77.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31st December 2024.

DONATIONS

No charitable donations and other donation was made by the
Group during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s business review, discussion and analysis of the
development, operating performance and financial position
and particulars of important events affecting the Group that
have occurred since the end of the year ended 31st December
2024 are set out in sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis” and “Five Year
Financial Summary” on pages 4 to 7, pages 8 to 23 and pages
250 to 251 respectively. Such discussions constitute part of
this report.
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RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The performance and results of the Group’s businesses are
subject to various important factors, including the relationship
with its employees, customers and suppliers. The board of
directors (the “Board”) believes that the employees are one
of the Group’s most important assets. The Company will strive
to ensure that the remuneration level of its employees is in
line with relevant industry practices and prevailing market
conditions. Remunerations of employees will be determined
based on their performance. Details of employees benefits are
included in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report.

In addition, the Board places great emphasis on a long-
term and stable relationship with the Company’s customers
and suppliers for the continuous success and growth of the
Group’s businesses. Generally, the Group strengthen its
customer service by providing superior quality service to the
users, and strive to achieve the fastest response times and
highest customer satisfaction levels in the relevant industry.

Supply chain is a critical part of all our operations. Our
suppliers must meet our selection criteria, which include
security, safety, cost, quality, delivery and reliability and those
requirement in our green procurement policy. The Group will
enter into suppliers’ agreements with qualified suppliers in
order to secure our services and products are being supplied
to our standard within our budgeted costs.

The Group’s continuous effort to build trust and emphasise
mutual benefits with its customers and suppliers has
contributed to the long-term relationships with them.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The possible business risks and uncertainties, interest rate
risk and foreign exchange risk facing by the Group are set out
in section headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” on
pages 8 to 23. The financial risk management objectives and
policies of the Group are set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to operating its various business
segments in an environmentally-friendly manner. The Group
also educates its employees on their awareness in promoting
a “green” environment. The Board believes that operating
the Company’s businesses in an environmentally-friendly
manner is crucial to fulfilling the Company’s corporate social
responsibilities.

Details of the environmental policies and performance of
the Group will be disclosed in our environmental, social and
governance report to be published at the same time as the
publication of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best knowledge of the Board, during the year ended
31st December 2024, the Group has complied with the
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group. Furthermore, as the
shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
the Company is also subject to the rules and requirements
under the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”).

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years ended 31st December
2024 is set out on pages 250 and 251.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment and investment property are set out in notes 16
and 17 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

STOCK OF PROPERTIES

Details of movements during the year in stock of properties of
the Group are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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BORROWINGS

Details of movements during the year in borrowings regarding
lease liabilities and bank and other borrowings of the Group
are set out in notes 35 and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the share capital of the
Company are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31st December 2024, the total issued share capital of
the Company consisted of 2,427,850,479 ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each.

RESERVES

Movements during the year in the reserves of the Group are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 78 and 79. Movements during the year in the reserves
of the Company are set out in note 44 to the consolidated
financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$1,680,202,000 as at 31st December 2024
(2023: HK$1,868,881,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December 2024, revenue attributable
to the five largest customers of the Group combined were less
than 30% of the Group’s revenue.

For the year ended 31st December 2024, purchases
attributable to the five largest suppliers of the Group combined
were less than 30% of the Group’s purchases.

None of the directors, their close associates or any
shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interests in the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Heung Wah Keung
Ms. Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany
Ms. Li Yuk Sheung

Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Hung Cho Sing
Mr. Ho Wai Chi, Paul
Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander

Under Bye-law 99(A) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Hung
Cho Sing shall retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting and, being eligible, offer himself for re-
election.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company or
any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 24 to
28.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

On 12th March 2024, Ms. Chen had entered into a loan
agreement with the Company pursuant to which agreed to lend
the Company an unsecured loan at initial principal amount of
HK$30,000,000 for a term of 12 months from the drawdown
date and partial principal was repaid and the outstanding
principal was HK$1,500,000 as at 31st December 2024 and
interest was accrued at rate of 4.025% per annum on any
outstanding principal amount during the term.

On 21st November 2024, Ms. Chen, as lender, had entered
into a loan agreement with the Company, as borrower,
pursuant to which agreed to lend the Company an unsecured
loan in the principal amount of HK$35,000,000 for a term of
12 months from the drawdown date and at the interest rate of
13.5% per annum.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARBANGEMENT AND CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE (Continued)

The Acquisition as set out in the paragraph “Connected
Transactions” in this report and the transactions disclosed
in this paragraph constitute a contract of signification of Ms.
Chen, the executive director and controlling shareholder of the
Company.

Other than as disclosed above, no transaction, arrangement
and contract of significance to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of
the Company or an entity connected with a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors has a service contract with the Company
which requires the Company to give a period of notice of
more than one year, or to pay compensation or make other
payments equivalent to more than one year’'s emolument.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
The changes in information of directors as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B of the Listing Rules since
the date of the 2023 Annual Report of the Company are set out
below:

a) Mr.
director of the Company, resigned as an independent

Hung Cho Sing, an independent non-executive

non-executive director of hmvod Limited (stock code:
8103) on 27th September 2024.

b) Mr.
director of the Company, resigned as an independent

Ho Wai Chi, Paul, an independent non-executive

non-executive director of Ngai Hing Hong Company
Limited (stock code: 1047) on 20th December 2024.

C) Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander, an independent non-
executive director of the Company, was appointed as
an executive director of Finet Group Limited (stock
code: 8317) on 18th January 2024 and was appointed
as an independent non-executive director of BExcellent
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1775) on 1st July
2024. He resigned as an independent non-executive
director of Shengjing Bank Co, Ltd. (stock code: 2066)
on 14th October 2024.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31st December 2024, the interests of the directors and their
associates in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations, as recorded in the register (“Register of
Interests”) maintained by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
were as follows:

Interests in ordinary shares of the Company

kR

ERalag k-

iR EE Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares held interests held

msEE RIEEE 2w 1,640,375,595* 67.56
Mr. Heung Interest of controlled corporation

Rz £ SN I X 1,640,375,595* 67.56
Ms. Chen Interest of controlled corporation

FiiERE ATE All interests stated above represent long positions.

# ERMDBREERRL TS A B EAO0%KR0% * These shares are held by Heung Wah Keung Family

7 % 2 A AlHeung Wah Keung Family Endowment
Limited#5 7 °

BERFREEN R-F-mE+-A=+—8 &
0 2 B A T 2 0 SR R R P R A AR 2 A
RFZAE ARAEERBETRABRBE 2 HE
A3 R AR RS R AL AR R B (R 3 R R
5 6 0 SEXVER) 2 AE AR5 - 8B AR5 SR (B 35 b R 5 £F
SRR -

EEBRERONES 2EF

R R 3 CE AT o] Y B R AR AR PO ] B PR O B 2 ERLAE ]
ZH BBEARAZESAREEAZETHEAL(E
ERETRR) AIHEEARDRBRAEMEAMEANERBE
it kB M -

Endowment Limited which is beneficially owned as to 50% by
Mr. Heung and as to 50% by Ms. Chen.

Other than as set out above, at 31st December 2024, none
of the directors or chief executives of the Company or their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) as recorded in the Register of Interests or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the
directors of the Company or their respective close associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31st December 2024, the register of substantial
shareholders maintained by the Company under Section 336 of

XHBREETEEZERIN WTIREHEARALAIEZE the SFO showed that, other than the interests disclosed above
TTRRANE% 3k A £ 2 #Eas in respect of certain directors, the following shareholders had
an interest of 5% or more in the issued share capital of the
Company:

A LEAE

FrER 2B Approximate

£ 54 Number of shares percentage of

Name Capacity held interests held

Heung Wah Keung Family EmEEA 1,640,375,595 67.56

Endowment Limited Beneficial owner

LS E RER -
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All interests stated above represent long positions.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had not been
notified of any other interests or short positions representing
5% or more of the Company’s issued share capital as at 31st
December 2024.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into certain transactions
with parties regarded as “Related Parties” under applicable
accounting principles. These mainly relate to transactions
entered into by the Group in the ordinary course of business,
negotiated on normal commercial terms and on an arm’s length
basis. Particulars of the material related party transactions of
the Group are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

During the year, these transactions do not constitute
“continuing connected transaction” or “connected transaction”
of the Group that need to be disclosed or are exempted for the
reporting requirements pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules except as disclosed in the following section “Connected
Transactions”.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 20th February 2024, Reform Base Holdings Limited
(“Reform Base”), Ms. Chen and Modern Vision (Asia) Limited
(“Modern Vision”) entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”)
pursuant to which Reform Base has agreed to transfer the
rights in relation to the shareholding of Reform Base in Over
Profit International Limited (“Over Profit”) including the right
of Modern Vision to make recommendations to Reform Base
on the management and operations of Over Profit and of such
persons as Modern Vision may elect to be directors of Over
Profit and the right for Modern Vision to receive dividends and
other distribution of Over Profit payable or due to Reform Base
at the consideration of HK$500,000,000 (subject to adjustment)
(the “Acquisition”). The consideration shall be satisfied by
setting-off such amount from the amount outstanding under the
loan to a director with carrying amount of HK$499,773,000 at
31st December 2023. The transaction constitutes a disclosable
transaction and connected transaction of the Company.
Therefore, the Company has to comply with the reporting
requirements under Chapter 14 and Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules and is subject to the approval of the independent
shareholders. The disclosable transaction and connected
transaction was approved by the independent shareholders of
the Company at the special general meeting on 8th July 2024.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company had no other
connected transactions that are not exempt from annual
reporting requirements during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

Particulars of the retirement benefits schemes of the Group are
set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the Company
repurchased and cancelled its own shares as follows:

Aggregate

SRER Bff Number of Price per share consideration

BEAHR LRARYA &5 B BRE Month of repurchase ordinary shares Highest Lowest paid
i BT AT FET 000 HK$ HK$ HK$000

ZEZMEE-A 33.000 0.82 0.79 26,927 January 2024 33,000 0.82 0.79 26,927

7N & B 5133,000,0000% & i ik - 8K (8 526,927,000
B IT 0 R 5K A114,0005 7T ° 33,000,0000% & &
BRER-ZZ-_NF-AZTNBFHE -EFRR K2
RAIEARCHARERGREEFELRTE BEELSg
REARANEREEFE
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The Company repurchased 33,000,000 ordinary shares at an
aggregate consideration of HK$26,927,000 and transaction
costs of HK$114,000. 33,000,000 ordinary shares were
cancelled on 29th January 2024. The directors considered that
the Company’s ordinary shares were trading at a discount to
the net asset value per share, the repurchase would increase
the net asset value per share of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31st
December 2024.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set
up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are
formulating by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to
their duties and responsibilities in the Company and deciding
by the Board with the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee. Details of the emoluments of the directors are set
out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted share option schemes and share
award scheme as an incentive to directors and eligible
employees, details of the share option schemes and share
award scheme of the Company are set out in note 41 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter
into any agreements that will or may result in the Company
issuing shares were entered into by the Company during the
year or subsisted at the end of the year, except for the share
option scheme and share award scheme of the Company.

SHARE SCHEMES

Share option scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed at an annual general meeting
of the Company held on 29th June 2022,
adopted a new share option scheme (the “2022 Option
Scheme”) to replace the share option scheme adopted on
28th June 2012. Pursuant to a resolution passed at annual
general meeting of the Company held on 29th June 2023, the
Company adopted amendments to the 2022 Option Scheme
(the 2022 Option Scheme and its amendments together the
“Amended Option Scheme”).

the Company

No share option was outstanding, granted, exercised, lapsed,
expired or cancelled during the year ended 31st December
2024.

Share award scheme

The Company adopted the share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) by ordinary resolution of the shareholders of
the Company in the annual general meeting held on 29th June
2023.

Apart from the Amended Option Scheme and the Share Award
Scheme, the Company has no other share scheme in place as
at 31st December 2024.

Particulars of the 2022 Option Scheme, the Amended Option
Scheme and the Share Award Scheme are set out in note 41
to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

During the year ended 31st December 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report, the Company has undertaken and
maintained a collective liability insurance policy covering,
among others, all directors and senior management of the
Company and its “associated companies” (as such term is
defined under the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the

laws of Hong Kong)).



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 43 ® CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED hEH 2 B BB AT 65

# $ ] #t 5 Directors’ Report

BEEEN
FNBETUREERT AL TRBRENEANS %
BOERRARIEZ A6 -

% R i
ARRIEFRREZALEEHREALHENELNEKE
ZEBHRFRAERF 2 EBPHEAEMES

BrBEERE
AR ANBUREREEONEEHELBERS
X BRAD BB NINRERRE SR -

xER
ARTHENRBEHSEELCLEAKT - AHART
Rz 0 2EARANEN BN S0 SH6IH [0 ¥
BB~ -

AERERE
BEARAEENANENRALAEEHDE AL
AREEEARBERRSELERR EHRAREE
BEERENARBBRE -

& M % BT
ARRAMBHRRCHBEHEFMEBABERIAER
BREVERITZRRBFAE LRE ERATERL
BEBREERAADAZEE - ARAHERENKEIT L
BRBFAS LRE-BABRZTRAGSAMELM
BEABRBARRAERE 2 220 -

EEEEW
E:
CIE-3:

&8 —E-HE=A=1+/\H

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.

COMPETING INTEREST

None of the directors of the Company or their respective close
associates had any interest in a business which competes with
or may compete with the business of the Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in
the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” on pages
29 to 58.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors of the
Company, the Company has maintained the prescribed amount
of public float during the year and up to the date of this report
as required under the Listing Rules.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The financial statements of the Company have been audited
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited who retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment as auditors of
the Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A
resolution for the appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Limited as the auditors of the Company for the subsequent
year is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Heung Wah Keung
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28th March 2025
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HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

4 R

BB 31/F Gloucester Tower

I OEH TR R E GEEEER The Landmark
BEiES 11 Pedder Street

BTITRE31E Central

Hong Kong

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
China Star Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 74 to 249, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31st December 2024, and the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group at 31st December 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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AREEXER

REESCEXHE BREZZRAREZERANM
NEARMBRRTREENFEH ESEBRGEAUE
BERRPUEREAFERELEER NTERUESE
REBHERER -

HREELSEE

Key audit matter

WEFEZREE

Carrying amount of stock of properties

IR B W B REM 22 -
Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RZZEZME+ZA=+—8 uRRAFINNEFEZ
IREE#) A3,081,340,0008 T ¥ EXEHEAELRERE
X o

At 31st December 2024, the carrying amount of stock
of properties located in Macau was approximately
HK$3,081,340,000, which was significant to the
Group’s total assets.

EEEDN2RBRERYEOINNEEHNEHERIMET
MEFENRERFE  HhprREBENHE R -
Management determined the net realisable values of
stock of properties by reference to recent sales price
of similar properties less selling expenses, which
involve managements’ judgement and estimation.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

BEEFINAEERERRER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EERMENEFECRRENEZERFBEETRR
Our audit procedures in relation to the carrying amount of stock of
properties included but not limited to:

e REEBEMNGERAFMANTERS —
° checking the consistency of management’s calculations
against the methodology used in the prior years;

o HAERYEER HEESEKHEMBERETRRZEE
LEE

° evaluating the properties areas by comparing them with
the areas which were verified and confirmed by the
relevant institution;

o REBMEHEE HETHEMAMENTHEE AN TE
B AFEEER L&

o examining the estimated sales price by comparing it with
the recent sales price and recently available public sales
information of neighbouring properties;

o  GIEFTAEBERKENAENREE M
° assessing the fairness and appropriateness of the source
of information used;
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EREXREIE(Z KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
HEERSEE EERET I NN EERREERSEE

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
WHEFEZHREE (F)

Carrying amount of stock of properties (Continued)

EEEMUNEFECRAENEREFBEETRN : (&)
Our audit procedures in relation to the carrying amount of
stock of properties included but not limited to: (Continued)

o IHYEFEFREHERNBRERET  WAKSEAENER
HERTEEREZAR

° conducting site visits to stock of properties projects to
observe the development progress and evaluating whether
the development progress for each project was consistent
with the development plan;

e ZEBRAREZEMMAZEBBNBRERAREERNST X

e  evaluating the construction costs to be incurred and selling
expenses by reference to information such as project
budgets; and

o  GIESNEGERMZEEHMNE BUMRIESE UKEZA
4 R E ML B AR AT (R E LR o

o assessing the objectivity, independence and expertise of
the external valuers, and compared out test results with the
valuations made by the external valuers.

EERRYFEFEZREBEH G ERNBREERAZS -
We found that the carrying amount of stock of properties were
supported by the available evidence.
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BREEXSEE(Z

HREELSE

Key audit matter

BERAMENFNEZEEEERE ([BHEEEE])
Expected credit loss (“ECL”) on deposits and
other receivables

IRIMER A SRR M 27 ©
Refer to note 27 to the consolidated financial

statements.

RZB-_ME+_A=+—B RekHMEKRFIEZ
AR (B 47 /3389,085,000/ 7T » B Bt#Z & K& A fth g W A
FHR R AT TR EE BB 18 5 4954,250,0008 7T

At 31st December 2024, the carrying amount of
deposits and other receivables was approximately
HK$389,085,000. Accumulated allowance for ECL
of approximately HK$54,250,000 was provided for
deposits and other receivables.

REBEZEZZ-_NMF+-_A=+—HILFERN B5ks
R H fth M kTR 84 o] T8 R (E BB R A (H0BR 492,744,000
BIT) o

During the year ended 31st December 2024, allowance
for ECL, net of approximately HK$2,744,000 was
reversed for deposits and other receivables.

CEEEEFREERRAEATREE N -
ERAERBERIENEN  BREYAUMAMNE

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
for exposures. The Group considers reasonable
and supportable information including historical
and forward-looking information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort for this purpose.

EEHAReREMEBRRE BREEBEETE LB
REZEE ARFTEMAERAE REE -

We identified ECL assessment on deposits and other
receivables as a key audit matter due to the use of
significant judgement and estimates.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
B EHIFNAREHREREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEAHEREHRENAMBURIBZ BHAEEBRT HNER
BFEEETRR

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s ECL
assessment on deposits and other receivables included but
not limited to:

THREREMETHESRHER BEEEHEEHRENRER
RIE N S FIEZ BAEE B RN ENRERF
° understanding the credit control procedures performed by

management, including its procedures on periodic review
of receivables and ECL assessment on receivables;

o MEMmBERERFIRIRERE @A S L HRTWIR 2 EHEYT K
° checking, on a sample basis, the subsequent settlement
of receivables to bank receipts; and

o HEEHEEBEREHZENREN  HEEREREABE
ARHhE R R BY  YERKBHRAUNETHEBEEERS
ZRE(BHEELRAEEER) -

° assessing the appropriateness of the ECL provision
methodology, examining the key data inputs on a sample
basis to assess their accuracy and completeness, and
challenging the assumptions, including both historical
and forward-looking information, used to determine the
ECL.

EERR RO RAMBERFEZ ENEEEETETMAEEE
B Rt AR A REERI R -

We found that the management judgement and estimates used
in the ECL assessment on deposits and other receivables were
supported by the available evidence.
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EMEEN YEERBATHREERBELLEHNER -
BRIFEEHRG BEEHFRAFLEE  RBF L2 ITE
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AT &R -

HEELERAEEE EEENM RSB -

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditors’ report thereon (the “Other

Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the Other Information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THOSE CHARGE WITH GOVERNANCE
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charge with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Bermuda Companies Act and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis
of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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AUDITORS’

RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

regarding, among other matters,
timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purpose of the group audit. We remain solely responsible
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charge with governance

the planned scope and
including

any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide those charge with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charge with
governance, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances,
we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Leung King Kit.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Leung King Kit

Practicing Certificate Number: P08264

Hong Kong, 28th March 2025
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HE-_Z-WFE+—-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

=T s
2023
M iE FH&IT
Notes HK$'000
LhEin Revenue 7 728,216 206,168
84 & AR Cost of sales (601,265) (136,837)
EF Gross profit 126,951 69,331
HAh U Z5 N H b U A Other revenue and other income 8 21,913 37,122
THAX Administrative expenses (147,094) (95,408)
TISHERE « HE RBEITHX Marketing, selling and distribution
expenses (101,043) (79,108)
BBRBERARNTFEBEINEZ Loss arising on change in fair value of
PREEZLATEEE financial assets at fair value through
FrEX£ 2 E#E profit or loss (79,366) (27,721)
WEMEZ AT EEE Gain arising on change in fair value of
Ffr B & 2 % investment property 17 7,405 4,435
HigEmx Other operating expenses (43,261) (53,811)
ReEmE Loss from operations (214,495) (145,160)
Bl & KA Finance costs 9 (134,827) (142,994)
BT Al 18 Loss before tax 10 (349,322) (288,154)
Fris B Income tax expense 11 (1,307) (1,354)
FEEE Loss for the year (350,629) (289,508)
LTRALEGEEE (BB)~  (Loss)/profit for the year attributable
A to:
KREHEB A Owners of the Company (351,930) (289,477)
e IR HE A Non-controlling interests 1,301 (31)
(350,629) (289,508)
AL Al
HK cents HK cents
SRER Loss per share 13
ERREE Basic and diluted (14.48) (11.76)
BERS 2 MsE Bkt S R ER 2 — 28D ° The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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HE_Z-_WF+—_A=1+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

—T=%F
2023
FH&T
HK$’000
FEBE Loss for the year (350,629) (289,508)
HftZEBKA Other comprehensive income
HAGEEF 7 HFHE# 2 Item that may be reclassified subsequently
IHH : to profit or loss:
REBINEBEEZ Exchange differences arising on translation
N ER of foreign operations 1,291 186
FEXHEEBERLASE Total comprehensive loss for the year (349,338) (289,322)
UTATEGREERZE Total comprehensive (loss)/income for
(BR) WmA#BE: the year attributable to:
KRARERA Owners of the Company (350,639) (289,291)
FEERME & Non-controlling interests 1,301 (81)
(349,338) (289,322)

BEM 2 M ER AR FRAMBRERZ — 8D -

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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L EMBHIIRIFE Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZT-WE+=—A=+—H At 31st December 2024

—T-=
2023
M it FAT
Notes HK$'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
Y W R Property, plant and equipment 16 358,420 95,427
KEWE Investment property 17 150,297 153,950
mEEE Intangible assets 18 310 502
R—EEERELER Interest in a joint venture 20 -
B FRIA Prepayment 27 37,442 21,293
546,469 271,172
REEE Current assets
TE Inventories 21 3,534 153
MEFE Stock of properties 20 3,081,340 3,734,939
E 5 h #E Film rights 23 3,215 8,015
LHERE R Films in progress 24 - 9,625
BEERE Investment in films 25 26,112 96,512
REF—REEZEX Loan to a director 19 - 499,773
B 5 W AR 3K Trade receivables 26 1,922 1,849
Re - BHIERAAMm Deposits, prepayment and
JiE Wk IE other receivables 27 404,639 410,189
FEBEEIUAFEESEZ  Financial assets at fair value through
TRIEBE profit or loss 28 11,802 21,735
JE U5 3E 122 AR HE 2 TROR Amount due from non-controlling
interest 37 53 58
TE Bi1F R Time deposits 29 168 286
He RIRITHE Cash and bank balances and
DR ZR &R restricted cash 30 126,257 130,295
3,659,042 4,913,424
BEE Total assets 4,205,511 5,184,596
EXREE Capital and reserves
RN Share capital 31 24,278 24,608
s Reserves 2,029,540 2,636,534
KAREE ABEER Equity attributable to owners of the
Company 2,053,818 2,661,142
FEERR #E = Non-controlling interests 582 (659)
R Total equity 2,054,400 2,660,483
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HEMBHIIRIFE Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
R-ZE-WE+=—A=+—H At 31st December 2024

o B
2023
k=3 FET
Notes HK$'000
FREBAE Non-current liabilities
HERRE Lease liabilities 35 11,277 25,095
BT hEMEES Bank and other borrowings 36 1,340,986 1,417,142
EERIBAE Deferred tax liabilities 38 2,970 BHSHS
1,355,233 1,444,052
REEE Current liabilities
Z S EMNER Trade payables 32 76,729 124,728
BUWEIES « EFTIEB & Deposits received, accruals and
H b JE A 5R8 other payables 33 91,312 46,105
TE U R IE Receipts in advance 34 69,306 45,092
HE&E Lease liabilities 35 6,909 10,708
RO REMEE Bank and other borrowings 36 270,144 &1500&12
FEA SR AR 2 BRIR Amounts due to non-controlling
interests 37 281,478 503,116
795,878 1,080,061
EEHEE Total liabilities 2,151,111 2,524,113
EnRkBELAE Total equity and liabilities 4,205,511 5,184,596
REBEEFRE Net current assets 2,863,164 3,833,363
HEERABAESE Total assets less current liabilities 3,409,633 4,104,535

NEEUBBREN_E_AFE=A-+t/\E@EEE=e4 The consolidated financial statements were approved and
EREENETHTIEERREE

authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28th March
2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

A FeR B 3
Heung Wah Keung Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany
BF EF
Director Director

BEM < M EB AR SRa M B RER 2 — 8D

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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%5 & B 45 5 B) & Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HE-_Z-WFE+—-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

KAAEEAER
Attributable to owners of the Company

aATRR  REEH/

& RBEE EON: 3 EXGE E5EE  (BHER) it FERES BRE
Bonus Retained
convertible earnings/ Non-
Share Share  Contributed Exchange bonds (Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium surplus reserve reserve losses) Total interests equity

TEL L T THL T T Tim TAL THL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(H#a) (Hitb) (Wic) (Hia)
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c) (Note d)

WZEZ=F-8-H At 1st January 2023 24,608 1,543,627 519,961 649 1,132 860,456 2,950,433 (681) 2,949,752
FEER Loss for the year - - - - - (289,477)  (289,477) (31)  (289,508)
EEEMZENA Other comprehensive income for the year - - - 186 - 186 - 186
FERAFBAER Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - 186 - (289,477)  (289,291) (31)  (289,322)
ReFEhER T E Capital contribution from non-controlling

interest - - - - - - - 53 53

WZE-ZF+-A=+-BR At 31st December 2023 and

RZZ-ZME-F-B at 1st January 2024 24,608 1,543,627 519,961 835 1,132 570,979 2,661,142 (659) 2,660,483
FRER Loss for the year - - - - - (351,930) (351,930) 1,301 (350,629)
FEEZERA Other comprehensive income for the year = - = 1,291 = 1,291 - 1,291
FE2EERLE Total comprehensive loss for the year - - - 1,291 - (351,930)  (350,639) 1,301 (349,338)
BEEYFERLA Share repurchased and cancelled (330) (26,597) - - - (26,927) = (26,927)
B0 R i R (AL A Cost attributable to repurchase and

cancellation of shares - (114) - - - (114) - (114)
KE-BHEARBHES Acquisition of partial interest of a subsidiary
(Hiit49) (note 49) - - - - (229,644)  (229,644) (60)  (229,704)

R=B-mE+=A=+-A At 31st December 2024 24278 1,516,916 519,961 2,126 1,132 (10,595) 2,053,818 582 2,054,400
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BEBRE-NAN—FRAEGEER)  ARRZKRDE
ERBERRARR I RETRD  ERBBRARETT
ARARE ©

AEBZARBARBRTIEER _?q_ihﬁﬂ—ﬁixﬁ(
2 IRAS B K H 1% %R & A H R T 88 B R AR 2 R

BEBRE-NN\—FRAREGEER]) BARBKAED
Jf&jf@z§$§§7&E@AZEﬁ%ﬁﬂ%A%ﬁ?EEZ}Eﬁﬁﬁé

BEBTRAAERBEARAREMARFTEE - A RIA
THER  AARTRABARBREIRIORT RS HEH
DR ()VARBERIAERIRMZEDEEDEmEEESR
ZEE: F(NARARBEECAZREREMEREEER

HEBITRARBRDEER -

ERT&%%%E?@H#L"*Iiﬁﬁ\\%‘éi%z‘”ﬁﬁmfﬁ\%ﬁﬁféiﬁ%
BEAEEZ27G% (BT (BT MERLZ%
ET%H’%%@%EW)\EEDL&HAEJ%T%ﬁi%i,ﬁr EA%T%E)UL
RERCEAZENHERIEBREEN D EEES -

BEAARAR-ZZ-—F+A-THEARITZRRFHAKR

T ERBABBETAMBND (ARRE R B WAL R AT #
BB (TAL R AT B 5 ) AR B AR AR D) 2 B3R E
R ARABRTHBNSHBEESROOVETERLERE

B2 AR TR B 57 o AR AR AR B 25 A R as HERR A IR 4T
MA R EF R 25 - AN ARERL R EH R
AR MM RN A REES A A (AR ]RERES

BAEADBBRAKG  HEREREFTEARBAN S
TR BITWERZ A MR BB - AR AR R 3 K58 45 IR AT

PR ESR - LF AT RRESF T EARAEMRREAE
2R RIBERAF I RRESF 2 BATERE 2K
R MG - AR TR EH B AR B ATALF Al ik (B
HEpEEITERRE RE-_NE+_A=+—H" " F
#)265,000/ 7T (Z T = =4F : 265,000/ 70) Z 18 AR TTEAL
F AT #2 AR (& 25 AT 2 & 1%0.2575 ;0 # # 51,060,317 (=&
Z=% :1,060,317/%) FREE0.01B T 2B E LB °

(a)

CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED hEl 2 Bl G IR A Ol

/El\ B %= 5% B & Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
—E-_WNFE+-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2024
Notes:

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
the share premium of the Company can be used in paying up
unissued shares of the Company to be issued to shareholders of
the Company as fully paid bonus shares.

The contributed surplus of the Group brought forward represents
the amount transferred from the capital account due to the capital
reduction effective on 10th September 2002 and various capital
reduction subsequently.

Under the Company Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
contributed surplus is available for distribution or apply the
amount standing to the credit of the contributed surplus account
in such manner as the board of directors considers appropriate,
including but not limited to setting off against any accumulated
losses of the Company. However, the Company cannot declare
or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of the contributed
surplus if: (i) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay
its liabilities as they become due; or (ii) the realisable value of
its assets would thereby be less than its liabilities and its issued
share capital and share premium accounts.

Exchange reserve represents exchange differences relating to
the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations
from their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation
currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) and are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in
the exchange reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the foreign operations.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the special general
meeting of the Company held on 25th October 2012 in relation
to the bonus issue of shares (with a right for shareholders to
elect to receive bonus convertible bonds (“Bonus CBs”) in lieu
of bonus shares), Bonus CBs can be converted into ordinary
shares at initial conversion price of HK$0.01 per share issued
by the Company. The Bonus CBs are recognised as equity and
are presented in “bonus convertible bonds reserve”. The Bonus
CBs are unlisted and irredeemable but have conversion rights
entitling the bondholders to convert into an equivalent number
of shares as the number of bonus shares which the bondholders
(the “Bonus CBs holders”) would otherwise be entitled to receive
under the bonus issue had the shareholder not elected for the
Bonus CBs. The Bonus CBs do not carry voting rights at any
general meeting of shareholders of the Company. The Bonus
CBs holders can exercise the conversion rights at any time after
the issue of Bonus CBs, subject to the terms and conditions of
the applicable deed poll constituting the Bonus CBs. At 31st
December 2024, there are approximately HK$265,000 (2023:
HK$265,000) outstanding Bonus CBs which are convertible into
1,060,317 (2023: 1,060,317) fully paid ordinary shares of HK$0.01
each at conversion price of HK$0.25 per share.

79
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GBS E#R Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HE-_Z-NFE+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

—E =4
2023
Bt T T
Notes HK$'000
REXBCHRERE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
BT AT & 1R Loss before tax (349,322) (288,154)
MIATSIBEAMIERE - Adjustments for:
BE KA Finance costs 9 134,827 142,994
B A Interest income 8 (14,608) (36,101)
BB A Dividend income 8 (3) (52)
B R R 8 Amortisation of film rights 10 - 15
& = Amortisation of intangible asset 10 181 46
VI - R RBRETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 10 27,621 12,071
BEEZRE 2B ER Impairment loss recognised in
SRR SR respect of film rights 10 4,800 100
ERRIEREF 2 ERER Impairment loss recognised in
SRR SRl respect of films in progress 10 9,625 -
YT E 2 MR Write-down of stock of properties 10 28,481 -
RATEER I EE Loss of early termination of lease 563 -
BoRWERZBHEER Reversal of allowance for expected
5 18 B ) credit loss on trade receivables 10 (42) (8)
He REAMERIE B (Reversal of allowance)/allowance for
EEBBEERD), expected credit loss on deposits
B 5 and other receivables 10 (2,744) 53,719
KEMEZ AT EEE Gain arising on change in fair value
BT EE & 2 % of investment property 10 (7,405) (4,435)
BREBEZAQAFEBEYEZ Loss arising on change in fair value
CMEEZAFEEZS of financial assets at fair value
EXE ZEE through profit or loss 10 79,366 27,721




HOH M EFR Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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HE-_Z-_NFE+-A=1+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

St o e
2023
B #t FAT
Notes HK$'000
EEECBHRI 2 KERS Operating cash flows before
meE movements in working capital (88,660) (92,084)
FE Increase in inventories (3,381) (153)
YR ER L (3Em) Decrease/(increase) in stock of
properties 388,447 (32,911)
B S5 EWER () w (Increase)/decrease in trade
receivables (31) h G271
BE - T8 I8 B H At fE UL Decrease in deposits, prepayment and
IR D other receivables 19,110 27,543
U — A& 3 KIER A Decrease in amount due from a joint
venture - 60
JE U IR 450 iR R 2 SR TEDRL Decrease in amount due from
non-controlling interest 24,997 =
2 PR 1 3R & 42 0 Increase in restricted cash (83,575) (19,838)
B IRENEZCRD) #i1  (Decrease)/increase in trade payables (47,999) 114,460
DU R4 - fEETIEE REM  Increase in deposits received, accruals
JE < FRIE £ 0 and other payables 41,104 17,841
8 U X TE 8 0 Increase in receipts in advance 24,214 42,767
REXBAELEZBRSFE  Net cash generated from operating
activities 274,226 59,212
REERZHESHRE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES
2R & Dividend received 3 52
2 H & Interest received 7,738 25,967
BEL () REIHA A B Withdrawal/(placement) of time
=RAzZEBER deposits with original maturities more
than three months 118 (6)
HEFBEFIUAAFEBEYEE Proceeds from disposal of
ZEMBEEZFBRIA financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss - 29,194
TEBAYE  #eERERE Payment for purchases of property,
Ffr s 5118 plant and equipment (31,975) (17,006)
TEE A B E E T 2 Payment for purchases of intangible
assets - (548)
BREEK (FifER) Net cash (used in)/generated from
FEEZBRERE investing activities (24,116) 37,653
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GBS E#R Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HE-_Z-NFE+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

—E =4
2023
M iE FHET
Notes HK$'000
METHHERE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
BAFLE Interest paid (128,796) (134,590)
RITREAMEE 2 TS KIA Proceeds from bank and other
borrowings 450,000 287,142
BERETEE Repayment of bank borrowing (632,271) (119,688)
BEENRERE Repayment of financing note payables - (87,142)
BEHEARE Repayment of lease liabilities (13,159) (7,258)
Tt BE [0 iR (D P 1~ 2 1A Payment for repurchase of shares (27,041) _
METBHFTAZRSFHR Net cash used in financing activities (351,267) (61,536)
ReRRESEEER (Decrease)/increase in cash and cash
CRL2) /18 equivalents (101,157) 35,329
RBEHIZ2RHER Cash and cash equivalents at the
ReZEER beginning of the reporting period 110,457 75,484
HEEZSE 2 Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes 13,544 (356)
RBEEHRZ2EER Cash and cash equivalents at the end
REeE@EER of the reporting period
& RIRITE S Cash and bank balances 30 22,844 110,457
M 2 BRI SR BRI —3D ° The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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& B % & Bt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—ZE-ME+—A=+—HIEEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

—REE
REESEAERAR (AR IR A RETMAK
UZEXBREERAR HROEEBBERSME
BRAR ([HBEAAT]) B e RAR 2 sE M EE R+
B 20 B > 33k 5 Bl A Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermudaf &
78 T 7 B H 168-2005% 5@ H /L FA #3418 09% -

HEEZER&&EER A A AHeung Wah Keung
Family Endowment Limited * B A1 %258 5¢ & ([ [ 5E
EDRAEEZRBHRARZ LT ((Rzt]) EH#%
¢ e

AEAMBEREABTLINE  ENAERAR 26
ER -BRAHAEN HAEEEBMEEREIZ
FTRE(TET)

AEBZIREBRRE RIF BIIULEEE
FLERBEER RUBATERYE WERZERX
RE AEEERBLRZRAERBETAHFEN
% EEREENRAZEREEERREER

GENERAL

China Star Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and principal place
of business of the Company are Victoria Place, 5th Floor,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and Unit
3409, Shun Tak Centre, West Tower, 168-200 Connaught
Road Central, Hong Kong respectively.

Its immediate and ultimate holding company is Heung
Wah Keung Family Endowment Limited which is equally
owned by Mr. Heung Wah Keung (“Mr. Heung”) and
Ms. Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany (“Ms. Chen”), spouse of Mr.
Heung.

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in HK$, which is also the functional currency of the
Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (HK$’'000) except otherwise indicated.

The principal activities of the Group are investment,
production, distribution and licensing of films and
television drama series, provision of artist management
services, properties development and investment,
building management services and development,
promotion and operation in multi-channel network
e-commerce platform and development and sales of
private label products.
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—PE+=A=+—RIEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

. EREBRYB®
B s A
Z
BE-P-mFT-AS+-BUEFREIAEEA
MBREDHRMIEHEE  RERARERE
SEC=HtoAS+—BLERZBARBER
AR — B AT AR B -

(@) AFERHNERZERBYBREEN 2

HIE:N
RAFE AEBEBEXEANNBEEST
MAg ((E8eMAe]) BH BBV K

MEERZ BT AREETRE(BFTAD)

BEZEEIAR-ZE-_NEF—A—Hzx 2

eFih 2 FEBERGIER  URELERE

Mgk

BHMBREERF16% ERMEER TR
(BEI ) ERIR

BB ENEIR (BTAR) HEEIBEARDH

Ent)
BREHEFIR (BFIA) BARANERBER
BREHERZTRRER HEFRERY

HBREERETH (BFTA)

EARBESR(EEY)  AHERZ20-
HAHEHRER
HR AR RS
K2HR

BAXSEIANATERBEFEALE

M BERARERBE R SR EERE M3k
RIS EEL EERTE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

The accounting policies adopted in these consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31st December
2024 are consistent with those followed in the preparation
of the Group’s consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31st December 2023 except as described
below.

(a) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs and revised
Interpretation (“Amendments”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA™) for the first time,

which are mandatorily effective for the annual

including those

period beginning on or after 1st January 2024 for

the preparation of these consolidated financial

statements:

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7
(Amendments)

HK Int 5 (Revised)

Supplier Finance
Arrangements
Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause

The application of the Amendments had no material
impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/
or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated
financial statements.
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& B % it % B} 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
==

WE+=—H=+—H1-4E For the year ended 31st December 2024

(b) EEMEMKRERZERMBREENRR
BzHAIRETE
AEEYEREFRBTIEEMERRERZ
BRMBHEER Rl 28T REFTA (13
AIREERIREAMBRERARZE])

EEUBRELNFE SRIANBRGE
RREBMBRERE  ZEFA
EEYEACHES)

£

ERMBREENEI0 REEREBEARKGE
RREABLHENE OSEMZEEHEIIA
285 (53T K)

BN BREEL HBBRRTPNZEF REE
£18%

ERGHERNZNR BB
(B3IR)

ERMBREENGH FEMBREENE IR
EAFE YL ERUBRELUNETS -
- E11f BEMBREEREN -

BRUBREEE10R
REBGHENETR L
CHEN

BRREBESR HBmEC 2T - BRA

(B3IK) HERRERBEERD
EHERZH

! R-ZB-_RAF—A-HIZERRAKZFEHMR
45
§ RIB-ARF-A—HIZRRAKZFEHMN

;gt

i&ﬁz
3 RIT-+F— A AR BBEREEHE
¢ RETEBRMkZERARZFESERER

ARBEERFEAHIRLETBERE
BEEARZERATRARARBETIEHAGZE
MERRELEATE -

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs and interpretation

in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early adopted the following new
and amendments to HKFRSs and Interpretation
(“New and Amended HKFRSs and Int”) that have
been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and
(Amendments) Measurement of Financial Instruments?
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between
(Amendments) an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture*
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements®
HKAS 21 (Amendments) Lack of Exchangeability’
Annual Improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,
to HKFRS Accounting HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 72

Standards - Volume 11

HK Int 5 (Amendments) Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January 2025

< Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January 2026

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January 2027
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a

date to be determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of New and Amended HKFRSs and Int
will have no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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&7 /El\ M # it % Bt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-_Z-_NE+-A=+—RI5EE For the year ended 31st December 2024
3. EEQL‘I'IE& ﬁ;lq 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION
(a) wHEEXE (a) Basis of preparation

RGAMBRERDBERSSHMASHE The consolidated financial statements have been
BBV BRELENMBER - LALKE WK prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
BE22VME  MEENATAERHEYE the HKICPA. For the purpose of presentation of the
FTEFHAEMELARE ! 'Jﬁ?ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ consolidated financial statements, information is
BRI RN E B IMER B IR PTEE 2 considered material if such information is reasonably
EmBRR T EMRA]) REBDAER Z # expected to influence decisions made by primary
BRTERCEAREAS - users. In addition, the consolidated financial

statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and
by the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

K REMBRERERELHNAREERR - R The consolidated financial statements have been
REBREMRZAFEEFENREMER prepared on the historical cost basis except for
ETERIARIN  ERTXHIIOETER investment property and certain financial instruments
R o that are measured at fair values at the end of each

reporting period, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

BERA—MUELERBIBRIREZA Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of
FERERELE- the consideration given in exchange for goods and

services.
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4 O B4 Bt % B 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_Z-NF+-F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

3. TEEFBREN (&)

(a) wWEEXE(E)

ATEERRFTEARETS2EEZMY
BREFRSTREEEETRNAERAR
AXNZEBR M IAmZEREEERATERE
R EAEMEERMGT - EH52RER
AERHMHEERAREEREEREENR
AEZEE AAKERMGHAEERBEZA
TEERTEEZRAERH - HEGEUKIR
RPEFHER ABREREZRATEEDR
WEEETE BN EEYEREERF2R
R X2 B ERNIARD X 2 A
Ry BEEVMBHRELENF16RHAEARL
HERS UERBARTFEEESIBEEELFE
DY EEZFE ENBEBGFERFEIRF
BEAZ AR BENEE QLR EIHE
EREZEREBERI -

FEMEBEENATVEEAEDNZEE-—EMH
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, regardless of whether that price
is directly observable or estimated using another
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of
an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account
the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into
account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement
and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that
are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted
for in accordance with HKFRS 16 Leases, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable
value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in
its highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment property
which are transacted at fair value and a valuation
technique that unobservable inputs are to be used
to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial
recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()

(b)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair
value measurements are categorised into Level
1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs
to the fair value measurements are observable
and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities
that the entity can access at the measurement
date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted
prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either

directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.
Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.
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The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the
voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give
it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an
investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights
relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of
the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other
vote holders or other parties;

° rights arising from other contractual
arrangements; and

° any additional facts and circumstances that
indicate that the Group has, or does not
have, the current ability to direct the relevant
activities at the time that decisions need to be
made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated income statement from the date
the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.



90 CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED th {2 SE B B R 2 0] e ANNUAL REPORT 2024 ¥

4 o M % it R Mt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_Z-WFE+—-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of consolidation (Continued)
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Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity therein,
which represent present ownership interests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of
the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s
relevant components of equity and the non-
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between
the Group and the non-controlling interests
according to the Group’s and the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
non-controlling interests are adjusted, and the
fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
owners of the Company.
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A business is an integrated set of activities and
assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The acquired processes
are considered substantive if they are critical to
the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using
the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value,
which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-
date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and
a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in which the
Group applies HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.
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At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree
or share-based payment arrangements of the
Group entered into to replace share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in
accordance with that standard; and

e |ease liabilities are recognised and measured
at the present value of the remaining lease
payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if
the acquired leases were new leases at the
acquisition date, except for leases for which
(a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised
and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease
when compared with market terms.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()

(d)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of
the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the
fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount
of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment,
the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair
value of the acquirer’'s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase

gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business
is carried at cost as established at the date of
acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating
units (the “CGU”) (or group of CGUs) that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(d)

(e)

Goodwill (Continued)

A CGU (or group of CGUs) to which goodwill has
been allocated is tested for impairment annually or
more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an
acquisition in a reporting period, the CGU (or group
of CGUs) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount is less than its
carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the

unit (or group of CGUs).

On disposal of the relevant CGU or any of the CGU
within the group of CGUs, the attributable amount
of goodwill is included in the determination of the
amount of profit or loss on disposal. When the Group
disposes of an operation within the CGU (or a CGU
within a group of CGUs), the amount of goodwill
disposed of is measured on the basis of the relative
values of the operation (or the CGU) disposed of
and the portion of the CGU (or the group of CGUSs)
retained, unless the Group can demonstrate that
some other method better reflects the goodwill

associated with the operation disposed of.

Interest in a joint venture

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint arrangement.
Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require

unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e)

Interest in a joint venture (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of joint venture
are incorporated in these financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of joint venture used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances.
Under the equity method, an investment in a joint
venture is initially recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive
income are not accounted for unless such changes
resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group’s share of losses of a joint
venture exceeds the Group’s interest in that joint
venture (which includes any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment
in the joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations
or made payments on behalf of the joint venture.

An investment in a joint venture is accounted for
using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes a joint venture. On acquisition
of the investment in a joint venture, any excess of
the cost of the investment over the Group’s share
of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the investee is recognised as goodwill,
which is included within the carrying amount of the
investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
over the cost of the investment, after reassessment,
is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the
period in which the investment is acquired.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e)

Interest in a joint venture (Continued)

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in a joint venture may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance
with HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its
recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair
value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount.
Any impairment loss recognised forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance
with HKAS 36 to the extent that the recoverable
amount of the investment subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have joint control over
a joint venture, it is accounted for as a disposal of
the entire interest in the investee with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset
within the scope of HKFRS 9, the Group measures
the retained interest at fair value at that date and
the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial
recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the joint venture and the fair value of any
retained interest and any proceeds from disposing
of the relevant interest in the joint venture is included
in the determination of the gain or loss on disposal
of the joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts
for all amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that joint venture
on the same basis as would be required if that joint
venture had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income by that
joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities,
the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to
profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) upon
disposal/partial disposal of the relevant joint venture.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(e)

()

Interest in a joint venture (Continued)

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in
a joint venture but the Group continues to use the
equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss
the proportion of the gain or loss that had previously
been recognised in other comprehensive income
relating to that reduction in ownership interest if that
gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on
the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the joint venture are recognised in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to
the extent of interests in the joint venture that are not
related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to

the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or
service (or a bundle of goods or services) that is
distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that
are substantially the same.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following criteria
is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the
Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group and
the Group has an enforceable right to payment
for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
goods or services.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services
that the Group has transferred to a customer that is
not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments.
In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s
unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount
of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to
the same contract are accounted for and presented
on a net basis.

For contracts that contain more than one
performance obligations, the Group allocates the
transaction price to each performance obligation on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product
or service is transferred to the customer, at the
amount of promised consideration to which the
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue
excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is
after deduction of any trade discounts.

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when
it arises from the sales of goods or the provision
of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s
business.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods
or services to a customer, the Group determines
whether the nature of its promise is a performance
obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for
those goods or services to be provided by the other

party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
good or service before that good or service is
transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation
is to arrange for the provision of the specified
good or service by another party. In this case,
the Group does not control the specified good or
service provided by another party before that good
or service is transferred to the customer. When the
Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue in the
amount of any fee or commission to which it expects
to be entitled in exchange for arranging for the
specified goods or services to be provided by the

other party.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

Artist management service income

The Group provides artist management services
by arranging for the provision of artist services to
counterparty under fixed-price contracts. Artist
management service income is recognised in which
the services are rendered. Certain contracts include
multiple performance obligations and the transaction
price of such contract will be allocated to each
performance obligation based on the stand-alone
selling prices. Artist management service income is
recognised at a point in time.



ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4% o

BE

3. TEEFBREN (&)

f) WEERE)
BITERA
REBRHEZREAEER 2 BBREETE -
%ﬁ%%A%ﬁi$¢l;ﬁﬁﬁ IE B
R WA BBEBZERRR  BERIFR
A EEE RS ER 525 ERRET © 37T
B A TR — (ER R 2R o

BEHKA

REEMIREZBREWARE BRERR
B BIFIER °

FIE WA
FMEBWARNEEFIRBERANFORER - plin
HRAFEZEREENS - ERAEEARN
REBEEZREEE-

EYREUA
EYRBUARELAREZAE B@FORE

MR A BEBEGRRR -

RERUBERE 2 W

REBEREE R 2 W To e IR 75 B 3t
B REEER

KO BB Wit
KO R AT RSN
EEBEAEFRAES - BRBEKRNT
KB A R R R R -

CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED hEl 2 Bl G IR A Ol

4 & W B it & Bl 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—E-_WNFE+-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Distribution fee income

The Group licenses the distribution rights of
films and television drama series internationally.
Distribution fee income is recognised when the
Group’s entitlement to such payments has been
established which, subject to the terms of the
relevant agreements, is usually upon the master
materials have been delivered or the sharing of the
relevant revenue have been reliably ascertained.
Distribution fee income is recognised at a point in
time.

Dividend income

Dividend income from listed investments is
recognised when the share price of the investments

goes ex-dividend.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. For financial assets
measured at amortised cost, the effective interest
rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of the
asset.

Income from investment in films

Income from investment in films is recognised when
the Group’s entitlement to such payment has been
established, which is subject to the terms of the
relevant agreements.

Revenue from catering operations

Revenue from catering operations is recognised at a
point in time when the services are rendered.

Revenue from retail sales

Revenue from retail sales is recognised at a point
of sale to customers or when a group entity has
delivered products to the customer and collectability
of the related receivables is reasonably assured.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sales of properties

Revenue from sale of properties is recognised
when the control over the ownership or physical
possession of the property is transferred to the
customer, which is the point in time when the Group
satisfies its performance obligations under the
contracts.

Deposits and instalments received on properties
sold prior to the date of revenue recognition are
presented in the statement of financial position as
receipts in advance which are regarded as contract
liabilities.

Building management service fee income

Revenue from building management service fee
income is recognised over time by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation, as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

()

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Multi-media business commission income

The Group provides promotion services about
specific goods to merchants by conducting live
broadcast on the e-commerce platforms where
viewers can order products during the live
broadcast.

The Group receives commissions on the sales of the
specified goods completed through the e-commerce
platform based on agreed commission rates.
Commission revenue is recognised at a point in time
upon the customers purchase merchants’ products
through the e-commerce platforms.

Multi-media sales with a right of return

For a sale of products with a right of return, the
Group recognises all of the following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the
amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled (therefore, revenue would
not be recognised for the products expected to
be returned);

a refund liability; and

an asset (and corresponding adjustment to
cost of sales) for its right to recover products
from customers and are presented as right to
returned goods asset.

103



104 CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED th 2 £ Bl G R A 0] ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4

45 & W% Ht 2 M 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_Z-_NE+-A=+—RI5EE For the year ended 31st December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3. TEEFBREN (&)

(9) & (g) Leases
HEWES Definition of a lease
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contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component
and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each lease component on the
basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for
acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building
components, unless such allocation cannot be made
reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from lease
component on the basis of their relative stand-alone
prices.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do
not contain a purchase option.

The Group also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group;
and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
Group in dismantling and removing the
underlying assets, restoring the site on which
it is located or restoring the underlying asset
to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

10:
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Leases (Continued)

3. TEEFBREN (&)
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The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life
and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property,
plant and equipment”, the same line item within
which the corresponding underlying assets would be
presented if they were owned.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid at
that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing
rate at the lease commencement date if the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

° variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date,

the exercise price of a purchase option if the
Group is reasonably certain to exercise the
option; and

payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising an

option to terminate the lease.

lease liabilities are

adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a

corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever:

the lease term has changed or there is a change
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase
option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the

date of reassessment; or

the lease payments change due to changes
in market rental rates following a market rent
review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial

discount rate.

A lease contract is modified and the lease
modification is not accounted for as a separate
lease (see below for the accounting policy for
“lease modifications”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate

line item on the consolidated statement of financial

position.

107



108 CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED th 2 £ Bl 5 PR 2 0] ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4%

45 & W% Ht 2 M 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_Z-_NE+-A=+—RI5EE For the year ended 31st December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3. TEEFBREN (&)

(9) BE#E) (g) Leases (Continued)
HEKET Lease modifications
WIFE THER - QRSB BEEETIIES The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
—HEBNHEEAR separate lease if:
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° the modification increases the scope of the
lease by adding the right to use one or more
underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases
by an amount commensurate with the stand-
alone price for the increase in scope and
any appropriate adjustments to that stand-
alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for
as a separate lease, the Group remeasures the
lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to
the relevant right-of-use assets. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the modified
contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component
and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-
lease components.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(h) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. For properties
under development for which revenue is recognised
over time, the Group ceases to capitalise borrowing
costs as soon as the properties are ready for the
Group’s intended sale.

Any specific borrowing that remains outstanding
after the related asset is ready for its intended use
or sale is included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on general
borrowings. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in the profit
or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in the profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, the assets and liabilities of
the Group’s operations are translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity under the heading of
exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling

interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Employee benefits
Annual leave

Employee entitlement to annual leave is recognised
when it accrues to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees during the year.
Employee entitlements to maternity leave and sick
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®

Employee benefits (Continued)
Bonuses

The Group recognises a liability for bonuses when
there is a contractual obligation and the amount can
be estimated reliably.

Retirement benefit obligations

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) and pension fund schemes are
recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates the MPF Scheme under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for those employees employed under
the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme, the assets of which are held in
separate trustee-administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant
income, with the employers’ contributions subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
The Group’s contributions to the MPF Scheme are
expensed as incurred. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. There are no forfeited contributions for
the MPF Scheme as the contributions are fully vested
to the employees upon payment to the MPF Scheme.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

@

Employee benefits (Continued)
Retirement benefit obligations (Continued)

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
schemes for its employees in Macau, the assets
of which are held in separate trustee-administered
funds. The employers and their employees are each
required to make contributions to the schemes at
5% of the employees’ basic salary subject to a cap
of monthly contribution of MOP2,000 each. The
Group’s contributions to the schemes are expensed
as incurred. The Group has no further payment
obligations once the contributions have been paid.
Where employees leave the schemes prior to the
full vesting of the employers’ contributions, the
amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce
the contributions payable by the Group. Employees
are eligible for 30% of the employer’s contribution to
schemes after completion of three years of service.
The rate of vested benefit increases at an annual
increment of 10% thereafter reaching 100% after
completion of ten years of service.

In accordance with the rules and regulations in
the PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group
participate in various defined contribution retirement
benefit plans organised by the relevant municipal
and provincial governments in the PRC under
which the Group and the PRC based employees
are required to make monthly contributions to
these plans calculated as a percentage of the
employees’ salaries. The municipal and provincial
governments undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligations of all existing and future
retired PRC based employees’ payable under the
plans described above. Other than the monthly
contributions, the Group has no further obligation for
the payment of retirement and other post-retirement
benefits of its employees. The assets of these
plans are held separately from those of the Group
in independently administrated funds managed by
the PRC government. The Group’s contributions to
the defined contribution retirement schemes are
expensed as incurred.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®

Employee benefits (Continued)
Share-based payment expenses
Share options/share awards granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees
and others providing similar services are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments at the grant
date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without
taking into consideration all non-market vesting
conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate
of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity under the heading
of share-based payment reserve. At the end of each
reporting period, the Group revises its estimate of
the number of equity instruments expected to vest
based on assessment of all relevant non-market
vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in the profit
or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the
revised estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to
the share-based payment reserve.
When share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payment
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share-based
payment reserve will be transferred to retained
earnings/accumulated losses.

When share awards granted are vested, the amount
previously recognised in share-based payments
reserve will be transferred to share capital/share
premium.
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45 & W% Ht 2 M 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ToME+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(k) Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the
current and deferred income tax expense.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable
profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from ‘loss
before tax’ as reported in the consolidated income
statement because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from the initial recognition of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the
time of the transaction does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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WE+=—H=+—H1-4E For the year ended 31st December 2024

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(k) Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries and interest in a joint venture, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of
the temporary difference and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow
all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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3. FESHHEER (&) 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(k) BE(E) (k) Taxation (Continued)
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Deferred tax (Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
investment properties that are measured using
the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business
model whose objective is to consume substantially all
of the economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through sale, except
for freehold land, which is always presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax
deductions are attributable to the right-of-use assets
or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease liabilities
separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax
asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised and a deferred tax liability for all taxable
temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
(k) Taxation (Continued)

U]

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or
loss.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes.
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price
and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use. Expenditure incurred after the
property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where it can
be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure has
resulted in an increase in the future economic
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the
property, plant and equipment, the expenditure is

capitalised as an additional cost of that asset.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

U}

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration
is allocated between the leasehold land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative
fair values at initial recognition. To the extent the
allocation of the relevant payments can be made
reliably, interests in leasehold land is presented
as right-of-use assets under line item of property,
plant and equipment in the consolidated statement
of financial position. When the consideration cannot
be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as
property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in

estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
The principal annual rates are as follows:
2%-5%

20%-33%
Over the lease term

Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Leasehold land
Over the lease term
10%-33%
20%

Leased properties
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

U}
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Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to
exclude any prepaid or accrued operating lease
income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment properties are included in profit or loss
for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon
disposal or when the investment property is
permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the property is derecognised.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

3. TEEFBREN (&)
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Film rights represent films and television drama
series produced by the Group or acquired by
the Group. Film rights are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated
impairment losses. The Group begins amortisation
of the capitalised costs of film rights when a film is
released and it begins to recognise revenue from
that film.

The Group reviews and revises estimates of total
projected revenue and total production costs of
film rights at the end of each reporting period. If
estimates are revised, the Group adjusts the amount
of total projected revenue from the period when such
changes in estimates take place and re-calculated
the ratio for amortisation of film rights. The effect
from changes in estimates is recognised on a
prospective basis.

Amortisation expense is charged to profit or loss
based on the proportion of actual income earned
during the year to the total estimated income from
the sale of film rights. The amortisation of film rights
will not exceed twenty years. In the case where there
is any impairment in value, the carrying amount is
written down to its estimated recoverable amount.

At the end of each reporting period, both internal
and external market information are considered
to assess whether there is any indication that film
rights are impaired. If any such indication exists, the
carrying amounts of such assets are assessed and
where relevant, an impairment loss is recognised
to reduce the asset to its estimated recoverable
amount. Such impairment losses are recognised in
profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(0)

(p)

Films in progress

Films in progress represents films and televisions
drama series under production and is stated at cost
at the date incurred, less any identified impairment
losses. Cost includes all costs associated with the
production of films including remuneration for the
film director, casts and production crew, costumes,
insurance, makeup and hairdressing as well as rental
of camera and lighting equipment. Films in progress
is transferred to film rights when the film is released.

At the end of each reporting period, both internal
and external market information are considered to
assess whether there is any indication that films in
progress are impaired. If any such indication exists,
the carrying amounts of such assets are assessed
and where relevant, an impairment loss is recognised
to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount. Such
impairment losses are recognised in the profit or
loss.

Investment in films

Investment in films projects which entitles the Group
to receive a fixed and/or variable income based
on the Group’s investment amount and expected
rate of return as specified in the respective film
investment agreements. The investments are carried
at amortised cost if their cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest. All other
investments that are not solely payments of principal
and interest are carried at fair value.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(a)

Intangible asset

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are
acquired separately are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives. The estimated
useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of
any changes in estimate being accounted for on a
prospective basis.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal,
or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset, and are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible asset

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss (if any).
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible asset (Continued)

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets are estimated
individually, when it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an asset individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU
to which the asset belongs.

In testing a CGU for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant CGU when a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established.
The recoverable amount is determined for the CGU
or group of CGUs to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant CGU or group of CGUs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a CGU) for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible asset (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced
to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a
CGU, the Group compares the carrying amount of
a group of CGUs, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of CGUs, with the recoverable
amount of the group of CGUs. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-
rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest
of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The
amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro
rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
CGUs. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(r)

(s)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and
intangible asset (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or a group
of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
CGU or a group of CGUSs) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Stock of properties

Stock of properties, which are held for trading, are
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost and net realisable value are determined as
follows:

Stock of completed properties held for sale

Completed properties remaining unsold at the
year ended are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined by
apportionment of the total land and development cost
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable
value is estimated by the management, based on
prevailing market conditions which represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less estimated selling expenses.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(s) Stock of properties (Continued)

®

Properties under development held for sale

The costs of properties under development held
for sale comprises specifically identified costs
including the acquisition cost of land, aggregate
cost of development, borrowing costs capitalised,
material and supplies, wages, other direct expenses
and an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to
the sale proceeds of properties sold in ordinary
course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses and the anticipated costs to completion,
or by management estimates based on prevailing
marketing conditions. Costs necessary to make the
sale include incremental costs directly attributable to
the sale and non-incremental costs which the Group

must incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers. Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the
fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets at FVTPL are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest income
and interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial
asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Interest and dividend income which are derived from
the financial assets and shareholders’ rights are

presented as other revenue and other income.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect contractual
cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

° the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the
financial assets; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

it has been acquired principally for the purpose
of selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and
effective as a hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at
the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL
if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an
accounting mismatch.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other revenue
and other income” line item.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment
under expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on
financial assets (including loan to a director,
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from a joint venture, amount due from
non-controlling interest, time deposits and bank
balances). The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting period to reflect changes in credit risk

since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
12-month ECL
(“12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL

the relevant instrument. In contrast,
that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the reporting
period. Assessments are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current
conditions at the reporting period as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group applies simplified approach to recognise
lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The ECL on these
trade receivables are assessed individually for
debtors with significant balances.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’'s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;
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Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor; or

o an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more

events of default that have a detrimental impact on

the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset

have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data about the

following events:

(a)

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate.
A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or
loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the

weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into

consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised

cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through
a loss allowance account.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the
asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the
contractual cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise
modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are
modified, the Group assesses whether the revised
terms result in a substantial modification from
original terms taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors. If
qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group
considers the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the
new terms, including any fees paid net of any fees
received, and discounted using the original effective
interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from
the discounted present value of the remaining cash
flows of the original financial asset.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition/modification of financial assets
(Continued)

For non-substantial modifications of financial
assets that do not result in derecognition, the
carrying amount of the relevant financial assets
will be calculated at the present value of the
modified contractual cash flows discounted at the
financial assets’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to
the carrying amount of the modified financial assets
and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial
asset is recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as financial liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity
instruments is recognised and deducted directly in
equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the
Company’s own equity instruments.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including bank borrowings,
lease liabilities, trade payables, deposits received,
accruals and other payables (excluding receipt in
advance), financing note payables and amounts
due to non-controlling interests) are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(Continued)

When the contractual terms of a financial liability
are modified, the Group assess whether the revised
terms result in a substantial modification from
original terms taking into account all relevant facts
and circumstances including qualitative factors. If
qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group
considers that the terms are substantially different
if the discounted present value of the cash flows
under the new terms, including any fees paid net of
any fees received, and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different
from the discounted present value of the remaining
cash flows of the original financial liability. The
above said fees include only those paid or received
between the borrower and the lender, including fees
paid or received by either the borrower or lender on
the other’s behalf. Accordingly, such modification
of terms is accounted for as an extinguishment, any
costs or fees incurred are recognised as part of the
gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial
modification when such difference is less than 10
per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial
liabilities that do not result in derecognition, the
carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities will
be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial
liabilities’” original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying
amount of the modified financial liabilities and
are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial
liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

®)

(u)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the
date when derivative contracts are entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at
the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the
consolidated statement of financial position include:

(a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and
demand deposits, excluding bank balances
that are subject to regulatory restrictions that
result in such balances no longer meeting the
definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-
term (generally with original maturity of three
months or less), highly liquid investments that

are readily convertible to a known amount of

cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value and restricted cash
arising from pre-sale of properties that are held
for meeting short-term cash commitments. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting
short-term cash commitments rather than for

investment or other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of
cash and cash equivalents as defined above.

Bank balances for which use by the Group is subject
to third party contractual restrictions are included
as part of cash unless the restrictions result in a
bank balance no longer meeting the definition of
cash. Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank
balances are disclosed in note 30.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

v)

(w)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
using the weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale. Costs necessary
to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs
which the Group must incur to make the sale.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has
a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a
result of a past event, it is probable that the Group
will be required to settle that obligation, and a
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision, including
those arising from the contractual obligation
specified in the service concession arrangement
to maintain or restore the infrastructure before it
is handed over to the grantor, is the best estimate
of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking
into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using
the cash flows estimated to settle the present
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value
of money is material).
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(w) Provisions (Continued)

(x)

When some or all of the economic benefits required
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an
asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will
be received and the amount of the receivable can be
measured reliably.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the consolidated financial
statements are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes
of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless
the segments have similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products
and services, the nature of production processes,
the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating
segments which are not individually material may be
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

143



144 CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED th 2 £ Bl G R A 0] ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4%

4 o M % it R Mt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_Z-WFE+—-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

3. TESTHHREN (&)

(y)

RREERIRAE

AREE
KREEARGELEMRBHSHMA
ERAKETREEMNZRA  ETERES
MBEHRRER - AREERETERREED
BER-MEBEMENHALHANDREA A
SEENERLAEINRERRESSHM
BRREBEELBBEEA -

HAEE
SIRABIABEFHMELEZERNRME
ARAEITERLEARENDNEIRK
BITEME XHAEREFESBERERD A FEHA
EMATHER -

WARBARR RS AEXRR(E  BHH
HHh A2 EERDTIARABERE - B
TENRE M BEMEER -

AEEERETEUNEERTAEALASR
REMZNER - WA R RA LR EE 1
HARBERENEB SERKEEN R
AN BEZAREESNRERRESS M
BMREREME  EEBFEBBER T AEER
SEABETERIN o

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(y) Contingent assets and contingent liabilities

Contingent assets

Contingent assets arise from unplanned or other
unexpected events that give rise to the possibility
of an inflow of economic benefits to the Group and
they are not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The Group assesses continually the
development of contingent assets. If it has become
virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits
will arise, the Group recognises the asset and
the related income in the consolidated financial
statements in the reporting period in which the
change occurs.

Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a present obligation arising
from past events but is not recognised because it is
not probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be
measured with sufficient reliability.

Where the Group is jointly and severally liable for an
obligation, the part of the obligation that is expected
to be met by other parties is treated as a contingent
liability and it is not recognised in the consolidated
financial statements.

The Group assesses continually to determine whether
an outflow of resources embodying economic
benefits has become probable. If it becomes
probable that an outflow of future economic benefits
will be required for an item previously dealt with as
a contingent liability, a provision is recognised in the
consolidated financial statements in the reporting
period in which the change in probability occurs,
except in the extremely rare circumstances where no
reliable estimate can be made.
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(z) Related party transactions

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

A person, or a close member of that person’s

family, is related to the Group if that person:

(if)

(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

the entity and the Group are members of
the same Group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a Group of which
the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;
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3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

(z) Related party transactions (Continued)

(b)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies: (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii

=

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources,

services

or obligations between the Group and

a related party, regardless of whether a price is

charged.

Close family members of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be

influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies,
which are described in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements, the directors are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
The followings are the critical judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, that the directors of the
Company have made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements.

Deferred taxation on investment property

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising
from investment property that are measured using the
fair value model, the directors of the Company have
reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios
and concluded that the Group’s investment property
are not held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment property over time. Therefore,
in determining the deferred taxation on investment
property, the directors of the Company have determined
that the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment property measured using the fair value model
are recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. For
investment property located in The Republic of China
(“Taiwan”), the Group is subject to capital gain tax upon
disposal of the relevant investment property. The Group
has recognised deferred tax liabilities on change in fair
value of investment property of the Taiwan subsidiary.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments under
Level 3 fair value hierarchy

Certain of the Group’s financial assets classified as
FVTPL under Level 3 fair value hierarchy amounting
to HK$26,112,000 at 31st December 2024 (2023:
HK$96,512,000) are measured at fair values with fair
values being determined based on unobserved inputs
using valuation techniques. Judgement and estimation are
required in establishing the relevant valuation techniques
and the relevant inputs thereof. Changes in assumptions
relating to these factors could affect the reported fair
values of these instruments. Further details on fair value
measurement are disclosed in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Provision of ECL for financial assets

Financial assets are assessed for ECL individually.
The provision rates are based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are reassessed
and changes in the forward-looking information are
considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
Further details on the ECL assessment are disclosed in
note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Fair value measurement of investment property

Investment property are stated at fair value based on
the market values, being the estimated amount for which
property could be exchanged on the date of valuation
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s
length transaction or the valuation performed by an
independent valuer. In determining the fair value, the
valuer has based on method of valuation which involves
certain estimates and assumptions. In relying on the
valuation report, the management has exercised their
judgements and is satisfied that the method of valuation
is reflective of the current market conditions. Should there
be any changes in assumptions due to change of market
conditions, the fair value of the investment property will

be adjusted accordingly.

Impairment of film rights

Impairment assessments on film rights are performed
at the end of each reporting period with reference
to both internal and external market information, for
example, sales forecast based on expected popularity
of the respective titles, the expected production, sales
and distribution costs to be reviewed to conclude
the sales, and the general economic condition of the
relevant markets. Changes in assumptions used in this
assessment, including the forecasted revenue, may result
in additional provision being made in the consolidated
financial statements.
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AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of films in progress

Impairment assessments on films in progress are
performed at the end of each reporting period. The
recoverable amounts are determined with reference to
sales forecast and expected production and distribution
cost. Changes in assumptions used in this assessment,
including the forecasted revenue, may result in additional
provision being made in the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, the Group carries out review on
each film at the end of each reporting period and makes
impairment for any films in progress which no longer
proceeds.

Estimated net realisable value on stock of properties

In determining whether allowances should be made for
the Group’s stock of properties, the Group considers the
current market and the estimated market value (i.e. the
estimated selling price less estimated costs of selling
expenses) less estimated costs to completion of the
properties. An allowance is made if the estimated market
value is less than the carrying amount. If the actual
net realisable value on stock of properties is less than
expected as a result of change in market condition and/
or significant variation in the budgeted development cost,
may result in material provision for impairment loss.
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(a)

(b)

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SRIAEER : (a) Categories of financial instruments:
Y
2023
FET
HK$’000
SREE Financial assets
BEBEARAFEEENERZ Financial assets at FVTPL
CRMEE 37,914 118,247
B8 Bk AN Amortised cost 517,485 1,039,534
555,399 1,157,781
t@aE Financial liabilities
3R N Amortised cost 2,078,835 2,477,206
cREABEEAEREER (b) Financial risk management objectives and

AEEZIZeRTIABRRET 2E=S
ZER BERE BHREER RERH

fEWKIE  BBEEAATEEIEZSR
BE BUCHERERZTNE  THER RE

RBTHEBARRRGIRE - BHEMNER
BlEe  EtRALEMENTE  BHER
& RITREMEE RENIFFEREBERFA -
AEBERMIAZFHFBEREAMBHRREZA
PAMY EE A EE -

HZEZeMIABANRARSEN SRR (O
=G

ERkE BRAERERREFERR) - FER

SRR E SRR o MAENZERRZBUR

HIMT - EEEEEREEZSRAR - UE
REFEABMEAEE B -

AEEEHERTAZRAR
Rz 77 A T o

2B RSB R R

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include loan
to a director, investment in films, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, financial assets at
FVTPL, amount due from non-controlling interest,
time deposits, cash and bank balances and
restricted cash, trade payables, deposits received,
accruals and other payables, lease liabilities,
bank and other borrowings and amounts due to
non-controlling interests. Details of the financial
instruments for the Group are disclosed in respective

notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
include market risk (foreign exchange risk, equity
price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective

manner.

There has been no change to the types of the
Group’s exposure in respect of financial instruments
or the manner in which it manages and measures the
risks.
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it Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong, Macau,
Taiwan and The People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) and majority of transactions are
denominated in HK$, US dollar (“US$”), Macau
Pataca (“MOP"), Euro (“EUR”), New Taiwan
Dollar (“NT$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
exchange risk arises from future commercial

Foreign
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities,
which are denominated in a currency that is not
the functional currency of the group entities.

The Group is not exposed to material foreign
exchange risk exposure in respect of HK$
against US$ and MOP as long as these
currencies are pegged. Therefore US$ and
MOP are excluded from the analysis below.

The transactions and monetary assets
denominated in EUR and NT$ is minimal, the
Group considers there has no material foreign
exchange risk exposure in respect of EUR and
NT$. Therefore, EUR and NT$ are excluded
from the analysis below.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

TR () Market risk (Continued)

(i) SIMEER (&) (i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
REREHR  XEEUARK (GET8E At the end of each reporting period, the carrying
BB GIECEREERABZEEAR amounts of the monetary assets and liabilities of
i the Group, which are denominated in RMB, that

is not the functional currency are as follows:
=R BE
Liabilities Assets
—E== ST =

2023 2023
FHEIT FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$’000
AR RMB 11,659 10,818 40,069 49,795

AEERBYEHHUIIBHEZEE
BB ENIEHERBR - EEESE Y
ERHNERR YR OEREELM
BRIMNERR -

BURE AT
TRFNBTTHE AREE IR D5%E
AEBEZHREE - A% MERE L
R -RREEEHIEE XS IEA gL &
B2t ZBBRESMERTEHKRE
BUNEFEZEBEBLHIINEEX
Z5%EBHBENBEMR2BE - T
RPN EBRTAETLTE ARBE 5%
BEBERRD - BT AREERE%
B HHRRABESEEHESARMEARZ
FE MIXBFERAH-

The Group currently does not have a foreign
currency hedging policy in respect of assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currency.
The management will monitor its foreign
currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease
in HK$ against RMB. 5% is the sensitivity
rate used which represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the
reporting period for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below
indicates a decrease in post-tax loss where
HK$ weakens 5% against RMB. For a 5%
strengthening of HK$ against RMB, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the
post-tax loss and the number below would be
negative.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

mEEE (&) Market risk (Continued)
(i)  SMERE R (& (i)  Foreign exchange risk (Continued)
BURRE DT () Sensitivity analysis (Continued)
—T=%F
2023
FHET
HK$'000
WMABETH AREE®R5% If HK$ strengthens against RMB by 5% (1,187) (1,627)
AT H AR BE555% If HK$ weakens against RMB by 5% 1,187 1,627

(ir)

EREERAZHBRESIMTIERRES
SERE AR B RE R @R TR
BRENZER

R E1E R
AEERZEBBANRTFEEIIKE
BZ AR SR E M A A E R ER o
REBZXMEAIRREBRRENATEE
JIR BZRAR S EFHERILTA
BRcrBEREERLRAR -EHEE
ERBRARINLERKEEBE TE
B e

(ii)

Management considered the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk as the exposure at the end of
each reporting period does not reflect the
exposure during the years.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in equity securities
measured at FVTPL. For equity securities
measured at FVTPL quoted in the Stock
Exchange, the directors manage this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The management has monitored
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iif)

Equity price risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risk at
the end of the reporting period.

If the prices of the listed equity securities with
quoted market price had been 5% (2023: 5%)
higher/lower, the post-tax loss for the year
ended 31st December 2024 would decrease/
increase by approximately HK$493,000 (2023:
HK$907,000) as a result of the changes in fair
value of listed equity securities under Level 1
fair value hierarchy.

Interest rate risk

At 31st December 2024 and 2023, the Group
is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to variable-rate bank borrowings. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) arising from the Group’s
HK$ denominated bank borrowing and floating
interest rate of 2-year NT$ deposit at Chunghwa
Post Co., Ltd arising from the Group’s NT$
denominated bank borrowing. The Group aims
at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The
Group manages its interest rate exposures by
assessing the potential impact arising from any
interest rate movements based on interest rate
level and outlook. The management will review
the proportion of borrowings in floating rates
and ensure they are within reasonable range.

1
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(iif)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

A fundamental reform of major interest rate
benchmarks is being undertaken globally,
including the replacement of some Interbank
Offered Rates (“IBORs”) with alternative nearly
risk-free rates. Details of the impacts on the
Group’s risk management strategy arising from
the interest rate benchmark reform and the
progress towards implementation of alternative
benchmark interest rates are set out under
“interest rate benchmark reform” section in this
note.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments at the
end of each reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period
A 25
basis points increase or decrease is used

were outstanding for the whole year.

when reporting interest rate risk internally to
key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in interest rates. For the year
ended 31st December 2024,
had been 25 basis points higher/lower and
the
Group’s post-tax loss would increase/decrease
by approximately HK$2,490,000. For the year
ended 31st December 2023,
had been 25 basis points higher/lower and all

if interest rates

all other variables were held constant,

if interest rates

other variables were held constant, the Group’s
interests capitalised to stock of properties
would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$3,651,000.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily
attributable to loan to a director, trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, amount due
from non-controlling interest, time deposits, bank
balances and restricted cash. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets, except that the credit risks associated with
loan to a director is mitigated because loan to a
director is secured by way of a share charge over
the entire issued share capital of Reform Base
Holdings Limited (“Reform Base”), a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI")
and wholly owned by Ms. Chen.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on financial assets individually. In this regard, the
directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

1
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WERZ2HBMEEBR ESENELE
MRBMAEEP AN BEFRZES - RE

#1E1,922,000% 7T (ZZ = =4 : 1,891,000
BB SRNRRF I EREAERE R I

ARLEBENEF  HEEHERERZERFR
ZEERRARIEHRAEEHACEESBEE
(ZEZ=%:42,000%7T) ' HEAFHEEL
REBO%(ZFE-_=F:22%) - EERAEE
#{8640,000/8 7L (Z T Z=4F : 640,000/&7T)
ZEBSERYEFEEERE MR T ZHF
kT —=F+-A=1+—H2HRES
EEEERE-

AEEH R REMERKEZEREEES
BHETETE - BHEEELEDN2ERE
BHKHRET WARAENRBRY EE T
NZEBEEREZNEAIRAEESR - E5H
E BR [ 4 {E394,407,000/8 T (Z T - =4 :
364,344,000/ 7T) 2 1= B R k2 B )44 #5382
RAEAREEN RASEDEN2EATE
HEEBEIRZSARIRE BHERE
H{= B E 188 55,322,000 L (ZE==F :
8,066,000/ 7T ) + 78 8 15 BB L & 51.4%
(Z2Z=F:22%) EFRA FEAME
48,928,000/ 7T (= T = = £ : 130,928,000
BL)ZEREeREMERKBEEEERE Sﬁz
T8 HA {5 B [E5 18 7 548,928,000/ 7T (=

— =% :79,928,000% 7T) vfﬁﬁzﬁ$iﬁﬁs%att
ER100% (ZF==F : 61.1%) °

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

The Group applies simplified approach to measure
lifetime ECL for trade receivables on an individual
basis. The directors assessed customers’ ability to
settle the receivables based on historical default
experience. Trade receivables with gross carrying
amount of HK$1,922,000 (2023: HK$1,891,000) are
due from customers that have good track record
with the Group, the directors conclude that the
credit risk attributable to these customers is low
and no allowance for ECL (2023: HK$42,000) was
recognised with expected average loss rate of
0% (2023: 2.2%). The directors considered that
trade receivables with gross carrying amount of
HK$640,000 (2023: HK$640,000) was credit-impaired
and allowance for ECL was fully provided as at 31st
December 2024 and 2023.

The Group assessed the ECL for deposits and
other receivables individually. The expected loss
rate was determined by reference to past default
experience and have been adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors that affecting the ability of settlement. The
directors concluded that there is no significant
increase in credit risk of gross carrying amount of
HK$394,407,000 (2023: HK$364,344,000) since initial
recognition and the Group provided impairment on
these balances based on 12m ECL. Allowance for
ECL of HK$5,322,000 (2023: HK$8,066,000) was
recognised with expected average loss rate of 1.4%
(2023: 2.2%). The directors considered that deposits
and other receivables with gross carrying amount of
HK$48,928,000 (2023: HK$130,928,000) was credit-
impaired and allowance for ECL of HK$48,928,000
(2023: HK$79,928,000) was recognised with
expected average loss rate of 100% (2023: 61.1%).
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

At 31st December 2023, the Group had advanced a
loan to a director and considered the credit risk is
limited since the borrower has an appropriate credit
history and good reputation. The directors concluded
that there is no significant increase in credit risk
of these amounts since initial recognition and the
Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
Credit risk associated with loan to a director is also
mitigated by way of a share charge over the entire
issued share capital of Reform Base which holds
indirect interest in a property located in Macau.
Hence, the Group assessed the 12m ECL for loan to
a director is insignificant and no allowance for ECL
was recognised.

The Group assessed the ECL for amount due from
non-controlling interest individually. The management
believes that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of these amounts since initial recognition as
there was no significant change in its financial status.
The Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.
During the year ended 31st December 2024 and
2023, the Group assessed the ECL for amount due
from non-controlling interest are insignificant and no
allowance for ECL was recognised.

Credit risk on time deposits and bank balances and
restricted cash is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks with high credit ratings. The
Group assessed 12m ECL for time deposits and
bank balances to be insignificant and no allowance
for ECL was recognised.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate cash and cash equivalents, monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and financial
liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by
the management. Reports with maturity dates of
bank and other borrowings and thus the liquidity
requirements are provided to management for review
periodically. Management will raise or refinance bank

and other borrowings whenever necessary.

At 31st December 2024 and 2023, the Group has
no available unutilised banking facilities, and has
HK$435,760,000 (2023: nil) available unutilised other
facilities.

The following table shows details of the Group’s
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, bank
and other borrowings with a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the lender choosing
to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for non-
derivative financial liabilities are prepared based on
the agreed repayment dates.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating
rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from
interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

REXS, RER
I REFIES R-%M -ERER IENE  BERESH REES
Weighted On demand More than Total Total
average or within 1 year but less Over  undiscounted carrying
interest rate 1year  than5years 5 years cash flows amount
% TR ThT ThT ThT ThT
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-E-BET-A=1-8  At31st December 2024
it eHak Non-derivative financial liabilities
E SRR Trade payables - 76,729 - = 76,729 76,729
BEES  BHEER Deposits received, accruals and
EftEMFE other payables - 91,312 - - 91,312 91,312
figak Lease liabilities 8 7,598 11,391 - 18,989 18,186
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 10 276,904 1,479,715 - 1,756,619 1,611,130
ERERERNE Amounts due to non-controlling
interests - 281,478 - - 281,478 281,478
a3 Total 734,021 1,491,106 - 2,225,127 2,078,835
WZE-ZET-F=f-H  At31st December 2023
HiEeRak Non-Gerivative financial liabiliies
BHEMER Trade payables - 124,728 - - 124,728 124,728
BEYRES - BiER R Deposits received, accruals and
EfEAHE other payables - 46,105 - - 46,105 46,105
HEak Lease liabilties 12 12,869 27,888 - 40,757 35,803
ROREBEE Bank and other borrowings 8 478,69 1,601,614 - 2,080,309 1,767,454
R RERTE Amounts due to non-contralling
interests = 503,116 = = 503,116 503,116
) Total 1,165,513 1,629,502 - 2,795,015 2,477,206
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The unsecured other borrowing classified under
“Bank and other borrowings” with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the “on demand
or within 1 year” time band in the above maturity
analysis. As at 31st December 2024 and 2023, the
aggregate carrying amounts of the unsecured other
borrowing amounted to HK$165,000,000 (2023:
HK$100,000,000). Taking into account the Group’s
financial position, the management does not believe
that it is probable that the counterparty will exercise
its discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The management believes that such
unsecured other borrowing will be repaid after the
end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreement, details of which are set out in the table
below:

HNEBLIT — BREERPITHNEERE Maturity analysis — Borrowing with a repayment on

KEEGRIZEE demand clause based on scheduled repayment
ABERS

-ER —-ERER BENE hEf#T  REESH

More than Total Total

1 year but less undiscounted carrying

Within 1 year ~ than5years  Over 5 years cash flows amount

Tin Tin Tin Thn Tin

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

R-E-ME+-A=t+-A At 31st December 2024 171,700 - - 177,700 165,000

NS E SRl At 31st December 2023 109,644 - - 109,644 100,000
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Interest rate benchmark reform

As disclosed in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s HIBOR bank borrowings will
be subject to the interest rate benchmark reform.
The Group is closely monitoring the market and
managing the transition to new benchmark interest
rates, including announcements made by the
relevant IBORs regulators.

HIBOR

While the Hong Kong Dollar Overnight Index Average
(“HONIA”) has been identified as an alternative to
HIBOR, there is no plan to discontinue HIBOR. The
multi-rate approach has been adopted in Hong
Kong, whereby HIBOR and HONIA will co-exist.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments

In estimating the fair value, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. Where
Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent qualified valuers to perform the
valuation. The management works closely with the
qualified external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
management reports the findings to the directors
at the end of each reporting period to explain the
cause of fluctuations in fair value of the asset.

The following table presents the fair value of the
Group’s financial instruments measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis,
categorised into the three-level fair value hierarchy
as defined in HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement.
The level into which a fair value measurement
is classified is determined with reference to the
observability and significance of the inputs used in
the valuation technique as follows:

° Level 1 valuations: fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities at the measurement date;

. Level 2 valuations: fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
input for which market data are not available;
and

e level 3 valuations: fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.
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ﬁ@ (/,E 5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(c) QEQIEZ’A‘$1’1E(£§) (c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
EF-Z8 FEH BZER @t
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

THET TEL TET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

RZZE-_NE+=-A=1+—-H At 31st December 2024

BREHEES L FEE Fair value on a recurring basis
BRBRUATEEGIRZ Financial assets at FVTPL
tHEE
ERE LM ZBAES Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 11,802 - - 11,802
ERRE RATERE Investment in films, at fair value
~EREBRE/BTKE L — films under post-production/
%7 distribution stage = = 26,112 26,112
11,802 - 26,112 37,914
RZZEZ=F+ZA=+—H At 31st December 2023
BREMEEZ N FER Fair value on a recurring basis
BREEALTEEER Financial assets at FVTPL
PRAE
ABREBELMZBAES Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 21,735 = = 21,735
REFT-REZZEHA Call option embedded in loan to
ez RENRE a director - _ . _
EFYRE BRLTEE Investment in films, at fair value
—TLREBHE S BITREB 2 — films under post-production/
BY distribution stage - - 96,512 96,512
21,735 - 96,512 118,247
$’$ ErBRERABEANEREBR 2 EHAE The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and
ABBHHBE AERBEN A FTEEERER out of fair value hierarchy levels at the end of the
ﬁsﬂﬁqﬁé‘ R date of the events or change in circumstances that
caused the transfer.
HEZ @E&_v_ii‘?' HESE During the year ended 31st December 2024 and
E!JJ:EFW WS MEE—FRZH 2023, there were no transfers between Level 1 and

B _JZE}J\_JZ@}HY"_M o Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level 3.
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

The following tables present the changes in financial

assets at FVTPL which are classified as Level 3

BRERURFEBEINREZREENEH category for the years ended 31st December 2024
and 2023:
T T
BEHF-—BESERANFE2TBEL#E  Call option embedded in loan to a director HK$'000
R-ZTZ=F—H—H At 1st January 2023 2,007
AT EEZEHFEE ZEE Loss arising on change in fair value 2,007
R-ZZE-_=F+=-A=+-—-H " At 31st December 2023, at 1st January 2024
R-E-_MFE-A—HK and at 31st December 2024
R=-ZB-mE+=A=+—H -
FAT
BE¥RE RATESE Investment in films, at fair value HK$’000
R-ZTEZ=F—H—H At 1st January 2023 104,743
AT EEEHFAEEZER Loss arising on change in fair value (7,265)
P 5, 5 £ Exchange adjustments (966)
S e e T ] At 31st December 2023 and at 1st January 2024
R-—ZE_WME—H—H 96,512
AT EBEESMELEZER Loss arising on change in fair value (69,433)
B i o 2 Exchange adjustments (967)
R=-F_NE+=—_HA=+—8 At 31st December 2024 26,112
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

EER BETABZRAASE EERUVERRARBEAVYEEZBE
Valuation Significant Relation of significant
techniques unobservable input unobservable inputs to fair value
RET-—EZEFZ “EABRETERS HEEEEE HHEEBEERRENE A TEANEFEEERE
BRAME 2 REHE
Call option embedded Binomial option Underlying asset value The underlying asset value is positively correlated to
in loan to a director pricing model the fair value measurement of the call option

RERBRE/BOTKEZ BRBEREE
EYRE BRLTEE

Investment in films under Discounted cash
post-production/distribution  flows approach
stage, at fair value

REHEEZATEER TREEBYASE
MEXGBEMTEEEXERERAR (18
EDEOAE  UHEDEE GAERMRZER
ZEABE EEENSHREPRRAERER
HMER  URBEELCFEERBZREA -

FRET AR FEEMRRAZHBERTR
BABBZER TR EXHKE -

HHR B BHRBEERENE, ATERHEFEEERE
Expected volatility The expected volatility is positively correlated to the

fair value measurement of the call option

AR E11% EREERATBEAECEFREZATEENER
(ZZZ=F 1 12%) EREREK
Discount rate of 11% The discount rate is negatively correlated to the fair
(2023: 12%) value measurement of investment in films at fair
value

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the
management works closely with Graval Consulting
Limited (“Graval”), a firm of independent qualified
professional valuers, to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model. The
management reports the findings to the directors
at the end of each reporting period to explain the
cause of fluctuations in fair value of the asset.

Information about the valuation techniques and
inputs used in determining the above fair value are
disclosed above.
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5. ﬁ@l =1 (/f/“g 5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) ¢MIBEZAVEEE) (c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)
BRBHEXK D EERA - BXAAREERE Binomial option pricing model is used for valuation
B RZTZ=FF+-A=+—HzEAXZ for the call option component. The inputs into the
BABUEINT ¢ model at 31st December 2023 are as follows:

—T-=F
+=ZA=t—-H
31st December

2023
HEREEEE(FEL) Underlying assets value (HK$'000) 382,350
TEE(FERT) Exercise price (HK$'000) 500,000
T8 B R B8 (%) Expected volatility (%) 25.7
% B M 25 (%) Dividend yield (%) T AN/A
HiE A W (F) Option life (years) 0.01
2 2 B2 1) (%) Risk free rate (%) 50
TERFINE=ZER/AFEEFTEFBEZTA The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
BREABIBRER%SHAEEZGRE T to a 5% increase and decrease in significant
REHBETHEERRDT &R EHAETR unobservable inputs in Level 3 fair value
Fif& BB - measurement. A positive number below indicates

a decrease in post-tax loss where and negative
number below indicates an increase in post-tax loss.

T =4
2023
FAT
HK$'000
RUF-—BEZEZ2ERA Call option embedded in loan to
e zREaE a director
HEEEE Underlying asset value
#1N5% 5% increase -
5% 5% decrease =
SR Expected volatility
1 115% 5% increase -
5% 5% decrease g
NEBHSME RITHRERZ Investment in films under
FRE BATEE post-production/distribution stage,
at fair value
AR 38 = Discount rate
H#IN5% 5% increase (1,086) (667)

5% 5% decrease 1,169 676
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5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c) Fair value of financial instruments (Continued)

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at
other than fair value

Except as disclosed below, the carrying amounts of
the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
carried at amortised cost were not materially different
from their fair values as at 31st December 2023:

—E=F
2023

R A RNEEE

Carrying Fair

amount value

FHT FAT

HK$’000 HK$'000

RETFT—REZTZER Loan to a director 499 773 499,689

RET-—RESZEXNRTEEIEAD
FEEERTE=FREHN  HERNEHRR
TRENMREBEMZEEBRAEE  E&
BEB ) \BBEAMATTRKREEARKRE
REUSBMTARERLAER

The fair value of loan to a director is classified as
Level 3 category in fair value hierarchy which has
been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on a discounted
cash flow analysis, with the most significant inputs
being the discount rate that reflects the return
required by the holder for investing in similar
financial instrument.
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AEEETEBREAENR  UBRAEE @A
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ERRBERAOR RBEFE  FEBEER
REEEIHE -

AEBZERNGERRRER IR (REEEE
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BEERMBHE
EXRFEEEENEAGRE - ERULEMN

—WMH BEEEREARARERZEREARN
BZER AKRERREBAARESZHERER

FEBXMEE  BOTHROIBERAB RN
AWRBETHEBXBEORFEHMFEHEE
BERERE -

5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(d) Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going
concern while maximising the return to stakeholders
through the optimisation of the debt and equity
balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains
unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net
debts (which includes lease liabilities, bank and
other borrowings and financing note payables)
and equity attributable to owners of the Company
(comprising share capital and reserves).

The Group is not subject to any external imposed
capital requirements.

Certain facilities of the Group are subject to loan
covenants. At 31st December 2024, all of these
covenants have been complied by the Group.

Gearing ratio

The directors review the capital structure on annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on the recommendations
of the directors of the Company, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through payment
of dividends, issue of new shares or repurchase
of existing shares as well as issue of new debts or
redemption of existing debts.
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5. QEQIE_\ (/{ég 5. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(d) EXEE(E) (d) Capital management (Continued)
BEEBERE(E) Gearing ratio (Continued)
AEBEE#BEEAREEREAEAKE - R The Group aims to maintain the gearing ratio at a
REMRCEEARLEDT reasonable level. The gearing ratio at the end of the

reporting period was as follows:

—E=F

2023

T T

HK$’000

HBER (H:T) Total debts (Note) 1,629,316 1,803,257

B EHTER BE2R Less: time deposits, cash and

RITERARZ RGNS bank balances and restricted cash (126,425) (130,581)

BT H5 Net debt 1,502,891 1,672,676
NAEER ANEHEZR Equity attributable to owners of the

Company 2,053,818 2,661,142

B FRE R X Net debt to equity ratio 73% 63%

BEGHERIEE Total debt to equity ratio 79% 68%

Met - REKRERESBENURBITREMEES Note: Total debts comprises lease liabilities and bank and

HBEDRRARE VB RERMEIS5R36 © other borrowings as detailed in notes 35 and 36 to

the consolidated financial statements respectively.

171



172 CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED th 2 £ Bl G R A 0] ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4%

BE=

6.

= W B it & Mt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ToME+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

7REF
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B MERERREREZFHEUARS RERREE
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F(EEERAELRR) &0

REBBFTREDBENKETAER T 2 REE
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FEZE s N B EEE AR E A
BEXEEARY  BREAE
18 AR
MEFRBRIKRE - RERFBEMEARAEER
% i aa I 4R 44 — 2 EPRETEE AR
S R T OHEREEUARRAER
HEBRBIEESR

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on
the reports reviewed by the directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”"),
for the purpose of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments and that are used
to make strategic decisions.

During the year ended 31st December 2023, the Group
commenced the multi-media and entertainment business
and it is considered as a new operating and reportable
segment by CODM.

The Group has three reportable segments - film
related business operations, property development and
investment operations and multi-media and entertainment
business operations. The segmentations are based on
the information about the operations of the Group that
management uses to make decisions.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business
units that operate different activities. They are managed
separately because each business has different markets
and requires different marketing strategies.

Particulars of the Group’s reportable segments are
summarised as follows:

Film related business -
operations

Investment, production,
distribution and
licensing of films
and television drama
series and provision
of other film related
services including artist
management services

Investment and
development of
properties and building
management services

Property development -
and investment
operations

Multi-media and -
entertainment business
operations

Development, promotion
and operation in
multi-channel network
e-commerce platform
and development and
sales of private label
products
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment information about these operations is presented
as below:

(a) An analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

operating segments

PERE PEEE
Segment revenue Segment results
ZT==F b St
2023 2023
TAT THL
HK$'000 HK$'000
BYHLREL LR Film related business operations 2,188 4,435 (85,465) (52,560)
MERBRRELEER Property development and investment
operations 675,240 148,230 (121,106) (134,374)
LR RIRS T E K Multi-media and entertainment
business operations 50,788 53,503 (55,780) (58,973)
728,216 206,168 (262,351) (245,907)
PEEBERHAFEZ Reconciliation from segment results
ik to loss before tax
ROBEEEKRA Unallocated corporate income 19,291 36,284
BRBEAATERYE Loss arising on change in fair value of
ZEREEC A TEA financial assets at FVTPL
EHMELZER (9,933) (20,456)
AOBEAERT Unallocated corporate expenses (96,329) (58,075)
BRICATE R Loss before tax (349,322) (288,154)

EXFERzABREEREMATL ZK
o MEFERNTEDBRHEE -

NEREES I BRERDEEIRDELEH
XIBET 2 @RTHREX - 80 B & KA KB
DEMBERS  [RDEEFBRAIATHD
Hip s R E A REBBEARFEE
Ik eMEEC AFEEEPIMEL 2R
DEER T A Z B - iR REEEER
REZBEERNDENFEERZAETE

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no

inter-segment sales for both years.

Segment results represent the loss suffered
by each segment without allocation of central
administrative expenses, partial finance costs, and
partial other operating expenses under the heading
of “unallocated corporate expenses”, partial other
revenue and other income under the heading of
“unallocated corporate income” and partial loss
arising on change in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL. This is the measure reported to the CODM for
the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.
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. PREHR (&)

(b) FAEMELED MBI D ZMBRRD T

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

operating segments

(b) An analysis of the Group’s financial position by

—EZ=F
2023
AT
HK$’000
BE ASSETS
NEEE Segment assets
— B EGKREER — Film related business operations 278,591 396,491
—MERERBELEER — Property development and
investment operations 3,663,314 3,946,935
— (M Bl K R 4 S 2 T — Multi-media and entertainment
business operations 147,429 123,232
DEREERE Total segment assets 4,089,334 4,466,658
ROREE Unallocated assets 116,177 717,938
4,205,511 5,184,596
=i LIABILITIES
NEEE Segment liabilities
— BB ER S LT — Film related business operations 7,304 6,445
—ERERIGELEER — Property development and
investment operations 1,831,575 2,320,496
— Z B8 N IR G T 2 — Multi-media and entertainment
business operations 80,064 69,722
DB EERE Total segment liabilities 1,918,943 2,396,663
KOBBEE Unallocated liabilities 232,168 127,450
2,151,111 246 2280313
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o *’Eﬁ;lal. (”/\) 6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(b) AEBMRKESFE D 2B BEMRR D (&) (b) An analysis of the Group’s financial position by
operating segments (Continued)
PR BEREIEE RSB R EERME ¢ For the purpose of resource allocation and

performance assessment between segments:

s MEBEBENIBTETHRESSE  ER e all assets are allocated to reportable segments,
HT—RESFZENR FE  Bokse - other than loan to a director, inventories, partial
BNRIEREMENKIE  BEiRBEEN deposits, prepayment and other receivables,

AEBEIGZHDECREE B — partial financial assets at FVTPL, amount due
MEEMENRIE  EUCEERER IR from a joint venture, amount due from non-
R e RIBITESR U RELILITHA controlling interest, partial cash and bank
BZEDWE  MEBRFRERIN R balances and partial property, plant and

equipment for central administrative purposes;
and

e FEBEABEBENIEFATHRESE HEH e all liabilities are allocated to reportable
EE HBorEkiks EHEERE segments, other than other borrowing, partial
fENFIBRBOHEEB BRI o deposits received, accruals and other payables

and partial lease liabilities.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Other segment information

(c) HittoEEN

EYRBERAEEE UEMIRRECERY SRERREEEER AR E
Multi-media and
Film related Property development and entertainment
business operations  investment operations  business operations Unallocated Consolidated
ka3 5ok it St 3 ik Jat 3 “E-CF
2023 2023 2023 2023 2023
Thn Thn Tin Tin Tirn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HKS§'000 HK$'000
HtAHENERED Amounts included in the measure of
AREEZRE: segment results or segment assets:
EYMERS Amartisation of film rights - 15 - - - - - - - 15
BYEERS Amortisation of intangible assets - - - - 181 46 - - 181 4%
hx KERRENE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 7 (Y 831006 5316 o1 581 e 12071
RN RYEEER  Reversal of allowance for ECL on trade
BEROGIALREERR) receivables (included in other
operating expenses) (42) 8 - - - - - - (4) )
REREMENZEZRSAEE  (Reversal of allowance)/allowance for ECL
EE(RERD)/Bf on deposits and other receivables, net
FHEGAREERR) (included in other operafing expenses) (4213 41,060 (542) 674 2011 - - 195 () 53719
FBERNATEENE 248  Loss arising on change in fair valug of
AELATRERDAEEL financial assets at FVTPL
Bk 0948 7065 - = = T R L B Y S
RENE ATEESSHES  Gainarising on change i fair value of
L] investment property - - (1408 (443%9) o = - - (T405)  (4439)
BEEYMEZCEDAESE  Impaiment loss recognised in respect of
(FAZMEERS) film righs (included in other operating
expenses) 4,800 100 - - - = = = 4,800 100
FEEVAZ Additions to intangiole assets - - - - - 548 - - = 548
FENE BRRZE Additions to property, plant and equipment
(GABENERS) (include transfer from stock of properties) 10 4 3 3,793 23 45,647 2381 2008 298,485 51542
EROTEEERRARY Amounts regularly provided to the
BRFAGRARRED CODM but not included in the
ABEEZRE: measure of segment results or
segment assets:
RHBMA Bank interest income 15 61 1,17 529 2 75 1 302 1,162 %7
ERHERA Loan inferest income - : o - - S op3M6 B¢ 13M6 B
RERK Finance costs - - 11624 141,644 1,502 698 16,994 652 134821 142,99
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about major customers

No revenues from transactions with external
customers accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s
total revenue for the years ended 31st December
2024 and 2023.

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about
geographical location of (i) revenue from external
customers and (ii) non-current assets (excluded
financial instruments). The geographical location
of customers is based on the location at which the
services were provided or the goods delivered. The
geographical location of non-current assets is based
on the physical location of the assets.

RENREEzWE FRBEE (FTBELRIA)
Revenue from external Non-current assets

customers (excluded financial instruments)

“E-=fF —E-=F

2023 2023

THL FHL

HK$'000 HK$'000

BB Hong Kong 192 805 45,410 52914

SR FS Macau 675,240 148,230 327,706 23,377

as Taiwan - - 150,322 154,013

hEARILM The People’s Republic of China

([fhE]| - *a4E  (the "PRC") excluded Hong Kong,

&% RPI R &) Macauand Taiwan 52,784 56,673 23,031 40,868

Hib Others - 460 - -

728,216 206,168 546,469 211,172
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7. L&ﬁ_é 7. REVENUE
NTHINBEEFANZ W EEBLBERTAEES Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
B2 R - contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in
the segment information.
ey =
2023
FET
HK$'000
DR REEEFEHZWE Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers
BITERA Distribution fee income 192 2,751
A E RIS BA Artist management service income 1,996 1,684
MEHEE Sales of properties 674,308 147,298
ANEEERRBERA Building management service fee income 932 932
SR EE RAE WA Multi-media sales and commission income 50,788 53,503
REEEFEFAEH 2N Revenue from contracts with customers 728,216 206,168
REEEFEFESH 2 WS Revenue from contracts with customers
W 25 FE R 2 B M Timing of revenue recognition
= — E B 25 A point in time 727,284 205,236
P e i Over time 932 932
REEEFEFEHNZWE Revenue from contracts with customers 728,216 206,168
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Ha s R H A A

8. OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

BB A
RITHBA
BB HEA
BRRERER
TEHE
R

[Z3=g2 N

RITEEZHME
HipfEEZH 8
ENBERBZHE

BN —REBER—EBBEAL
HIAZFIE

FENS IR AR 2R S IR 2 B

RITEFRE R

HERBEZME
H b B &R

BERNERMEFTEZHNE

—E_ME = ==
2024 2023
FERT FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
Dividend income 3 52
Bank interest income 1,162 967
Loan interest income 13,446 &5, el
Catering operations 4,974 -
Retail sales 670 -
Sundry income 1,658 969
21,913 37,122
9. FINANCE COSTS
ol 11 - 5 el = =
2024 2023
FERT FAT
HK$°000 HK$'000
Interests on bank borrowings 116,063 140,885
Interests on other borrowing 41,478 384
Interests on financing note payables - 325
Interest on amount due to a director and
an associate 1,305 -
Interest on amount due to non-controlling
interests 3,339 -
Bank guarantee charges - 361
Interests on lease liabilities 1,928 1,008
Other finance costs - 31
164,113 142,994
Interest capitalised to stock of properties (29,286) —
134,827 142,994
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10.BR % Al &5 18

BRBATERDEME(GtA) THISHREH -

10. LOSS BEFORE TAX

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

—ED=fF
2023
T T
HK$'000
EREESN (GFATHSHEE - Amortisation of intangible assets (included
HEREITHX) in marketing, selling and distribution
expenses) 181 46
ZERAT BN & & E A AR Auditors’ remuneration and other services:
ZN/NGIE S 2 i Auditors of the Company
— B R — audit services 950 1,100
— FEEF R - non-audit services 150 180
1,100 1,280
SHERA Cost of sales:
— BRI — Amortisation of film rights - 15
—EEWEKAE — Cost of properties sold 583,404 85,474
— Z IR RS R IR B R K AN — Cost of multi-media and entertainment
business 17,861 51,348
601,265 136,837
Y B RBETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 27,621 12,071
EEBABEX Employee benefit expenses 90,799 58,404
EHAEBHEZAX Expense relating to short-term leases 1,650 3,303
EHREREEEECHEZAX Expense relating to leases of low-value
(TBREEREEEEZ assets, excluding short-term leases of
HHEE) low-value assets 164 658
WEWE AT BEZHFES  Gain arising on change in fair value of
2 e A investment property (7,405) (4,435)

HMEERz Other operating expenses:

—EB5RWRF ZTEHEEEE - Reversal of allowance for ECL on

B EEE trade receivables (42) (8)
— % & K H fth fE UK FRIE 2 T8 8 — (Reversal of allowance)/allowance

EEEE EERD) for ECL on deposits and other

B - FE receivables, net (2,744) 53,719
—FHAREFEX ZERER — Impairment loss recognised in respect

VEREY of films in progress 9,625 -
—HMEEKR — Other cost of sales 3,141 -
—FHEXREZEBARE — Impairment loss recognised in respect

&8 of film rights 4,800 100
—MEFE Z MR — Write-down of stock of properties 28,481 4

43,261 o8NSl
BEEBmAQFEAEYERZ Loss arising on change in fair value of
CRMEEZATFEZHHMEL financial assets at FVTPL:
Z 18
— FTRR AR — listed equity securities 9,933 18,449
—fTESmIT A — derivative financial instruments - 2,007
—BERERE — investment in films 69,433 7,265
79,366 27,721

BE 3B 1R R

Net foreign exchange loss 6,791 1,886
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FIEBAX

1. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

e =

2023

FET

HK$'000

IE AEFi 18 Deferred tax 1,307 1,354

BEFBNGHMASL  cEREEEREMAS
78 7T B0 g N 5 1R28.25% M R B - BEMBE BB T
A1216.5% 5 EHH o

EEFNGSHAMEFELRGAERT RN 2
16.5%+ & ©

HRASEBREREBEEERANNZERED
A B2 ARAGTRERE  RTEREE
CECMERZFE=FF_A=FT-HILEFEZ
BEEFEBIEL RS -

B B A AR M AR E 1 125 % A P B 1
B < RPIME R RN M EF E IR A ERT R
MzEa 2ERR12%8MEPMESHEAR - 88
MBARAEMMEERER 1 EH120,000% & 1
FER U AR ¥R MR M A120,0008T &
B EIR20% B

e A 82 [ 4 10 B+ PR A B A R SR
R+ B AR 4 A 2 R O RSB R
PRI R A S D LR et il -

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong
Kong Profits Tax, the first HK$2 million of profits of the
qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the
estimated assessable profit for both years.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made
for the year ended 31st December 2024 and 2023 as the
Group has no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong
or taxable profits were wholly absorbed by estimated tax
losses brought forward.

The PRC subsidiaries are subject to the PRC Enterprise
Income Tax at 25% for both years. Macau subsidiaries
are subject to Macau Complementary Tax at the maximum
progressive rate of 12% on the estimated assessable
profit for both years. Taiwan subsidiary is subject to
Taiwan corporate tax, the first NT$120,000 taxable income
of Taiwan subsidiary is exempted from corporate tax and
taxable income above NT$120,000 is taxed at 20%.

No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax, Macau
Complementary Tax and Taiwan corporate tax has been
made for both years as the Group has no assessable
profits arising in the PRC, Macau and Taiwan.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to

FZmT - the loss before tax per the consolidated income statement
as follows:
—F-=

2023

FAT

HK$'000

W 56 A s 18 Loss before tax (349,322) (288,154)

REMAAEHBERAT 2 FHE Tax at domestic income tax rate (61,795) (46,626)

IVNP&5 5% Tax effect of:

TRERTA Income not taxable for tax purpose (3,101) (6,292)

TA T X Expenses not deductible for tax purpose 37,580 20,390

RERZ (Gt i EEE Estimated tax losses not recognised 29,539 34,303
A BT RERNIEER Utilisation of tax losses previously not

recognised (916) (421)

FEMEHAX Income tax expense for the year 1,307 1,354

R EEIR - AN BB A R R Fl 2 B Et R
) FB i 18 /85 181,999,390,000/8 7T (=T — = & ¢
1,809,021,0007%8 7t) ° F A A T8 B R 2K i it 2
WERRARERIBEARE - RERTIEEE &R

+
%u\"

12.1 2

FALERNFGRFR N RARS - RIFEHRR
(

EEENEEZRRNEARE (ZF

=) o

12.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has
estimated unused tax losses of HK$1,999,390,000 (2023:
HK$1,809,021,000) available for offset against future
profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
The unrecognised tax losses may be carried forward
indefinitely.

DIVIDEND

No final dividend was paid or proposed during the year,
nor any dividend has been proposed by the board of
directors subsequent to the end of the reporting period
(2023: nil).
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BREE
ADFEE ARG REARBEH AT R T
Bt

13. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

e
2023
FHET
HK$’000
B Loss
RKRAREEANERFEEE Loss for the year attributable to owners
(ARTEGIRERNREEEE) of the Company for the purposes of
basic and diluted loss per share (351,930) (289,477)
—E-=F
2023
TFR&
‘000
RHEE Number of shares
ANGTESRERNNEEER Weighted average number of ordinary
2 INRE Y L m AR R E shares for the purposes of basic and
diluted loss per share 2,430,305 2,461,911

RBAF TR ES 2 FBEZE  AFTRRES
T EAS A A BEAR R B RRE AT 2 48 [ A
7o FEIL - B4R %EX1265,0008 T (ZE =4 :
265,000/ 7T) Z M ARITEALFI AT R IR (B 5 E iR w
1,060,317 (ZF = =4 : 1,060,317/%) R E E
001ABTZRARE BRI AR ETREANEE
ZIMEFHERBREE -

RRMEFEOREACETERE  RIA20E

Pursuant to the deed polls of the Bonus CBs, the Bonus
CBs conferred the holders with the same economic
interests attached to the shareholders of the Company.
Accordingly, 1,060,317 (2023: 1,060,317) fully paid
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each which shall be
convertible from an aggregated amount of approximately
HK$265,000 (2023: HK$265,000) outstanding Bonus CBs
are included in the weighted average number of ordinary
shares for calculating the basic loss per share.

No diluted loss per share was presented as there was no
potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.

183



184

CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED B 2 Bl B B 20 e ANNUAL REPORT 2024 44t

BE

14 EER/ARAX

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

R
—Exus

—Fa REAMER
— RKAEFIFT B

Hra REAMER
BAREHNFEER(TREES
2RI T & 300

B B&FIF

Directors’ remuneration

— directors’ fee

— salaries and other allowances

— retirement benefits scheme
contributions

Salaries and other allowances

Retirement benefits scheme contributions
(excluding directors’ retirement benefits
scheme contributions)

Staff welfare expenses

4% A W B it 3 Bt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—E-_NFE+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

—E-QE DEES
2024 2023
FHERT FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
720 720
21,150 17,029
18 18
21,888 17,767
63,140 37,550
4,114 1,971
1,657 1,116
90,799 58,404
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(a) EEM=E
AAREFERNB=R(Z2=4F: =48)
BYFNTEER=Z2(ZFT_=F: =%)
HITESEK -

4 o M % it & Mt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—ZE-ME+—A=+—HIEEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

(Continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments

The Company’s board of directors is currently
composed of three (2023: three) independent non-
executive directors and three (2023: three) executive

directors.
e HeRAfRY BAEA T HER @zt
Salaries and Retirement benefits scheme
Fees other allowances contributions Total
—F-cF =E-=% RS =l
2023 2023 2023 2023
TR FAn TAR TAR
E3fg Name of director HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BTES Executive directors
mEE Mr. Heung - - 9,360 75560 - : 9,360 7560
Bt Ms. Chen - - 10,175 7,909 - - 10,175 7,909
FERLT Ms. Li Yuk Sheung - = 1,615 1560 18 18 1,633 1578
BikyTES Independent non-executive directors
EEERE Mr. Hung Cho Sing 240 240 - - - E 240 240
fIgEEs Mr. Ho Wai Chi, Paul 20 240 - - - - 240 240
BEWEEWHa) Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert (Note a) = - - o - - 3 -
EEERRAC ) Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander
(Note b) 20 240 = 3 = - 240 240
720 720 21,150 17,029 18 18 21,888 17,767
Bzt - Notes:

(a) HEMELCBHEBUFATERE B _F

(@) Mr. Tang Chak Lam, Gilbert has tendered his

—=F-AmEREN

(b) BERELBZEABIUNFNTESE A_F
TCE-ANARER-

BHEZZE-_NER-_ZE-_=F+ZA=+—
BIEFER - AN BRE R AR R E S B
& VBB IN A 7N & @ 5k o0 B B 7 48 B ok K K B
L2 18 - R ESIMEFELDERAREEK
ZRBRETMAMS -

resignation as an independent non-executive director

with effect from 4th January 2023.

(b) Mr. Tai Kwok Leung, Alexander has been appointed
as an independent non-executive director with effect
from 4th January 2023.

During the years ended 31st December 2024 and
2023, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the
directors of the Company as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for
loss of office. None of the directors of the Company
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in both
years.

18!
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14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES
(Continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

14 BERARAX (&)

(a) EEM= (%)

HE_ZT-_NF+-_FA=+—HLEFER R
BARBIRGOZEAEMR LT RAEER
HREMREBEE_E-_=F+-_A=+—8H
IEFE R TR Z L 2164,000,000/% £ E) ik
MEXR -BE-_ZT-_WNF+-_A=+—HIt
FEABEZBRHERS

BEaBREAMTLzERBBEALR 5‘;
FIRBEEN  RERKFEAREFABHE AR
WK“?EHWJ%“ﬁﬁiﬂﬂﬁﬁiuTiﬁfazﬁ
EEXEMESEERLAMEAEERNER L
B 5 RHERAEH -

(b) EEBEHFMAL

AREAFEEIEAERRFHIATRE=4
(ZE_=F:ZR)EF HEHMEERNEX
(a)3l 7R I 421,168,000 T (Z T ==

17,047,0008 7T) - FAENEBME (ZF

TEF I MB)REAREEENIERDITH

(b)

During the year ended 31st December 2024,
164,000,000 Awarded Shares under the share award
scheme of the Company granted to Ms. Chen during
the year ended 31st December 2023 in respect of
her service provided to the Group were lapsed. No
Awarded Share was vested during the year ended
31st December 2024.

Except for those disclosed in material related party
transactions in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, no other transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to which
the Company or any subsidiaries of the Company
was a party and in which a director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year include three (2023:
three) directors whose emoluments are reflected in
(a) above and amounted to HK$21,168,000 (2023:
HK$17,047,000). The emoluments payable to the

ABZATZB&T ! remaining two (2023: two) individuals who are neither
a director nor chief executive of the Company during
the year were as follows:

—EFT-=
2023
FHET
HK$'000
e R EAER Salaries and other allowances 3,098 3,135
RONAE B 5T B R Retirement benefits scheme contributions 36 36
3,134 SRlIal

ZME(CE=ZF MB)ALBE R (Z
F_=F: —R)REFXRRREBABEE]
—HRBECSREEAS

The two (2023: two) individuals include one (2023:
one) senior management as disclosed in the section
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management”.
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14. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

14 EBERFRX (&)

(b) EEBREHFMAL(E)
HBEME(CE-_=F :RA) R AL
B zME@EEEN TUATAR

(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The aggregated emoluments of each of the
remaining two (2023: two) highest paid individuals
fell within the following bands:

A
Number of individuals
o =E
2023
1,000,001 7t 21,500,000/t HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 =
1,500,001/% 7t £2,000,000/% 7  HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1 2

15.3R ¢k 8 7 51 &

AEBRARBERBER IEANERHFRKE

B ZEHERBUXTAEE -

REREDHE RILHEEEDAEREEMEBEA
Z5%MRE S Ft &L HF - EAE ARERA
30,000/ 7T /3 LR © 818 & 5T &) 2 (5000 48 B8 A 75
HIf e RIS R S

BREEMERRTENRTE  BREREREHAR
BEEAFE 25%Mat BIEH K - HRAFAH
H2000RFIE S ER -WEERARZERIH
AR T8 - SRR RER A R E 2
SR -

AEBETEMBARZERERTERFEENRZ
BRBMFEZKE - ARBERZZ BB BUF
EREENREIEXAB D LAE BRKENG
R RRBAFAEFRLES -

HE-_Z-_NFE+_A=Z+—BHLEEERN - &£
12,000/ 7T (Z T = =4 : 164,000/ 7t) L R E &
SR RENRANEBASZAHEHR - R 2T =
ER-_EBE_=F+_A=+-—BYXEAHHED B
K e

15. RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates defined contribution retirement
schemes including the MPF Scheme. The schemes are
administered by independent trustees.

Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject
to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately upon
the completion of the services in the relevant service
period.

Under other defined contribution retirement schemes,
the employers and their employees are required to make
contributions to the schemes at 5% of the employees’
basic salary subject to a cap of monthly contribution of
MOP2,000 each. Where employees leave the schemes
prior to the full vesting of the employers’ contributions,
the amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the
contributions payable by the Group.

Employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are
members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC government. The Group is required
to contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs as
determined by respective local government authority
to the retirement benefits scheme to fund the benefit
scheme.

Contributions totalling of HK$12,000 (2023: HK$164,000)
were forfeited and utilised during the year ended 31st
December 2024 to reduce contributions paid by the
Group and no forfeited contribution was available at 31st
December 2024 and 2023.
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—PE+=A=+—RIEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

B
AELH g% BENE  HENERE RERRE hE ag
Furniture,
Leasehold Leased Leasehold fixtures and Motor
land Buildings properties  improvements equipment vehicles Total
ThR ThR ThR ThT ThT ThT ThT
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
HA Cost
RZB-=F-f-H At 1st January 2023 51,140 8,086 10,392 5,652 4721 10,820 90,811
AE Additions - - 34,536 11,244 5762 - 51,542
W Written off - - - - (1) - (1)
ELAE Exchange adjustments - - - 1 - - 1
REFZZETZAZT—E w31t December 2023
FRZE-RE-A-H and at 1st January 2024 51,140 8,086 44928 16,897 10,482 10,820 142,353
BENEHE Transfer from stock of
properties 68,334 197,623 - - - - 265,957
AE Additions - - 553 7,837 24,138 - 32,528
EiAE Exchange adjustments = = (786) (31) (160) - (977)
REX Termination of lease - - (8,675) - - - (8,675)
by Expiry of lease - - (552) - - - (552)
R-E-ME+ZA=1-H At 31st December 2024 119,474 205,709 35,468 24,703 34,460 10,820 430,634
2HFEREE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment
RZEZ=%5-H-R At 1st January 2023 7178 4,851 2,675 5,49 4,286 10,405 34,890
ERTH Charge for the year 1,794 404 6,083 2874 638 278 12,071
R Eliminated on written off = = = - 1) , ()
EH A% Exchange adjustments - - (14) (17) (3) - (34)
RZE-=#+-A=F-H  At31stDecember 2023
RR-Z-m&-A-H and at 1st January 2024 8,972 5,255 8,744 8,352 4,920 10,683 46,926
FRRH Charge for the year 3,161 4,356 11,054 3,725 5,188 187 27,621
EH AR Exchange adjustments - - (154) 62 (516) - (608)
RELLE Termination of lease - - (1,173) - - - (1,173)
kol Expiry of lease : - (552) = = = (552)
R-B-ME+-A=1-A At 31st December 2024 12,133 9,611 17,919 12,139 9,592 10,820 72,214
BEf Carrying amounts
R-B-ME+-A=1-A At 31st December 2024 107,341 196,098 17,549 12,564 24,868 - 358,420
R S R S At 31st December 2023 42,168 2,831 36,184 8,645 5,562 137 95,421
EXARREFZERERR The carrying amounts of buildings shown above comprise:
br T v
2023
FAT
HK$'000
MUREBEBZETF: Buildings located in Hong Kong:
— R HEIF A - Medium-term lease 2,426 2,831
ORI Z B F - Buildings located in Macau:
— R HEIFR A — Medium-term lease 193,672 —
196,098 2,831
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HE_Z-_WF+—_A=1+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2024
1 6% % N *%%% & %Q{ﬁ (/EE 16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
AEBEEREABEA The Group as lessee
FEHEEE (GIAYX  #EERZE) Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and
equipment)
HEL HEME @t
Leasehold Leased
land properties Total
FAEL THET FTHL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BREE Carry amounts
R-_E-=F—H—H At 1st January 2023 43,962 7,717 51,679
NE Additions - 34,536 34,536
FEWESH Depreciation charge for the year (1,794) (6,083) (7,877)
i 5, 3 % Exchange adjustments - 14 14
RZZ-=%+-F=+—H At31st December 2023 and
ER-_ZE-_mFE—A—H at 1st January 2024 42,168 36,184 78,352
AE Additions - 558 553
HAYEFE Transfer from stock of properties 68,334 - 68,334
MERIE Termination of lease - (7,502) (7,502)
FEWELH Depreciation charge for the year (3,161) (11,054) (14,215)
0 i, 32 Exchange adjustments = (632) (632)
RZB-NFE+=-A=+—H At 31st December 2024 107,341 17,549 124,890
—E-=fF
2023
FAT
HEWHE Leased properties HK$'000
BREABSHHE X Expenses relating to short-term leases 1,650 3,303
FHERBEEEEMEZRX Expenses relating to leases of low-value
(THEEFEEBEEEZFHMAE) assets, excluding short-term leases of
low-value assets 164 658
HEZHS R A% Total cash outflow for leases 14,973 11,219

EXFREE A E S RORPT - M R
A -

The leasehold land shown above is located in Hong Kong
and Macau and is held under medium-term lease.
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. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

s =5 = EoE
2023
FHET
HK$’000
NFEE Fair value
Bé—-ﬁ = At 1st January 153,950 149,114
RERBRZ AT EBEZS Gain arising on fair value change recognised
ﬁﬁ?ﬁiZ;ﬁﬂ in profit or loss 7,405 4,435
[E 3 A& Exchange adjustments (11,058) 401
R+t=H=+—8H At 31st December 150,297 153,950
BEME N EEBESEHAES  Gain arising on change in fair value
Zoa A of investment property 7,405 4,435

ARBZRENECERTRITEAR T _MF
E_Z_=ZFf+- A=+ HAKEMERRITE
BB CHER-

ATMENE

AEBMZRENECER-_T_NER-_T=_=F
TZA=T—BZATEEFAE BE-ZT-_WF
E—ZE-_=F+-A=+—HALLEE HEHAET
EEBRARQR(REIEENT EFEEN
BETIPAEAMBAEER B ERMGEDE 2
ERERIAEZEE %Xiﬁiﬁﬁﬂiuﬂafﬁﬂ% :
EEARTEESHAEERELGELERETIR °

HEREMEZ DT EER REVMEZSHRA
BIHERMAR -

The Group’s investment property has been pledged to
a bank to secure bank facilities granted to the Group at
31st December 2024 and 2023.

Fair value measurement

The Group’s investment property was measured at fair
value at 31st December 2024 and 2023. For the year
ended 31st December 2024 and 2023, the valuation
was carried out by JP Assets Consultancy Limited (“JP
Assets”). JP Assets has among its staff members with
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the
locations and categories of property being valued. The
directors have discussion with JP Assets on the valuation
assumptions and valuation results when the valuation was
performed at the end of each reporting period.

In estimating the fair value of the investment property, the
highest and best use of the investment property is their
current use.
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17}&% !F@ % (/Z/ég 17. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)
AFEEFE(E) Fair value measurement (Continued)
REBURBEBZREMEZATEBEFEN D Fair value measurement of the Group’s investment
BATEEERFE=SK A FEEFEFHMAMG property located in Taiwan is categorised into Level 3 fair
BRI EEARBEOT value hierarchy. Valuation techniques and inputs used in

fair value measurement are as follow:

BETTBEBAREH
LS 1 L% 9l BEETARERAHE AVEEZBR
Relation of significant
Valuation unobservable

Property techniques Significant unobservable input inputs to fair value

fRBEZEEME BEELBE MZEMER 2ZHEAYMERARRELH MAMSELEREZE LA
MERR KNREBERE  ENFEF AEHATEEEZEM:
77 2K712,000%7 & ¥ 2751,0008 & ¥ (= F RZIRA »
Z =% : §F}K662,000% & ¥ £749,000
¥a)

Residential property Direct comparison Market unit rate, with reference to recent A significant increase in

located in Taiwan approach transaction prices for similar properties the market unit rate

adjusted for time, size and floor level of the used would result in a
property, which ranged from NT$712,000 significant increase in fair
to NT$751,000 per square metre (2023: value, and vice versa.
NT$662,000 to NT$749,000 per square
metre)

(VA=Y= Kivs BEELEE MEEMER 2EZHEANETHRRELT MATSELERES LA
MmERR KNREBERE  ENTEY AEHATEEBRZEM
7 K123,000%1 & # £ 144,0008T 8 8 (=% RZ IR -
Z=F  FFHK111,000% & B E=144,000
Haw)

Car parks located Direct comparison Market unit rate, with reference to recent A significant increase in

in Taiwan approach transaction prices for similar properties the market unit rate

adjusted for time, size and floor level of the used would result in a
property, which ranged from NT$123,000 significant increase in fair
to NT$144,000 per square metre (2023: value, and vice versa.

NT$111,000 to NT$144,000 per square
metre)
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8.EFEE

18. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

BU4REE
Software and
license
FAT
HK$'000
A Cost
R-—ZE-—=F—HF—H At 1st January 2023 =
NE Additions 548
R-E-_=4+-A=+—HK At 31st December 2023 and
RZZ=—MFE—HF—H at 1st January 2024 548
FE 3 B Exchange adjustments (17)
R-ZE—WOE+—_H=+—H At 31st December 2024 531
2t BEREEEE Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses
R-ZZE-_=%—H—H At 1st January 2023 -
FANZ Charge for the year 46
TN = S EE S ol = e =i At 31st December 2023 and
R=ZT-—mME—-—HA—H at 1st January 2024 46
FANTH Charge for the year 181
bE 5, 53 B Exchange adjustments (6)
et g e S ey e At 31st December 2024 221
BREE Carrying amount
R-ZB-_NE+=-A=+—H At 31st December 2024 310
AR T o B e At 31st December 2023 502
iR EEEREERAERAFEH ZSEREE The above intangible assets have finite useful lives. Such
LA B AR 0ATE DA T BARE B 4 intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the following periods:
B R 3F Software and license 3 years
B IR R A AR R 5T i MORE R R (0 E) 7l Software and license is stated at cost less accumulated
R o amortisation and impairment losses, if any.
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19. LOAN TO A DIRECTOR

VREETF-—BRESZER

St u =L
2023
FH&T
HK$'000
IR =5l =] At 1st January 499,773 489,639
HEER S WA Imputed interest income 227 35,134
B K e RS Interest received and receivables - (25,000)
WiE— B AR BoERZ Settlement for acquisition of partial
48 FRIE interest of a subsidiary (479,678) -
gl NSNS AR - Transfer to other receivables due to
¥ &= H 4 fE W 5kI8 acquisition of partial interest of
a subsidiary (20,322) -
W+=—A=+—8” At 31st December - 499,773
e A
2023
FHET
HK$'000
JEMBRMEE Carrying amounts receivable:
—F A Within 1 year - 499,773
- 499,773
RZZE—RNFE+—BAZ+hB AARZE2EWE On 29th November 2016, Best Combo Limited (“Best

‘A A]Best Combo Limited ([Best Combo] * fEAE
RA)HEZE (EAERNTLER G [EX
W) - #B 1t - Best Combol [ B A&+ & H
— %7K ¢ %8 /500,000,0007% 7T (17 T & K & FE L
AB) 2EBMER (BRI - EFIRF F XR5E 5t
B EARERZIZRRBBE60EAERM s BEE
RURZ T2 ERAZRNEBRE RS MK L2
A A]Reform Base® &#f B B TR AR IR 7 1 L 1E A
R o

Combo”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
as a lender, and Ms. Chen, as a borrower, entered into
a loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) pursuant to
which Best Combo has agreed to grant a fixed term
loan (the “Loan”) to Ms. Chen in the principal amount of
HK$500,000,000 (subject to the loan amount adjustment).
The Loan is interest bearing at 5% per annum, repayable
on the date falling 60 months from the drawdown date of
the Loan and secured by way of a share charge over the
entire issued share capital of Reform Base, a company
incorporated in BVI and wholly owned by Ms. Chen.
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VRHETF-BEZZ2ER(E)

Rzt RN AA2EBEEERCERTFE)M
% S5 A FIBest Combo®t A4+ (i & %
BHNELE@EB -

REERMBE B+ 2R ERBest Combol® H
REEHE ([REARELD - /£ 7Best Combol E X
RELA R E60ME A Eim 2 /T IR ZE kR 2+ 1A
500,000,000 T (RFERS BIELFHE) B E
Reform BaseZ #p B2 1T A o

R-ZZ—tFMANA WEZKRRA  £2EF
EETZEEMSENATEE ESHRERT
o R RE D 2 2% 5l 4 /271,908,000%
7T }%.228,092,000/% 7T ©

RZE - A=+ N\BRZEZ=ZF=-A+—
B - Best ComboE2RZ R RIFTILE —HERE
1% R Btk - 1tk Best Combo &R Z+ 2 R E()iF
RARERAARIZBIRFIERL EREFRZ
REEFAEBER BB E569E A &Rz B
(BIZZ2==F—AFH): RiNVERAEBE 21T
FHEEERZIRMBBE6EARER A (A=
TE_=F—ARA8)AETAERM -

19. LOAN TO A DIRECTOR (Continued)

Ms. Chen can repay the Loan (together with accrued
interest) in full after the drawdown date without penalty
provided not less than ten business days’ prior written
notice has been given to Best Combo.

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, Ms. Chen has agreed
to grant the call option (the “Call Option”) to Best
Combo which allows Best Combo to require Ms. Chen
to sell the entire issued share capital of Reform Base at
HK$500,000,000 (subject to the loan amount adjustment)
during the exercise period falling on the expiry of 60
months from the drawdown date of the Loan.

On 6th April 2017, the drawdown date of the Loan, the
directors have recognised the amounts of approximately
HK$271,908,000 and HK$228,092,000 for the loan portion
and the call option portion respectively by reference to
the fair value arrived on the basis of valuation performed
by Graval.

On 28th January 2022 and 11th February 2022, Best
Combo and Ms. Chen entered into a second deed of
variation and a side letter respectively, pursuant to which
Best Combo and Ms. Chen have agreed to (i) conditional
upon the Company having obtained approval from the
independent shareholders of the Company, extend the
final repayment date of the Loan to the date falling on the
expiry of 69 months from the drawdown date of the Loan,
i.e., 5th January 2023; and (ii) extend the exercisable
period of the Call Option to any time within the date falling
on the expiry of 69 months from the drawdown date of the
Loan, i.e., 5th January 2023.
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REF-—BESZ2ER(E)
RZFE-_—F/X"A=1+MA ' Best Combof f§ L
TR E =D E B - # Ut - Best Combo &k R &
TERE()FARRESANRR 2B REAER -
E—FPEREFZREERAZEERZIRIBE
e AEmz A (AZFE—mE—ARA) 5 K(i)
ERABHRZTFHEEERZIRMA BFT81(E
AEmzB (BIZZ=_mFE—AHRA)AIERER -
FE=MNERZERARRE S 0 FE BE2ER R o
HRERRBEAE ZITEHAEKAEGE  RED
BZIFEHEREMER -R_E-_—FhA+HN
BRITZBREFRIAES £ #HECRERZRER
BZASZREEBYRREABREZRFAAXNEA RSB

REBRER -

RZZEZMF=H=+H Reform Base &
T KA QR 2 &N B A FIModern Vision (Asia)
Limited ([ Modern Vision|) 51 32 # 5 » # 1t -
Reform BaseP [A & # # 7| # % T'Modern Vision
R 1B 5479,678,0008 T ([BEH =) - REL N
REBERIN MR EBREFEETHK A
RERE+ @A NEEFIHE L 5820,322,000
BT - R-E-_WFLANBRIZHERENAE
FBUREEUBRZRRFAZABBI S
BEZRFER - BiERE 2T E SR EH R RS
MR EBER -

o

= EE s I GE e 58 A A AN e [BNES
ERN - mAREERETAEE 2 &= %5 A500,000,000
BT °

19. LOAN TO A DIRECTOR (Continued)

On 24th June 2022, Best Combo and Ms. Chen entered
into a third deed of variation, pursuant to which Best
Combo and Ms. Chen have agreed to (i) conditional
upon the Company having obtained approval from the
independent shareholders of the Company, further
extend the final repayment date of the Loan to the date
falling on the expiry of 81 months from the drawdown
date of the Loan, i.e., 5th January 2024; and (ii) extend
the exercisable period of the Call Option to any time
within the date falling on the expiry of 81 months from
the drawdown date of the Loan, i.e., 5th January 2024.
The third deed of variation superseded and replaced
the second deed of variation and the side letter. As the
extension of the exercise period of the Call Option is
unconditional, the exercise period of the Call Option has
been extended accordingly. The resolution approving the
extension of the final repayment date of the Loan was
duly passed by the independent shareholders by way
of poll as an ordinary resolution at the special general
meeting held on 14th September 2022.

On 20th February 2024, Reform Base, Ms. Chen and
Modern Vision (Asia) Limited (“Modern Vision”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into the
agreement pursuant to which Reform Base has agreed
to transfer the Rights to Modern Vision at a consideration
of HK$479,678,000 (the “Transfer Agreement”). The
consideration shall be satisfied by the outstanding
Loan and the remaining Loan amount of HK$20,322,000
is repayable by Ms. Chen within 6 to 12 months from
the date of completion of the transfer of the Rights. A
resolution approving the Transfer Agreement was duly
passed by the independent shareholders by way of poll
at the special general meeting held on 8th July 2024. All
conditions precedent of the Transfer Agreement had been
fulfilled during the reporting period.

During the years ended 31st December 2024 and
2023, the maximum amount outstanding to the Group is
HK$500,000,000.
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HE-_ZT-NE+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024
0. —EABLE R 20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE
-
2023
FET
HK$'000
R—REeBELEZREKAN Cost of investment in a joint venture,
RE®E - FLM unlisted in Hong Kong - -
JEIE—FEAEDEWE®ZEF R Share of post-acquisition profit and other
HEmz2mEKA - HIKRERERE comprehensive income in a joint venture,
net of dividend received - -
REBZEBELEAFELITLEMEE  WEXIES The Group’s joint venture is an unlisted corporate entity
HEHIZ®HRE - which quoted market prices are not available.
REBEBECERRERKRZFBEHIIWMT ¢ Details of the Group’s joint venture at the end of the
reporting period are set out below:
AEEFREMERERR
RELEERE EXRR MR LLE RO ER FEZLA TEEH
Form of Proportion of ownership
business Place of Class of interest and voting power
Name of joint venture structure incorporation  shares held held by the Group Principal activities
ZB-@mE  —T-=F
2024 2023
% %
RE Bl BE Tk - 50 RIZ-EFRA=TNE
Sparkle Star Incorporated Hong Kong Ordinary H B i
De-registered on 24th
May 2024
ZEBPETNEAEREZIANESEETBEHRRAA The joint venture is accounted for using the equity method

iR o in these consolidated financial statements.
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HE-_Z-WE+=-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December 2024
20}‘1'/\\\— & éﬁﬁ%ZEé (/f/ég 20. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE
(Continued)
—BHENEAZEELECZGREER Aggregate information of a joint venture that is not

individually material

—E-mE ZEa=
2024 2023
FHBT FHEIT
HK$°000 HK$'000

AEFEGFEEEEE2HEEIE  The Group’s share of loss and total
L] comprehensive loss for the year - -

AEBR—HEeECERERZ Carrying amount of the Group’s
REE interest in a joint venture = s

REREE—HEBENEAZEELEZEER Unrecognised share of loss of a joint venture that is
not individually material

—E-E —E_=F
2024 2023
FTERT FHEIT
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEABREE—HEEMREY  Unrecognised share of loss of
=2 a joint venture for the year - (45)

LEREREGE—HBAEMLE 2  Cumulative unrecognised share of

&1 loss of a joint venture - -
RZEZNER-_ZT_=F+-_A=+—AHEE There was no amount due from a joint venture at 31st
W—HEEREZRIE - December 2024 and 2023.
BE_T-_=F+-_A=+-BHUEFERAKREEZ The maximum amount outstanding during the year ended
= % %8 /360,000 7T ° 31st December 2023 was HK$60,000.

21 ﬁ‘ﬁ 21. INVENTORIES
—E_NEF e
2024 2023
FTERT FHEIT
HK$’000 HK$'000
RmRRMAREMEEER Food and beverage, and other operating

items 3,534 1868
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ToME+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

22. STOCK OF PROPERTIES

s =5 = EoE
2023
FHET
HK$’000

BIEHEZCERWER Completed properties held for sale and

BEHECZREFRYE properties under development
held for sale

®n—H—H At 1st January 3,734,939 3,702,028
NE Additions 194,957 118,385
BEEARMbZF B Interest capitalised 29,286 -
EEYIE - HEENR Transfer to property, plant and equipment (265,957) -
WMEFE Z MR Write-down of stock of properties (28,481) -
3,664,744 3,820,413
R A HEEKA Recognised as cost of sales (583,404) (85,474)
R+—_A=+—8H At 31st December 3,081,340 3,734,939

WEFEMRREMYRERRAEORHE -

RZZBE-_WNE+=-_A=1+—H A5ENEEE
T%Wﬁﬁzaﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁ1momommﬁm
(ZZ==%:2,288,322,0008 0) CERIEALRE
BFERRITEEEZER ZERELEZER
REBBHR—FRUKE - EmAIFEHBR—F1&
Y o

e e o e R s W S P = R T
1,670,860,0008 T (ZE_=ZF  E) ZEEFRY
XREREAAEEfEREMER 2K o

REE—mE =g =a P A= —H« &S
AT EEEAREEMENTELR  BEE
RITHER IS EBLAERBEGBEMTHEH
TERARIFMETHEMMENETEZIEER
FE EREEEZMGF  ASERETREE=T
—MFEt+ A=+ HIEFERERYEGEREE
528,481,000 L (ZE =4 : &) ©

The stock of properties is located in Macau and held
under medium-term leases.

At 31st December 2024, the Group’'s completed
properties held for sale under stock of properties
with carrying amounts of HK$1,410,480,000 (2023:
HK$2,288,322,000) have been pledged to secure
bank facilities granted to the Group. These completed
properties held for sale are expected to be recovered
within one year. Others are expected to be recovered
after more than one year.

At 31st December 2024, property under development with
carrying amounts of HK$1,670,860,000 (2023: nil) have
been pledged to secure other borrowings granted to the
Group.

At 31st December 2024 and 2023, the directors had
assessed the net realisable value of the stock of
properties by comparing the estimated selling prices
to market prices achieved in the same projects, based
on current market transactions and with reference to
valuation performed Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, firms of
independent qualified professional valuers. Based on the
estimation of the management, the Group concluded that
write-down of carrying amounts of the stock of properties
of HK$28,481,000 (2023: nil) are recognised for the year
ended 31st December 2024.
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H=E ME+—A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December 2024
== 5y
EE,?/H&*E 23. FILM RIGHTS
St u =L
2023
T T
HK$'000
A Cost
R—A—BER+T-A=+—8 At 1st January and at 31st December 867,844 867,829
NE Additions - 15
867,844 867,844
2t EBEREE Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
®n—A—H At 1st January 859,829 859,714
F[ZFTaT 2 8 5 Amortisation provided for the year - 15
B ERAEEE Impairment loss recognised 4,800 100
R+—_A=+—H At 31st December 864,629 859,829
BRI B Carrying amount
N+-—A=+—H At 31st December 3,215 8,015
EXRE R ENHR Impairment testing of film rights
FREANANS  ESXRBEEIEZELHEFES For the purpose of impairment testing, film rights have
KEEBIRESEEEMN been allocated to the CGU of film related business
operations.
RZE-_NER-_E-_=F+-A=+—H E=F At 31st December 2024 and 2023, the directors assessed
2ECHERIEZEYHEMERTEET RIEZ the recoverable amount of the CGU of film rights with
REeEABMZAKREISE - reference to the film budget summary prepared by the
management.
EYMECReEEEM 2 NESEHERGH The recoverable amount of the CGU of film rights was
EZEXMENSRFESIGEARREFTER LR determined based on either net realisable values of film
ERERAFHEANECREZEBERAMETE rights to be disposed of or estimated future cash flows
RZZE-_NE+—RA=1+—B stEEXMEZR from box office receipts and licensing income of film
CEEBNZHBAARARBECREF R EREME rights over a five-year period. At 31st December 2024,
AEEMREABEIZ% (ZTE_=F : 15%) ° discount rate of 13% (2023: 15%), which was referenced

to valuation performed by Graval, was adopted in the
calculation of estimated future cash flows of the CGU of
film rights.
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—PE+=A=+—RIEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

.EFIRE (&

EFREZRERNR (&)

FHBABRERA/ REGHANTEZEERRE
REEHEEMMREE  ZAFAKEBRERRK
ERERMSER B -

“MFE+-A=Z+—B BAREZRERS
Fiﬁmméﬁﬁhﬁﬁwmﬁéa B H®RE
WE SRR 2 R ER184,800,0008 L (ZE=Z=F
100,000/ 7T) © st EZ AU E € FBATER A 2 R
ERFIZE) 5| Bugk — H R EEE -

20 BMEHBY

23. FILM RIGHTS (Continued)

Impairment testing of film rights (Continued)

Key assumptions for the above calculations in relation
to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include
budgeted sales and discount rate, such estimation
is based on past experience and management’s
expectations of the market development.

As the carrying amount of the CGU of film rights
exceeded its recoverable amount, an impairment loss of
HK$4,800,000 (2023: HK$100,000) was recognised in
respect of film rights at 31st December 2024. Any adverse
change in the assumptions used in the calculation of the
recoverable amount would result in further impairment
losses.

24. FILMS IN PROGRESS

S

2023

FHET

HK$'000

=55 [E At 1st January 9,625 76,321
B ERREEE Impairment loss recognised (9,625) =
&k Termination - (66,696)
G = ] At 31st December - 9,625

REREXUARANRRFRERE(WWA)FE -

HE-_Z-_WF+_A=+—HILFERN  #EE
B 2 BUER A E R R EE 189,625,000/ 7T (=

Z=F F) REEERRUEPEF 2EE
AEIEHE  YRBBEAFESAME -

The films in progress were measured at cost less

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

During the year ended 31st December 2024, an
impairment loss of HK$9,625,000 (2023:
recognised on the production cost for films in progress as

nil) was

the management was in a view that the production plan
for the films in progress was halted and considered that
the amount will not be recovered.
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%?/?Qﬁ 25. INVESTMENT IN FILMS
St u =L
2023
T T
HK$'000
BRRIEZRE Investment in films production 26,112 96,512
REFREZHRE THIER FRFFRIEAR Z KA Investment in films production represents fund advanced
NEEH Ti?ﬁ%%t’&éﬁxﬁ%@iﬁ%{’ﬁ@ﬂﬁ to licensed production houses for co-financing the
VYHEBHERE  BUASESZHEEZET production of films. The investment is governed by the
Frig A& - @ﬁﬂﬁﬂmdsﬁl&ﬁﬁ@%éﬁ% relevant investment agreement entered into between the
BEYMNBTREFECATHEKE  ZeBEEH Group and the production house whereby the Group is

RS E R B M R AR -

FRARER TASERFBERIFML SRS EF S M
FZREeRENRATVEEN K-

HE-_ZT-_NF+-_A=+—HIEFER BI#
REFEEREZATFEREHMELEZEIE
69,433,000/8 L (2 = =% : 7,265,000/87T) °

R-Z-WE+—-A=+—0  EFKE26,112,000
BIL(ZT =4 57,112,000 7T) A A A RE 5|

entitled to benefits generated from the distribution of
the related film. The amount will be recoverable by the
Group from a pre-determined share of the net distribution
revenue of the respective co-financed film to be provided
and confirmed by the relevant production house.

All investments which entitles the Group to receive cash
flows that are not solely payments of principal and interest

are carried at fair value.

During the year ended 31st December 2024, loss arising
on change in fair value of investment in films production
of HK$69,433,000 (2023: HK$7,265,000) was recognised.

At 31st December 2024, investment in films of HK$26,112,000 is
denominated in RMB (2023: HK$57,112,000).
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HE-Z-_WE+=-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December 2024
26%5]}@”&&5%& 26. TRADE RECEIVABLES
—E_NEF P =
2024 2023
FERT FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
B 5 EINER R Trade receivables 2,562 2,531
B BRI EEE R Less: allowance for ECL (640) (682)
1,922 1,849
NTRIBEREZABREY 28 5 E KRN ERE The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables,
EBEBREZREST presented based on the invoice dates and net of

allowance for ECL:

—E_MF —E=
2024 2023
FExT FAET
HK$°000 HK$’000
0£30H 0 to 30 days 1,922 391
HBE90H Over 90 days . 1,458
1,922 1,849
BTEP 2R F30H £Z90H 1% - The average credit period granted to customers ranges

from 30 to 90 days.
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26. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

4% A M B it & B 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—ZE-ME+—A=+—HIEEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

2HES 2HEH
FEBR FEER
(BEBRE) (BEERHE) @i
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
TR TR THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-ZE-_=F—H—H At 1st January 2023 50 640 690
FEZRBEEBEAHERD Reversal of allowance for ECL for the year (8) 5 (8)
RZBE-_=F+-_A=+t-HBkK At 31st December 2023 and
R-_TE-_mFE—HF—H at 1st January 2024 42 640 682
FECEHEESBRERD Reversal of allowance for ECL for the year (42) - (42)
R-B-ME+-A=+-H At 31st December 2024 . 640 640
2714 AN EHIER B # FEUg S 27. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENT AND OTHER
15 RECEIVABLES
—EC=F
2023
T T
HK$’000
Bt Deposits paid 393,157 377,914
TEAS RIE Prepayment 52,996 24,204
H b W sRIB (K7 2) Other receivables (Note) 50,178 117,358
496,331 519,476
W R EEEERE Less: allowance for ECL (54,250) (87,994)
442,081 431,482
BEREWRABIESIN : Analysed for reporting purposes only:
B EA Current 404,639 410,189
EAIE Non-current 37,442 21,293
442,081 431,482
Mt RZE-_ME+-A=+—8 Z2XEFEEK Note: At 31st December 2024, the amount included amount

— R EE 2 FIE26,966,0008 T (Z B - =4
&) c ZEWFEAERA 2EREARLZLIR
ENEETEK B SR A AE T EARNEE -

due from a director of HK$26,966,000 (2023: nil). The
receivable is unsecured, non-interest bearing and

repayable by Ms. Chen within 6 to 12 months from the

date of completion of the transfer of the Rights.
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BE - AARERE b ERR
H (&)

FREBIEREREYREDHES  RORE
2 TBRRRE BEANES  RRME RS
RMEDE BERRBECRE BEHRRER

FEURIS

FREBE:REMERGENESREEBEREG
ZEBEWT

27. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENT AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The above balances mainly consist of deposits paid
for film production, deposits paid for marketing and
promotion of stock of properties, deposit paid for
procurement, prepayment for purchase of property,
plant and equipment, prepaid insurance fee and interest
receivables.

The movement in allowance for ECL in respect of deposits
and other receivables during the year is as follows:

2HRA 2HES
128 A EH FEER REER

FEEE (BEEHEBE) (BREEHE) @it
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
TET TR TR THER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
R-FE-_=%—F—H At 1st January 2023 28,401 - 5,874 34,275
EEEERE Transfer to credit-impaired (20,237) - 20,237 -
FEZEHEEER (Reversal of allowance)/allowance for
(BERE) BE ECL for the year (98) - 53,817 53,719
RZZE-_=F+=-A=+—H% At 31ist December 2023 and
RZZE_¥—H—H at 1st January 2024 8,066 = 79,928 87,994
bk Written-off - - (31,000) (31,000)
FEZRBEEBREAFERD Reversal of allowance for ECL for
the year (2,744) - - (2,744)
RZE-_ME+-A=1+—H At 31st December 2024 5,322 - 48,928 54,250
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28.EBEE U AFEEFIE24S 28 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

ﬁjﬂ E THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
a0 ]
2023
T T
HK$’000
DEARBEEBEIREZ Listed securities classified as held for

EWES trading investments:

—NEB LT ZRAEH — Equity securities listed in Hong Kong 11,802 21,735
RBEHRR FREBEUATERIEZCREE At the end of the reporting period, financial assets
NAFBEIE DERAFIEEEREZLEMRES at FVTPL are stated at fair value. Fair values of listed
ZAFEEDNSEMBzMSRMEMEE securities classified as held for trading investments are

determined with reference to quoted market closing price.

REELSERAVBHRERAEY  AEB2EE LT The fair value of the Group’s equity securities listed in
RAFS 2 A FEEHLA8,183,0008 T (TMEFE= Hong Kong at the date of approval of these consolidated
T-WF+ =R =+—H%H%#2,700,0007% 7T financial statements were approximately HK$8,183,000
HMEZRAES 2 RNTFER) - (excluded fair value of equity securities stated at

HK$2,700,000 sold after 31st December 2024).

ey =

29. EHIFE XK 29. TIME DEPOSITS
—ET-=F
2023
FAET
HK$'000
RIBITHEEZEHEFER Time deposits held at bank 168 286
RZZEZWE+ZA=+—H EHEFERUAFEH X At 31st December 2024, the time deposits are interest
23B (ZZ=_=F NT27EZE36E)E IR bearing at 2.3% (2023: ranging from 2.7% to 3.6%) per
FHMB#3658 (ZE =4 : 3650 ) WEIH - annum and mature within 365 days (2023: 365 days) from

the placement date.

RZZF-Z_WFE+=A=+—H " EH775%168,000 At 31st December 2024, time deposits with amounts
BIL(ZZE =4 : 249,000 L) EEHEA B of HK$168,000 (2023: HK$249,000) are pledged as
BAARFOMEFES TIRFBE 2 ER - guarantee to Macau Government for development of stock

of properties located in Macau.

RIBITIHE 2 EBRFERTIORMEIE - Time deposits held at bank is denominated in MOP.

20
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—PE+=A=+—RIEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

RERBITHEBKURZREIER

RSB ETHA RS - LEHEHETRE
By EEERT R-F-ZF+-A=+—8

RUATHER2FPR—BAE=Z@ATE  BTAR
SENRReFEME  TREB2RATHEFR

FEHE4 R IREF S

HREARERERME R RRTEBEETAE
B ROREREHTHER - R_T_OFR
TEC=F+_A=t—-BHEGEREERERLY
RZRERBTHEBKATEZRHBSEREMOT

30. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND

RESTRICTED CASH

Bank balances carry interest at floating rates and placed
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
At 31st December 2023, short-term time deposits were
made for varying periods of between one day to three
months depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-
term time deposit rates 4.8% per annum.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and bank balances include cash on hand and
cash at banks and short-term time deposits. Cash and
bank balances as shown in the consolidated statement
of cash flows and restricted cash at 31st December 2024
and 2023 can be reconciled as follows:

—Eg-=

2023

FAET

HK$'000

FHEIBAeRRTES Cash on hand and cash at banks 22,844 105,097

RHEHER Short-term time deposits - 5,360

B RIRTTE 8 Cash and bank balances 22,844 110,457

2R H1IR & Restricted cash 103,413 19,838
e RIRITHEB AR Cash and bank balances

R HI3R & and restricted cash 126,257 130,295
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BRERBRITERUARZREIR
& (&)
ARBESBGHTAMNEZEE AEHTE
ZESEDBENE T ONESHIRE - (NEB
RRFINAARBIIEZ RS RRTEE  HTE
NG ) -

RZZE-_mF+=-A=+—H0 ZRHBESFE
AR ERRITZEBERZEZRNZBITHER
FRBZHEMBSHE TARBNEEERH
£ AR R1T1E B1,057,829,0008 7T (Z T = =4 :
1,580,312,0008 7T) R EMiE EFIHE 2 REES
#272,315,0008 T (ZE =% : &) - HMUER
EEER 2 EENE R RFEAIZHE -

X|HRSRIFBAEFE T FERRELHEY
ALk ALERRERTT

30. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND

RESTRICTED CASH (Continued)

RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC
and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to
the foreign exchange control promulgated imposed by
the government of the PRC. Cash and bank balances
denominated in RMB and located in Hong Kong and
Macau are not subject to the foreign exchange control.

As at 31st December 2024, the restricted cash mainly
represents sale proceeds held in creditworthy bank’s
accounts as required by the relevant agreement with
the bank and are being used to fund repayment of
the applicable secured bank borrowings amounted to
HK$1,057,829,000 (2023: HK$1,580,312,000) and the
remaining funds from other borrowings with outstanding
amount of HK$272,315,000 (2023: nil) which have to be
used to finance the construction costs, design and sales
expenses of the related project.

Restricted cash carry interest at floating rates and placed
with creditworthy bank with no recent history of default.
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31. 18 2 31. SHARE CAPITAL
RO EE &8
Number of shares Amount
ZEoNE ZEZ=F
2024 2023
TER THT
HK$’000 HK$'000
SREEOETZEER Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
EERAE Authorised:
R—F—BRWR+=-A=+—-H At 1st January and at 31st December 50,000,000 50,000,000 500,000 500,000
BRTRARKRA: Issued and fully paid:
R—H—H At 1st January 2,460,851 2,460,851 24,608 24,608
BB 85 2 IR (T a2) Shares repurchased and
cancelled (Note) (33,000) - (330) -
R+=A=+—8 At 31st December 2,427,851 2,460,851 24,278 24,608
Bt - Note:
HE-Z-_NF+-A=1+—HALFER  ANARIBEELT During the year ended 31st December 2024, the Company
THEHEAFRMMAT : repurchased and cancelled its own shares as follows:
LmARE A BIRER B ERE
Number of Price per share Aggregate
ordinary 55 /K consideration
fBE A M Month of repurchase shares Highest Lowest paid
T BT I FHT
‘000 HK$ HK$ HK$'000
—ZT-_m&—A January 2024 33,000 0.82 0.79 26,927
33,000,000k EBBRER T _MF—A=F+ N HZFH - 33,000,000 ordinary shares were cancelled on 29th January

2024.
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32. TRADE PAYABLES

presented based on the invoice dates:

0£30H

31£260H
61290H
H3B90H

HEBE T2 FOREMA30AEWAFE -

BEWEEE B EHB REAM

4% & M B it & Mt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—E-NE+=HB=+—RIL%E For the year ended 31st December 2024

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables,

—E-ImF R
2024 2023
FERT FAT
HK$’000 HK$'000
0 to 30 days 4,460 86,393
31 to 60 days 2,705 1,431
61 to 90 days 2,462 -
Over 90 days 67,102 36,904
76,729 124,728

from 30 to 90 days.

The average credit period granted by suppliers ranges

33. DEPOSITS RECEIVED, ACCRUALS AND

FE 1SR IE OTHER PAYABLES
—E_NF —T-=F
2024 2023
THET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
B W ER S (fita) Deposits received (Note a) 10,974 10,974
FEETIE B (Hf7tb) Accruals (Note b) 11,976 8,186
FEAT — I BAE R B FRIE (f atc) Amount due to a related company (Note c) - 2,000
JENESREBEATRIE Amounts due to directors and
(Htitad) their associate (Note d) 21,500 -
RITRHMEE ZEMAFIE Interest payables for bank and other
borrowings 4,103 7,396
H b &~ 5KIE (K ate) Other payables (Note e) 42,759 17,549
91,312 46,105
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BURERSTEEEY LERINBEIRE BT
BzRE -
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&

(b) EFHARIZESEAFERTEUREATRER -

(c) EEH—F&E@E’AE—J%KIEZ%E%RW‘%Q&@EAEX
BER ZBERAREADAERRKERERA
ZMBAR $”‘ﬂ$ﬂﬁ§$&&ﬁxﬂx$ﬁﬂf‘ﬁ$&
RELLTRNEFEAEG R

(d) ENE=REBEAL(BERLL RELER—HF
MRZL2BHBFZAE) RALEER 2O RA

REKIFEE -

() M-ZZE-—WmE&+=—A=+—H HtESKBEEE
SAABEME BERI[EBEZENTERDENE
ZEMNAE - 5 5159,437,0008 L (ZE==F:
8,281,000/ 7T) K 18,274,000/ T (—Z T = = % :
2,445,000% 7T) ° HMhEMA KB TEE
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4 & W B it 3% Bt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—E-_NFE+-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

33. DEPOSITS RECEIVED, ACCRUALS AND
OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Deposits received mainly represented deposits received
from distributors prior to the theatrical release and delivery

of master materials of film.

Accruals mainly comprised accrued salaries and wages

and accrued professional fee.

Amount due to a related company is unsecured, non-
interest bearing, and repayable on demand. The related
company is a subsidiary of the immediate and ultimate
holding company of the Company of which Mr. Heung and
Ms. Chen, executive directors and controlling shareholders

of the Company, has beneficial interests.

Amounts due to directors and their associate included
Ms. Chen, Mr. Heung and a company wholly owned by
Ms. Chen which are unsecured, non-interest bearing and

repayable on demand.

At 31st December 2024, other payables mainly included
payables for purchase of property, plant and equipment
and commission payables for sales of properties of
HK$9,437,000 (2023: HK$8,281,000) and HK$18,274,000
(2023: HK$2,445,000) respectively. The other payables is

non-interest bearing.

34. %El.lf{ IE 34. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE

—EZ=F
2023
T T
HK$’000

SHEE: Contract liabilities:
MIZEHE (Mita) Sales of properties (Note a) 21,208 9,473
LM (Hitb) Multi-media commission (Note b) 48,027 35,616
69,235 45,089

HAib Others:

BEMEZzEE Rental in respect of property 71 3
69,306 45,092
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‘5 B B 2 M 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—ZE-ME+—A=+—HIEEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

34. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE (Continued)

Ktat - Notes:

(a) REBRGARZNRERRAVNEREZER (a) The Group receives payments from customers from sales
WERAH EREEEATFPEIGAR A5 H of properties based on payment schedules established in
WREHRERFEERNETESLIERE - & contracts. The Group receives certain percentage of the
PREREGHATHE MENXNTELREX TR agreed transaction price as a deposit when the Group signs
BoFTAMBBLEZII2EBERAENAR a contract with the customers. Typically, the remaining
HEEASEEBMERSEER AT mEME balance is paid upon closing of the contracts when the
BHOETAL  ERANABENERAERENE - properties are delivered to the customers. All such deposits

received are recognised as contract liabilities until the
Group satisfies its performance obligations by transferring
the control of the properties to the customers, at which time
the contract liabilities are recognised as revenue.

(b) REBRBEFEZIHERZRURANEEER (b) The Group receives contract value as deposits received
WERFZA® FBARRZSITSHBERAE from customers when they sign the promotion agreement.
EHNERE EEASEEREEHRERFERM All these deposits received are recognised as contract
TREBANRERLE ERENABNERAN liabilities until the Group satisfies its performance obligation
AR ° by promoting customers’ products through live broadcast

at which time the contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue.

TRETAFEMERE=THETIEESHAED The following table shows how much of the revenue

I recognised for the year relates to carried-forward contract

liabilities.

—T=%F
2023
FAT
HK$'000

REDFTAEGHEEHRE Revenue recognised that was included

ERRWE in the balance of contract liabilities
at the beginning of the year:

MEEE Sales of properties 8,995 2,325
ZRERE Multi-media commission 9,096 -
18,091 2,325
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HE-Z-_WE+=-A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December 2024
5. HE8%F 35. LEASE LIABILITIES
BREBEENSRK

Minimum lease

payments

—E-MF

2024
FER
HK$’000

HK$'000

45 & B % it & B 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
=

BREHENRZRE

Present value of

minimum lease payments

—E-nE
2024
FHRT
HK$’000

TR
HK$'000

ENEEAE Lease liabilities payable
—FE R Within one year 7,598 12,869 6,909 10,708
E_EERF In the second to fifth year,
(BREEEMSF) inclusive 11,391 27,888 11,277 25,095
18,989 40,757 18,186 35,803
0 AR R B E A AN Less: future finance costs (803) (4,954) - -
HEBEBZHRE Present value of lease liabilities 18,186 35,8083 18,186 35,803
B —FREIHSEE S % Less: amount due for
settlement
within one year (6,909) (10,708)
—FRIBEESRE Amount due for settlement
after one year 11,277 25,095

ERARHERBZESEEFNRAI4E(ZT =
F:44BEQ2E) ©

MARERINEZHEREHINDT

The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities
is 4.4% (2023: from 4.4% to 9.2%).

The lease liabilities are denominated in currencies set out

below:

BT HK$
AR RMB

—E-NE Eleal=t =
2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$’000 HK$’000
2,586 7,920
15,600 27,883
18,186 35,803
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36.RITREMEE

36. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

eSS hE
2023
FAT
HK$’000
BEEMRBITEE (Hita) Secured bank borrowings (Note a) 1,138,815 1,667,454
EERBEMER (H2b) Unsecured other borrowing (Note b) 35,000 100,000
BERBEMEE (fiFc) Secured other borrowings (Note c) 437,315 X
1,611,130 1,767,454

e ST
2023
T T
HK$'000

EERZIREE Carrying amounts repayable:

—F R Within one year 270,144 350,312
BB —FELAWF More than one year but less than two years 1,260,000 320,000
BEMTFEIRAF More than two years but less than five years 80,986 1,097,142
1,611,130 1,767,454
B —FARE Bz A Less: amounts due within one year (270,144) (350,312)
—F 1% BB 2 FIE Amount due after one year 1,340,986 1,417,142

Brat -

(a)

RZT-_WFE+=-F=+—8 " 1,057,829,000% Jt
(ZZT==%:1,580,312,000/& 7T) Z F HE KUK
EERE 4 (EA1,460,572,0008 T (ZE - =4 :
2,308,160,0008 T) . MEFEB THIEHEZE
ERMERIRHES TRESFERERAA
ZEBER BAATERBRLLTREZAAERRE
HARRRHUZOCEER—HERERERR B
AEEFMEEN =@ AKNERABUEBRTE
ERBN28E (T =4 : 3E) BEZEF KR
B YRZBE-ANE+-A+-BIHEE-BE
—E-NE+ A=+ ALEE THERZE
BREFNK A7 20E(ZB-=4F : 7.84F) -

RZF-ZWME+=A=+—H ' A£%342,000,000
A (ZZT =4 :342,000,0005 &%) 2 T HE
FAREBERMA{EA150,297,0008 0 (ZE == :
153,950,000 7T) 2 & AW - AR X TR 2 @
AEREABER RPEBBRBRHERAATAE
GRMES ISR IBE (T _=F : FhE
BHRMG AR AR A 17 RMEZEFE N1.43
B)zEMXRHE  YR-ZZE-N\F=A+=-H3H
BE -HE-_ZT-_NWE+-_A=+—BLEE"E
HER 2 EREMERAIASE(ZT-=4:3.03F) °

Notes:

(a)

At 31st December 2024, term loan of HK$1,057,829,000
(2023: HK$1,580,312,000) are secured by the Group’s
completed properties held for sale under stock of properties
and restricted cash with aggregate carrying amounts of
HK$1,460,572,000 (2023: HK$2,308,160,000), quota capital
of China Star Creative Development Limited, personal
guarantee provided by Mr. Heung and Ms. Chen and
corporate guarantee provided by the Company together as
securities, interest bearing at HIBOR for three or six month
period selected by the Group plus margin of 2.85% (2023:
3%) per annum and maturing on 12th December 2026. For
the year ended 31st December 2024, the effective interest
rate of the term loan was 7.20% (2023: 7.84%) per annum.

At 31st December 2024, term loan at the principal amount
of NT$342,000,000 (2023: NT$342,000,000) is secured by
the Group’s investment property with carrying amounts
of HK$150,297,000 (2023: HK$153,950,000), personal
guarantee provided by Ms. Chen, interest bearing at
floating interest rate of 2-year NT$ deposit at Chunghwa
Post Co., Ltd plus margin 1.43% (2023: 2-year NT$ deposit
at Chunghwa Post Co., Ltd plus margin 1.43%) per annum
and maturing on 12th March 2028. For the year ended 31st
December 2024, the effective interest rate of the term loan
was 3.15% (2023: 3.08%) per annum.
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Brat - (%)

Hite g (&)

() R-ZZE-_NE+-_A=Z=+—H kEKRagtzH
1t 1 B35,000,000/8 7T (=T — = 4F : &) JyE K 3
RIEFFE13EEHES YHR_T_HF+—A
—+REH-

RZE-_=Z=F+-_A=Z=+—H HEMEX
100,000,000%8 7T B3 ) SE AE HE R + R F A R10E AT 2
TAZZT-_NE+=-A+/\BEH - EthERES
RERERGER FER-_FT-_mOF+—A=+8
Bff o

c) RZT-_WE+-_A=+—HB HipEs
165,000,000 L (ZE-=4F : &) AAEEERE
#1{E42,799,0008 T2 HET M REF Mt 2
ME BREERRLZTREZAAERRBEARA
AREZCEER—HEREAERSD  REMX
13.5E5F 8 YR =T _RAF+—A=THIH-

ST SR AR S E S el = e T
272,315,000 T AR ZECTY X LR E TR Y
EBERERRBEER MYEGFTEZREEA
1,670,860,0008 T R =T = R"FE+—A=HF
HeMENEELMNERFEFERIBES -

37.FE U (FEAY) Fr 2 IR A 28 R IR

U (R IR R 2 FOREREER 28R
AR BREEE -

< /El\ W % ) % Mt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—PE+=A=+—RIEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

36. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(Continued)

Notes: (continued)

()

At 31st December 2024, other borrowing from Ms. Chen of
HK$35,000,000 (2023: nil) are unsecured, interest bearing
at 13.5% per annum and will mature on 20th November
2025.

At 31st December 2023, other loan of HK$100,000,000
was guaranteed by Mr. Heung, interest bearing at 10% per
annum and maturing on 18th December 2024. The other
loan contained a repayable on demand clause and was
repaid on 20th November 2024.

At 31st December 2024,
HK$165,000,000 (2023: nil) are secured by the Group’s

leasehold land and building with aggregate carrying

other borrowings of

amounts of HK$42,799,000, property of Ms. Chen, personal
guarantee provided by Mr. Heung and Ms. Chen and
corporate guarantee provided by the Company together
as securities, interest bearing at 13.5% per annum and will
mature on 20th November 2025.

At 31st December 2024,
HK$272,315,000 are secured by first legal mortgage

other borrowings of

over the leasehold land and properties to be erected on
Property C7 with carrying amount as stock of properties of
HK$1,670,860,000 and will mature on 2nd November 2026.

Interest is payable annually at the rate of 18% per annum.

37. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

The amounts due from/(to) non-controlling interests are

unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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H=E ME+—A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

38§Eﬂﬁlﬁﬁé/ﬁ1§ 38. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
RIFEVMBRAKRZZFEN ETEEHEBEEE For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
REEE THEE UTAMBRE RN ZRERE statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
HEERDIT assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is

the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial
reporting purposes:

—T-=fF

2023

T T

HK$’000

EEFIEEE Deferred tax liabilities (2,970) (1,815)

NTAAFERAFERNMERNEEELCHIEE The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)

E/(AE)REEH: recognised and movements thereon during the current

and prior years:
RENX FREEE HEAE @t
Investment Right-of- Lease

property  use assets liabilities Total

TET FExT TET FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000

W-_E-_=F—F—H At 1st January 2023 (450) = = (450)

W8 (0k) /A (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (1,094) (7,216) 6,956 (1,354)

bE 3 S B Exchange adjustments (13) 49 (47) (11)
RZTZ=F+ZA=+—HRk At31st December 2023 and

RZTE-_mHFE—H—H at 1st January 2024 (1,557) (7,167) 6,909 (1,815)

RiB (J0BR) /A (Charge)/credit to profit or loss (1,144) 2,724 (2,887) (1,307)

BE 5 B Exchange adjustments (384) 696 (160) 152

TN T C SV HI= S — At 31st December 2024 (3,085) (3,747) 3,862 (2,970)

21
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39.EEHR A

(a)

RZE-_WE+-_A=+—B A£EBK
M # {E1,460,572,0008 L (Z T = = F :
2,308,160,0008 7T) 2 MEFEB T HIELE
ZEERMERIRAE S PRERAFER
BRAFRZERER MEFERZTREZ
BAABRRARRARREZCEER  B—6
B ERASEMERRITEEEZERR -

RZEZNMFE+ZA=+—B A5 H
1,670,800,0008 T (ZE =5 : &) 2 W%
FTEETHELEZEERYE  AmkEH
Mzt RHEZEAABRARARARRMZ
TEER BE-—HEREANEEMEREE
EER ER -

R-ZE-_ME+-"A=+—HB: ' A&EH
168,000/ 7T (=& = = 4 : 249,000/ 7T) Z
TEHFEAREERIERR TR AR MY
FER TRPFIB ZER -

RZBE-_MFE+-A=+—0H AEEKAE
150,297,0008 7t (=% = = % : 153,950,000
BIL) ZRENREERERFTEEAMERR
TEERZER -

R-ZZB-_ME+=-A=+—RH A£EEEHE
42,799,000 L (ZZ=F : &) 2 W*EHE
BEAREBEREMES ZEA -

39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

(a)

At 31st December 2024, the Group’s completed
properties held for sale under stock of properties
and restricted cash in aggregate carrying amounts of
HK$1,460,572,000 (2023: HK$2,308,160,000), quota
capital of China Star Creative Development Limited,
personal guarantee provided by Mr. Heung and
Ms. Chen and corporate guarantee provided by the
Company together as securities, have been pledged
to secure the banking facilities granted to the Group.

At 31st December 2024, the Group’s properties
under development held for sale under stock of
properties of HK$1,670,800,000 (2023: nil), personal
guarantee provided by Mr. Heung and Ms. Chen
and corporate guarantee provided by the Company
together as securities, have been pledged to secure
the borrowing facilities granted to the Group.

At 31st December 2024, the Group’s time deposits
with the amount of HK$168,000 (2023: HK$249,000)
are pledged as guarantee to Macau Government for
development of stock of properties located in Macau.

At 31st December 2024, the Group’s investment
property with carrying amount of HK$150,297,000
(2023: HK$153,950,000) has been pledged to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group.

At 31st December 2024, the Group’s property with
carrying amounts of HK$42,799,000 (2023: nil) are
pledged to secure other borrowings granted to the
Group.
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40. COMMITMENTS

WEHK  AEEAUTABTEARR H & At the end of the reporting period, the Group has the
following outstanding capital and other commitments:

S
pid
S

oy

=l 11 -3 ELEATS
2024 2023
FHET FH&IT
HK$’000 HK$’000

EEERCIHTY B REHE: Authorised and contracted, but not
provided for:

—fIRRFMZMERFEZ — Development expenditure for

g & stock of properties in Macau 1,025,212 888,773
—RIRFIC BEREEE 2 - Development expenditure for catering

K E operations in Macau 16,046 8,038
—BERE - BEPER — Film rights, films in progress and

ER-2i- A film deposits 17,147 17,188

1,058,405 913,999




218 CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED th 2 B B IR 210 e ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4#k

4 o M % it R Mt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_Z-WFE+—-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

NBOXFZHRERS

R E

CECCFERENE
BERZE_ZFAAZTAARTZARARKRE
BERELBBEZ -HRER  ARRKENT R
MERETE ([ FEREE]) -

TR CERRESEZEEZHRRBRNT

(i) FEEESARFREAAEHRAERSEE
REBRE  MEAREFRASEHEMKR
BEBEL AR R R RE) WM -
Y/ ABERBERBRZEBRBEE AR
oI AEEEEBELIAL °

(iy REMS2EZERAKERTMAMKKEEER
ZEBIFRBER (BRARARETFAMER
AREFARKEEBZENES  ERNT
HFNTRERBYLERT)  RAKE KM
HREEARZEMNEBERABELERN A&
BoREHAR B BAA BHAIBFRE
BA XEANBREABRIBEAN) R0 H
BHEES2RERBEEE -

(iy RE-_F__FRREFITERLZBR
BERRBEARFEKEMEMERESTS
ARERHZBREMS R 2RNEB ERT
GHRANSAET-_—_FEREFIAZEER
REBBITRAZ210% © M LR AT HRRE
BRAGLEH -ETERBE-_T-_FBK
RERT 8 T E BB AR B AT BB R R
TEZBREBARETZROBE LR
SERBETKERTROLEZ30% °

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS

Share option scheme

2022 Option Scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed at annual general meeting

of the Company held on 29th June 2022, a new share

option scheme (the “2022 Option Scheme”) was adopted

by the Company.

The major terms of the 2022 Option Scheme are

summarised as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The purpose is to enable the Company to grant
options to selected eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group or any Invested Entity
and/or to recruit and retain high caliber eligible
participants and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group.

The eligible participants include full time or part
time employees of the Group or any Invested
Entity (including any directors, whether executive
or non-executive and whether independent or not,
of the Company or any subsidiary or any Invested
Entity); and any business or joint venture partners,
contractors, agents or representatives, consultants,
advisers, producers or licensors, licensees (including
any sub-licensee) or distributors of the Group or
any Invested Entity, as determined by the board of
directors in its absolute discretion.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
share options may be granted under the 2022 Option
Scheme together with options which may be granted
under any other share option scheme for the time
being of the Company must not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of approval of the 2022 Option Scheme and
such limit might be refreshed by the shareholders
in general meeting. The maximum number of
shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding share options granted and yet to be
exercised under the 2022 Option Scheme and any
other share option scheme must not exceed 30% of
the total number of shares in issue from time to time.
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(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

MIEEGEREAE  REMTZEARRTE
ZRENR2REZBRE(BREETR B
HREARTTRERE) BITREEHTREH
TZBENBERTEEBE RS HTRMNARK
21% °

REZEBARLBH (2FZA) L2+ 2@
ARRAQARIBEEEZRE (TER LARA)
BN TESAREEEAMBEEALTE
BzERE(BEEBTE BB REARTE
Eﬁﬂ%&*)%fﬂ%ﬁ%e%’fﬁ&ﬂ%%%ﬁzHﬁfﬁﬁ@
H (g HTBBBERRD TE%&??HMM@%Z
20.1% i K(b )mﬁ REHEEBERARR
Meth 2 Wi Bt E - 4 (8(ET15#185,000,000
BrIEES x?ﬁt/ﬁ

BT

BRERR /(TEHHEFSNREBRE
FORE  BREMBELT  TEEBEBEENR
R+ o

BFRELERBREZEZNTIAHESES
BTSN LEBRERARANREPRKAE
TR TR AE R B 12

ERAEAREHNRH B (BE%A) #30R
WEMEBRE (ER)  YARA DR

BILZ PAREIA -
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

2022 Option Scheme (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted to each
eligible participant (including exercised, cancelled
and outstanding share options) in any 12-month
period must not exceed 1% of the total number of
shares in issue from time to time unless the same is
approved by the shareholders.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted to
each substantial shareholder (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company or an independent
non-executive director or any of their respective
associates (including exercised, cancelled and
outstanding share options) in the 12-month period
(a)

representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the total

up to and including the date of such grant:

number of shares in issue; and (b) having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the
shares at the date of each offer for grant, in excess
of HK$5,000,000, unless the same is approved by
the shareholders.

The option/exercisable period should be determined
by the board of directors upon grant of the share
option but in any event should not exceed 10 years
from the date of offer for grant.

Save as determined by the board of directors
provided in the offer of the grant of the relevant
share options, there is no minimum period for which
a share option must be held or the performance
target which must be achieved before it can be
exercised.

(viii) The acceptance of a share option, if accepted, must

be made within 30 days inclusive of, and from the
date of offer for grant with a non-refundable payment
of HK$1 from the grantee to the Company.
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

2022 Option Scheme (Continued)

(ix) The exercise price, subject to any adjustments made

pursuant to any alteration in the capital structure of
the Company whether by way of capitalisation issue,
rights issue, consolidation or sub-division of shares
or reduction of the share capital of the Company be
determined at the absolute discretion of the board
of directors, of a share option shall not less than the
highest of:

a. the closing price of a share of the Company on
the Stock Exchange on the date of offer which
must be a business day;

b. the average closing price of a share of the
Company from the 5 business days (has the
meaning stated in the Listing Rules) immediately
preceding the date of offer; and

c. the nominal value of a share of the Company on
the date of offer.

The 2022 Option Scheme is effective for 10 years
from the date of adoption.

Amended Option Scheme

Pursuant to a resolution passed at annual general meeting
of the Company held on 29th June 2023, the 2022 Option
Scheme was amended and adopted by the Company (the

“Amended Option Scheme”).

The major terms of the Amended Option Scheme are

summarised as follows:

(i)

The purpose is to enable the Company to grant
options to selected eligible participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group and/or to recruit and retain
high caliber eligible participants and attract human
resources that are valuable to the Group.
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Amended Option Scheme (Continued)

(i)

The eligible participants include any director or
employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Group or holding companies, fellow subsidiaries
or associated companies of the Company (and
including persons who are granted options under the
Amended Option Scheme as an inducement to enter
into employment or service contracts with these
companies); or any person (natural person, corporate
entity or otherwise) who provides services to any
member of the Group on a continuing or recurring
basis in its ordinary and usual course of business
which are in the interests of the long-term growth of
the Group, taking into account the length and nature
of the services provided or which are expected to
be provided, the terms of engagements (including
the hours, places and mode of services), and the
business segments and focuses of the Group from
time to time, which shall be the Group’s contractor,
supplier, agent or representative, consultant, adviser,
producer or licensor, licensee (including any sub-
licensee) or distributor who (a) provides consultancy
services, sales and marketing services, technology
services, administrative services and other services
to the Group where the continuity and frequency
of their services are akin to those of employees; or
(b) provides services to the various projects of the
Group, but exclude any placing agent or financial
advisers providing advisory services for fundraising,
mergers or acquisitions, and other professional
services providers such as auditors or valuers who
provide assurance, or are required to perform their
services with impartiality and objectivity.
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Amended Option Scheme (Continued)

(iif)

The maximum number of shares in respect of which
share options may be granted under the Amended
Option Scheme together with options which may
be granted under any share option schemes and/
or share award schemes involving issuance of new
shares adopted and to be adopted by the Company
from time to time must not exceed 10% of the total
number of shares in issue as at the date of approval
of the Amended Option Scheme (“Scheme Mandate
Limit"),
issued in respect of all options to be granted to

the maximum number of share may be

the Service Providers under the Amended Option
Scheme and all share options and share awards
to be granted under any share schemes must not
exceed 10% of the Scheme Mandate Limit (“Service
Providers Sublimit”), representing 1% of the issued
shares at the date of approval of the Amended
Option Scheme. The Company may seek approval
by shareholders in general meeting to refresh the
Scheme Mandate Limit and the Service Providers
Sublimit under Amended Option Scheme at any time
after three years from the date of the shareholders’
approval for the last refreshment or the adoption
date. Any refreshment within any three-year period
must be approved by shareholders in a manner
compliant with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules in
force from time to time.
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Amended Option Scheme (Continued)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of the share options and share awards
granted to each eligible participant (excluding share
options and share awards that have been lapsed in
accordance with the terms of the Amended Option
Scheme and any other share schemes) in any
12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant must not in aggregate exceed 1% of the total
number of shares in issue at the date of such grant
unless the same is approved by the shareholders.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued
in respect of all share options and share awards
granted to a substantial shareholder (as defined in
the Listing Rules) of the Company or an independent
non-executive director or any of their respective
associates (excluding share options and share
awards that have been lapsed in accordance with
the Amended Option Scheme or any other share
schemes) in the 12-month period up to and including
the date of such grant, representing in aggregate
over 0.1% of the total number of shares in issue,
unless the same is approved by the shareholders.

The option/exercisable period should be determined
by the board of directors upon grant of the share
option but in any event should not exceed 10 years
from the date of offer for grant.

Save as determined by the board of directors
provided in the offer of the grant of the relevant
share options, there is no performance target which
must be achieved by the grantee before it can be
exercised.

(viii) The vesting period for any option granted to any

grantee shall not be less than 12 months from the
date of grant, unless a shorter vesting period under
specific circumstances as set out in the Amended
Option Scheme.
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share option scheme (Continued)

Amended Option Scheme (Continued)

(ix)

(xi)

At 31st December 2024 and 20283,

The acceptance of a share option, if accepted, must
be made within 30 days inclusive of, and from the
date of offer for grant with a non-refundable payment
of HK$1 from the grantee to the Company.

The exercise price, subject to any adjustments made
pursuant to any alteration in the capital structure of
the Company whether by way of capitalisation issue,
rights issue, consolidation or sub-division of shares
or reduction of the share capital of the Company be
determined at the absolute discretion of the board
of directors, of a share option shall not less than the
higher of:

a. the closing price of a share of the Company on
the Stock Exchange on the date of offer which
must be a business day; and

b. the average closing price of a share of the
Company from the 5 business days (has the
meaning stated in the Listing Rules) immediately
preceding the date of offer.

The Amended Option Scheme is effective for 10
years from the date of adoption since 2022 Option

Scheme.

there was no

outstanding share options under any share option

scheme. No share option was granted, exercised,

lapsed, expired or cancelled during the years ended 31st
December 2024 and 20283.

Share award scheme

The Company adopted the share award scheme (the

“Share Award Scheme”) by ordinary resolution of the

shareholders of the Company in the annual general
meeting held on 29th June 2023.
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award scheme (Continued)

The major terms of the Share Award Scheme are

summarised as follows:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

The purposes of Share Award Scheme are, through
an award of the number of the ordinary shares of the
Company (“Shares”), to recognise the contributions
by eligible participants and to provide them
incentives in order to retain them for the continual
operation and development of the Group; and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of
the Group.

The eligible participants include any director or
employee (whether full time or part time, including
any executive director and including any person
who has entered into an employment contract with
the Group) of the Group; or any holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or any associated companies
of the Company; or any person (whether a natural
person, a corporate entity or otherwise) who
supplier of services, including suppliers, advisors,
consultants, agents or other professional firms with
expertise in the research, development, production,
marketing of (a) film-related business operations;
(b) property development and investment and
(c) multi-media and entertainment businesses to
any member of the Group; or business partners,
including distributors, joint venture partners or other
contractual parties that collaborate with the Group

on continuing or discrete consulting projects.

The Share Award Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a term of ten years commencing from
the adoption date adopted by the shareholders,
and after the expiry of such 10-year term, no further
awards may be made but these rules of the Share
Award Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
to the extent necessary to give effect to any awards
made prior thereto and the administration of the trust
property held by the trustee pursuant to the trust
deed.
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award scheme (Continued)

(iv) The maximum number of Shares issued or to be

issued in respect of all options and awards granted
to a selected participant at any one time or in
aggregate under the Share Award Scheme and
all other share schemes (excluding any options
and awards lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the respective share schemes) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such relevant
grant should not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the date of approval
of the shareholders at a general meeting (the “1%
Individual Limit”).
participant may result in exceeding the 1% Individual
Limit,
unless it is separately approved beforehand by

Where any grant to a selected

the Company shall not grant such Shares

the shareholders in general meeting, with such
selected participant and his/her close associates (or
associates if the selected participant is a connected
person) abstaining from voting. The number and
terms of awards to be granted to such selected
participant must be fixed before shareholders’
approval.

Where any grant to a director (other than an
independent non-executive director) or chief
executive of the Company, or any of his/her
associates would result in the Shares issued and to
be issued in respect of all Awards granted to such
person under the Share Award Scheme and all other
share award schemes (excluding any awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the respective
share award schemes) in any 12-month period up
to and including the date of such relevant grant,
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the issued
share capital of the Company, such further grant
must be approved beforehand by the shareholders
in general meeting, with such selected participant,
his/her associates and all core connected persons
of the Company abstaining from voting in favour at
such general meeting.
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award scheme (Continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Where any grant to an independent non-executive
director or substantial shareholder of the Company,
or any of his/her associates would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all
options and Awards granted to such person under
the Scheme and all other share schemes (excluding
any options or awards lapsed in accordance with
the terms of the respective share schemes) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the issued share capital of the Company, such
further grant must be approved beforehand by
the shareholders in general meeting, with such
selected participant, his/her associates and all core
connected persons of the Company abstaining from
voting in favour at such general meeting.

The board of directors shall notify the selected
participant in writing within three business days
(or otherwise determined) after an Award has
been provisionally made to selected participant
and the notice shall contain substantially the same
information as that set out in the award notice
provided that nothing contained in such notice shall
be construed as conferring any rights, interests,
benefits and title to and in the awards on such
selected participant before the vesting of the legal
and beneficial ownership of awards in the selected
participant in accordance with these rules of the
Share Award Scheme. An award shall be deemed to
be irrevocably accepted by a selected participant
unless the selected participant shall within five
business days after receipt of such notice from the
board of directors notify the Company in writing that
he/she would decline to accept such award.
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41 Hﬁﬁi'fﬁz?kl,\fé% (,,f/“jfv 41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

R R msTE (2) Share award scheme (Continued)
(vii) BEEIBETFT2EEB/BAME THEEZLH (viii) An award shall be personal to the selected
EOETE @E%D‘F$?§ME@EKE’¢§%§M’E$ participant and shall not be transferable or
B B2 BN RE FAEEESEIUER assignable and no selected participant shall in any
E-FAXa AMEERREFAMERRK way sell, transfer, charge, mortgage, encumber
TR E@E - RET L F U MR or otherwise dispose of or create any security
1%5%#' MEFLEERHREHETHRET or adverse interest whatsoever in favour of any
HEEREERB AR EMETLEE third party over or in relation to an award or enter
QDE [ ATt 7] — 18 - AR R R A EBUE R or purport to enter into any agreement to do so
ZETSEEEL 2R - provided that the selected participant may assign the

award to a company beneficially wholly-owned by the
selected participant. Any breach of the foregoing by
any selected participant shall entitle the Company to
cancel the award made to such selected participant.

RZZEZ=FAZ+hB ARAARRERRR On 29th June 2023, the shareholders of the Company

FAEEME FERETHEBGGE BHRE have approved the grant and issue of 164,000,000

17164,000,0000% 22 R AR 19 T BRZ + (THH 1) - Awarded Shares to Ms. Chen upon satisfaction of certain
vesting conditions (the “Grant”) in the annual general
meeting.

R-Z-_=F+A+ B ARACHRLERRHD On 12th July 2023, the Company granted the Awarded

FTHREZL BRUEZFEBROT : Shares to Ms. Chen, the details of Grant are as follows:

(i) BHORBREBHzMEASZROSIET - (i) Market price of the Shares on the date of Grant is

HK$0.81 per share.

(i) BHEREROKEBASSHE- (i) There is no amount payable on acceptance of the
Awarded Shares.
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41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award scheme (Continued)

(iii) The vesting date shall be the business day
immediately after the date of satisfaction of the
relevant vesting conditions upon satisfaction as
follows:

The gross merchandise value (“GMV”) from the
development, promotion and operation of internet
platforms for the Group which uses the Ms. Chen’s
social influence, social followers and opinion as a
key opinion leader for marketing, endorsement and
product placements of products and services for
generating revenue, profit, branding and awareness
for the Group (the “Influencer Business”) based on
the statements provided by all legal sales channel,
including but not limited to Douyin:

(a) for the financial year ended 31st December
2023, being not less than HK$1,000,000,000.
The number of Shares vesting is 7,000,000
Shares.

(b) for the period from 1st January 2024
to 30th June 2024, being not less than
HK$1,000,000,000. The number of Shares
vesting is 7,000,000 Shares.
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41.
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—PE+=A=+—RIEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

BROXNZRERS (&)

Bt 17 5e By =t &l (4F)

(c) BEX(aQRDb)FFZHE KK
MERRAZEBERAE (—FERH
BRYHERDR  AARRNEES
EWBAR TERFEULEY) (14
AMBAR BB (ZZT-=F=
AZ+HmB)ZE_ZT-_MNFA~A=1+H
HH i+ (1)5 7 3 % $3,000,000,0007%

» {8 4 144,500,000,000% 7T} H 8
J% B8 12 8B /&7,000,0000% B 15 ¢ (2)
% 7 5 % 74,500,000,0005% 7T * 1B DR
6,000,000,000/% 7T & £ 5 & &9 iR 5 2 B
#317,000,000/% & 19 : R(B)FE R K % R
6,000,000,0007% 7T K A 55 & #9 ik 19 20 B
4527,000,00082 B% 13

BERAMBRARMAEEZEERE - REM
AT 2 B das

(@) viar 2 e = e o | e = M A
FEE 0 AT F200,000,0008 T © B
HI A% {5 2 B /A7,000,0008% 8% 17 °

() RZZEZWE—A—HEZZT-_NE X
A=+HH#HE A4 1200,000,0007
TC ° SEBH M7 EE A7,000,0000%8% 145 °

it Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award scheme (Continued)

(c)

for the period commencing from the date of

CHMAZEEBERA
a company established in the PRC W|th

establishment of #i/lZE

limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company principally engaged
in the Influencer Business (the “Influencer
Subsidiary”) (i.e. 24th March 2023) to 30th
June 2024 based on the statements as
stated in (a) and (b) above, (1) being equal
to or more than HK$3,000,000,000 but less
than HK$4,500,000,000 and the number
of Shares vesting is 7,000,000 Shares; (2)
being equal to or more than HK$4,500,000,000
but less than HK$6,000,000,000 and the number
of Shares vesting is 17,000,000 Shares; or (3)
being equal to or more than HK$6,000,000,000
and the number of Shares vesting is 27,000,000
Shares.

The total revenue derived from the Influencer

Business based on the unaudited management

accounts of the Influencer Subsidiary:

(d)

for the financial year ended 31st December
2023, being not less than HK$200,000,000. The
number of Shares vesting is 7,000,000 Shares.

for the period from 1st January 2024
to 30th June 2024, being not less than
HK$200,000,000. The number of Shares vesting
is 7,000,000 Shares.
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H=E ME+—A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December 2024
MNBRZAFZREBERE (&) 41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)
B4 28 Bt &l (&) Share award scheme (Continued)

(f)

BEX@) R(e)E 2R + N
AMBARIBHERAM=_S=_=F=A4
_-i—EE) —E_mMEANA=THBH

0 (1)% R 3k % %600,000,0007% 7T °
1 B 2> $900,000,000/% 7T & H 5 B8 &) 1% (7
2 B /47,000,000 i1 i (2)F Mk %R
900,000,0007% 7t - 18 4>#1,200,000,000
ot Rk H BB KR 7 2 B &17,000,000
BB 15 ¢ 3%(3)F 1 sk % #1,200,000,000
T & B 5 B /IR 12 21 B &27,000,000
RRER 17 o

RRAMBRARMNREEXEERE - REMW
AR 2 RERZMAN

(9)

HE-_E-_=#+-A=+—HILHKX
FE AT H100,000,000 7T B
HI RS 17 2 B A14,000,0008% §& 15 »

RZE_NF—A—HEZ_ZE_MFEX
A £+ HHEIR - &7 4 #100,000,0007%
7‘5 55 B MR 1D BB A&14,000,0008% f%

==
S
o

BEX(RMABZER - R B
AMBARBSME (=2 ==F=A
—tHR)E-_ZE-_WMEA=+HH
i+ (1) 1 8k % $300,000,000% 7T * 1B
L 1A450,000,0007% 7T K H 53 B HI A% 15 &
B %14,000,0008% & 17 ; (2)F R =k % R
450,000,000/ 7t * {8 4> 600,000,000
BT &k H BB R G B /34,000,000
B&R& 17 ¢ 3k(3)5F M =k % 7°600,000,0007%
TR H 5B R 2 B /54,000,000
B 15

(fy for the period commencing from the date of
establishment of the Influencer Subsidiary (i.e.
24th March 2023) to 30th June 2024 based on
the accounts as stated in (d) and (e) above, (1)
being equal to or more than HK$600,000,000 but
less than HK$900,000,000 and the number of
Shares vesting is 7,000,000 Shares; (2) being
equal to or more than HK$900,000,000 but less
than HK$1,200,000,000 and the number of
Shares vesting is 17,000,000 Shares; or (3)
being equal to or more than HK$1,200,000,000
and the number of Shares vesting is 27,000,000
Shares.

The unaudited net profit derived from the Influencer
Business based on the unaudited management
accounts of the Influencer Subsidiary:

(g) for the financial year ended 31st December
2023, being not less than HK$100,000,000. The
number of Shares vesting is 14,000,000 Shares.

(h) for the period from 1st January 2024
to 30th June 2024, being not less than
HK$100,000,000. The number of Shares vesting
is 14,000,000 Shares.

(i) for the period commencing from the date of
establishment of the Influencer Subsidiary (i.e.
24th March 2023) to 30th June 2024 based on
the accounts as stated in (g) and (h) above, (1)
being equal to or more than HK$300,000,000 but
less than HK$450,000,000 and the number of
Shares vesting is 14,000,000 Shares; (2) being
equal to or more than HK$450,000,000 but less
than HK$600,000,000 and the number of Shares
vesting is 34,000,000 Shares; or (3) being equal
to or more than HK$600,000,000 and the number
of Shares vesting is 54,000,000 Shares.
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MN.BHIZNZ2HERS (&) 41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

R R msTE (2) Share award scheme (Continued)
TREBERGREGE 2B The following table discloses details of the Share Award
Scheme:
Juk St
t28
B Epf =t-AR Fh RZ3-RE
a3 &b/ R-2-RE #Re/ 2R
-B-82 ERRMC EREEe 2%/ -B-Az EREEZ ERBEC ERsNe 2z 1B
RRALZ RhRE ) 28 BB XMz#E %8 %8 %8 %8 B ED BEAE
Awards at
Awards st
forfeited/  December Awards
Awards ~ Awards cancelled/  2023and  Awards  Awards  Awards  forfeited/  Awards
Awardsat ~ granted vested [apsed at  granted vested lapsed  cancelled at st
1st January during during during 1st January during during during during  December
Name of grantee  Date of grant 2023  theyear  theyear the year 2024 theyear  theyear  theyear the year 2024 Vesting conditions
(W)
(Note 1)
HirEs:
Executive Director:
Rat i S s i el BERMER LURR
(I2R3)
Ms. Chen 12th July 2023 - 164,000,000 - - 164,000,000 - - 164,000,000 - - Vesting conditions are
(Notes 2 3) disclosed above
sk - Notes:
1. BRI Y A PR 0 R A AT 1hs No vesting period and exercise period are applicable for
the Grant.
2. MAMKHXMEMFUAERITERE - 2. No amount is payable as exercise price for the Grant.
3. ROBREEZHEMRG BHN KT ERS 3. Closing price of the Shares immediately before the date on
fi%0.817 7T ©

which the Awarded Shares were granted is HK$0.81 per
Share.
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RIAR 5 (&)

Bt 7 5& B =t &l (42)
RZZE-_NFE-—A—BRZF-_WNFE+=-A=1—
E*EE$ THX%Efyf_E/\ﬂ "f'j'LE
TZREBFERE Lt /E 2 EIEERE (5815
R - R ELE S KIETERET S R
ARREMEMBROFTENS AR ERERSE
K 317 5% %246,085,0478% B 15 - B B 1p 22 B =t &
BT ERETERMABEUARAREZHE
-f@¢+fﬂ:+—5¢¢&:'Eﬁﬁﬁiﬁ&f"i&%ﬁ
5T &% I $£164,000,0008% 2B iR 7 - A E R B 2
—E-NFRZZE=F+_A=t+—HZARH
BEREITRNEBL68% (ZT_=F :6.7%) ° R
—ZE-ME+-A=+—8 RERGEHTE
ST B S R AR A E M EMR D EIET
ZEEIRERE  UHBLCERERZBEE A

78,785,047 (ZZE =4 : 82,085,047) °

BE-_Z-_OF+-A=+—BLFE #HERDH
EHETJ?Hﬂ’JJ‘i%EDEJri\J RAEFTRE AT 8] R AR R A
B B o 5 8 F LA TT - IARRIEBHITRG
IEEFHE20% °

BRERMDEZEE  CEITEREFERARD
AIEMEMBRONFETEZTIROBE R
242,785,047 k0 - HERBEZ L EHE G M B R
REEBBZARBBBITRDBELI10% °

41. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Share award scheme (Continued)

At 1st January 2024 and 31st December 2024, the
Company was authorised to allot and issue up to
246,085,047 Shares for the purpose of the Share Award
Scheme, the Amended Option Scheme and any other
share scheme(s) of the Company according to the
scheme mandate limit (the “Scheme Mandate Limit”)
approved by the shareholders of the Company at the
annual general meeting held on 29th June 2023. Since
the adoption date of the Share Award Scheme and the
Amended Options Scheme and up to the year ended
31st December 2024, a total of 164,000,000 Awarded
Shares had been granted under the Share Award
Scheme, representing approximately 6.8% (2023: 6.7%)
of the number of the Company’s shares in issue at 31st
December 2024 and 2023. The number of options and
awards available for grant according to the Scheme
Mandate Limit under the Share Award Scheme, the
Amended Option Scheme and any other share scheme(s)
of the Company is 78,785,047 (2023: 82,085,047) as at
31st December 2024.

For the year ended 31st December 2024, there is no
Share that may be issued in respect of the Share Award
Scheme, the Amended Option Scheme and any other
share scheme(s) of the Company, representing 0% of the
weighted average number of issued Shares.

The total number of Shares available for issue under the
Share Award Scheme, the Amended Option Scheme
and any other share scheme(s) of the Company is
242,785,047 Shares, representing approximately 10% of
the total issued Shares at the date of approval of these
consolidated financial statements.
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WE+=—A=+—HI-%EE For the year ended 31st December 2024

R.EXNBEALRS

BREAMBBRRAZBAMBREEN

AEBEBEA

TRIZT MIERR S

(a)

ﬁf‘ai&ﬁ%ﬁt(:%:zi ) B
165,000,000/ 7t (= %F = =4 : 100,000,000
AL ZABRGEEER - ReREBREEE
AR RZF_OFEFR-_F_=F+_H
=t-R ARLEERRLE(ZFZ=%:/
KE)REEABRDEZRORYA -

PR Zr £ Bt AN 5 B B 580,986,000 7T (= 2

Z =4 187,142,000/ L) 2 Al B ABITEE
BRI —HERTREEAEZER -RZT_EHFR
—E-=F+-A=+—H8 BxtHRER

AERDEATERORBA -

[A] %5 4E B8 [ 22 =+ 5t 7S & @ HU451,700,000,000
B (ZZ = =4 : 1,700,000,000% Jt) Z 7]
BABRTEEERN —HRITREBAER B
IR E=F+t=-A=t—H'®™
FAEERZTAREEAERDAETERD
RBA e

] 5 A B BR 22 & Bt 7K & [B B 15550,000,0007%
TZABAEEER —BRAAREEARE
R-RZBE-_WNFE+-_A=1+—8 mELEHE
RLTAHREBEAERDATERORBA -

42. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the Group entered into the following material

transactions with related parties:

(a)

Mr. Chen (2023: Mr.
had provided personal guarantee to a financial

Heung and Ms. Heung)
institution for the Group to obtain available borrowing
with the amounts of HK$165,000,000 (2023:
HK$100,000,000). At 31st December 2024 and 2023,
the provision of personal guarantee by Mr. Heung
and Ms. Chen (2023: Mr. Heung) remains in full force

and effect.

Ms. Chen had provided personal guarantee to a
bank for the Group to obtain available banking
facilities with the amounts of HK$80,986,000 (2023:
HK$87,142,000). At 31st December 2024 and 2023,
the provision of personal guarantee by Ms. Chen
remains in full force and effect.

Mr.
guarantee to a bank for the Group to obtain

Heung and Ms. Chen had provided personal

available banking facilities with the amounts of
HK$1,700,000,000 (2023: HK$1,700,000,000). At
31st December 2024 and 2023, the provision of
personal guarantee by Mr. Heung and Ms. Chen

remains in full force and effect.

Mr.
guarantee to a lender for the Group to obtain

Heung and Ms. Chen had provided personal

available borrowing facilities with the amounts
of HK$550,000,000. At 31st December 2024, the
provision of personal guarantee by Mr. Heung and
Ms. Chen remains in full force and effect.
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42. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial

statements, the Group entered into the following material

transactions with related parties: (Continued)

(e) AR AEEEREBEBEALIIZT MRS (e) During the year, the Group entered into the following
transactions with its related parties:
—E=F
2023
AT
HK$’000
REME Nature of transactions
sFAEM KGR A4l A Include in other revenue and other income
E R BUA Loan interest income 13,446 35,134
s ABE R A Include in finance costs
EN—REEREZIE Interest on amount due to a director 1,305 =

(f) RMEBER BEEALZR
@é%%ﬁ%Wﬁw~m&%o

Rt IE R

WA MBRRMT14TRE  TEEBAE

(f)

Details of the balances with related parties at the
end of the reporting period are set out in notes 19,
20 and 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

Compensation for key management personnel,

ZHEM(BREENARAESTRE T&® 5 including amount paid to the directors of the
BEZFIB)WOT Company and certain of the highest paid employees,
as disclosed in note 14 to the consolidated financial

statements, is as follow:

—E-=

2023
FET
HK$'000
tﬁ&ﬁ’rﬁff?@}ﬂ Salaries and other remuneration 25,699 21,472
RIKE RT3 Retirement benefits scheme contributions 95 95
25,794 21,567

EERTREBRABZFM I BTHEES
BEARRETSBEMERE

The remuneration of the directors and key
management personnel is determined by the
remuneration committee having regard to the
performance of individuals and market trends.

23
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HE-_ZT-NE+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024
A3.FEME A TR 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES
RZEBZNMF+_A=Z+—HAARAFTEME AT Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at
ZEIBEEFIMT 31st December 2024 are listed as follows:
L]
/L g% b ittt BRARAR
WELRER g%/4% LY BERRERLH Ra/EhEx  TEEE
Issued and
Countrylplace of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held ~  held by the Company registered capital ~ Principal activities
L
2024 2023
% %
2ERRAT 54 $BE 1w - 0008E  BETEES
All Nice Corporation Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Provision of administrative services
Anime More Limited B LRk 100 = BT REZR
Hong Kong Ordinary HK$!  Investment holding
Asiatop Data Limited B Lk 100 100 1081 REREARE
Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10  Provision of nominee services
Best Combo EBRAER EEm 100 100 ET REER
BVI Ordinary US$T  Investment holding
Big Century Limited &b Lk 100 100 1AL RERR
Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Investment holding
Business First Limited EBRAES Bk 100 100 X1 BARGERE
BVI Ordinary US§1 Holding of cable right
MHEEAERARAT & LAk 100 100 BT EAER
China Star Artist Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Artist management
HEEERERAA (Hib) P ERER 100 100 1000005M1%  THERZRRE
China Star Creative Development Limited Macau Quota capital MOP100,000  Immovable property development
(Note b) and investment
China Star Entertainment (BVI) Limited EBRUES LAk 100 100 NET  KEER
BVI Ordinary US$200  Investment holding
hEEREARARAA & Lk 100 100 2EnkEERR REER
China Star Entertainment Holding Limited Hong Kong RRZRELR 1,000,000%7cA  Investment holding
Ordinary/ ERZEELR
Non-voting (Histe)
deferred HKS$2 for ordinary
shares and
HK$1,000,000 for
non-voting deferred

shares (Note e)
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A3.TEWE N TEE (£ 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

L]
E3IVA: YA -+ 74 Fiisi b gttt BRARAR
il RS BR/1% 8 BERRERLH Ra/ifhEx  TEEE
Issued and
Countrylplace of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held  held by the Company registered capital  Principal activities
“E-mE  ZEC-CE
2024 2023
% %
HEERRETARLD Bk LR 100 100 1000008  BYRES/EEELT
China Star HK Distribution Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100,000  Distribution of films and television
drama series
HEEEAREERLT (3 LAk 100 100 100000087 SHERERTRRERR
China Star HK Entertainment Company Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,000,000  Distribution of video rights and
Limited Investment holding
hEERRARAA Bk BER 100 - 1000087 BERK
China Star Holding Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Investment holding
HEESREARAT B Lk 100 100 2 RUSTRMELE ERER
China Star -Content Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 LTINS
Provision of film production
controller, director and producer
services
China Star International Distribution AERAES LRk 100 100 8001k EYREREEAES
Limited (47#a) (Note a) BV Ordinary US$8,001  Distribution of films and
television drama series
China Star International Movie Limited KBRUEE LRk 100 100 E=n EEE
(#7#b) (Note b) BVI Ordinary US§1  Film production
HEERERRRA (WHdR) hE AR 100 100 1000,000578%  WERERRE
China Star Investment Limited (Notes d and f) - Taiwan Registered NT$1,000,000  Property development and
capital investment
HEEXBERRRAA Hite) 3 LR 100 100 100007 SEBRAREEEH
China Star MCN Limited (Note c) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Multi channel network and media
business
HEERTFRARLT & LR 100 100 150000087 REEREHRRAZK
China Star Laser Disc Company Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1,500,000  Provision of management services
and investment holding
HEHEEERRAA & LR 100 100 BT REBR
China Star Management Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Investment holding
hEESYARAA Bk Lk 100 100 2 EYRfRER

China Star Movie Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2  Film production and distribution
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43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

A3.TEHEBLATFHE (&)

L]
/L g% Frism b ittt | BRARAR
WELAEH B3/1% g5 BERRZRLH Ra/ifhEx  TEEE
Issued and
Country/place of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held ~ held by the Company registered capital  Principal activities
ZEmE CZECCR
2024 2023
% %
HEEEY (RF)ARRA WD) 5! TRER 100 100 B000%ME  BTHEREA
China Star Movie (Macau) Limited (Note b) ~ Macau Quota capital MOP25,000  Film production and distribution
HEEYEERLA B LR 100 100 2B RESTMRE
China Star Pictures Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2  Holding of film rights
MEEELERARAT & EER 100 100 AT RERETRMME
China Star Publishing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2  Holding and licensing of song
rights
China Star Trademark Limited ZBRAES LR 100 100 1 BEERRWE
BVI Ordinary US§1 Holding of trademark and
copyrights
Classic Champion Holdings Limited RERAEE iy 100 100 =T REBR
(H7i#b) (Note b) BVI Ordinary US§1  Investment holding
Crown Gem Investment Limited RERLHS Lk 75 50 BT REBR
BVI Ordinary (Hiin) HK$1  Investment holding
(Note h)
Empowered Century Limited EBRAES LR 100 100 Fr  RERR
BVI Ordinary US$1  Investment holding
First-Up Investments Limited EERAHE LRk 100 100 1EZr EAERRREREARE
BYI Ordinary US$1  Artist management and provision
of agency services
ERERARAT Bk BRI 100 100 BT BYEM
Gold Choice International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Film production
REREARZEERAT &k B 51 51 100008 &4
([BERERE]) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Catering
Happy Chefs Happy Friends
Catering Group Limited

(*HCHF (Hong Kong)")
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A43.TEMEB L EIFEE (&) 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

L]
/L g% fiis i gttt BRARAR
il RS BR/1% 8 BERRERLH Ra/ifhEx  TEEE
Issued and
Country/place of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held held by the Company registered capital  Principal activities
“E-mE  CECCE
2024 2023
% %
REAREAREEERAT 5! ERER 51 51 100000%F5% &K
([RRRERE)) (Wi Macau Quota capital MOP100000  Catering
Happy Chefs Happy Friends
Catering Group Limited
("HCHF (Macau)") (Note b)
REERERAR WD) A ERER 75 50 B00087%  REBR
Hercules-Holding Company Limited (Note b) ~ Macau Quota capital (Hiin) MOP25,000  Investment holding
(Note h)
AEREERART (3 £k 100 100 BT EREBHRfEREN
Hero Star Entertainment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Television drama series production
and distribution
High Productive Trading Limited KBRAEE 2Rk 100 100 1Er RABR
BVI Ordinary US§1 Investment holding
SEEEARLT (i) ! ERER 100 100 H00002F1%  MXEAEEREEAREE
Home Deluxe Management Company Limited ~ Macau Quota capital MOP250,000  Property project management
(Note b) and construction project
management
FERERERRAR Hito) S EEAR 100 100 100,0002F%  HERE
Home Deluxe Property Agency Limited Macau Quota capital MOP100,000  Property agency
(Note b)
Intrinsic Vialug Limited EBRAES L3R 100 100 T REER
BVI Ordinary US$T Investment holding
EREEARRAA Bk LAk 100 - 100008 85
Marine More Trading Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Trading
AR ARAT & LR 5 100 00k ERE%
(BT FHFEBRAR) Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100  Dormant
Master Vibes Limited (Formerly known as
Obba Bar Limited)
Modern Vision (Asie) Limited ZBRAES LR 100 100 ZT REBR

BYI Ordinary US$1  Investment holding
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HE-_ZT-NE+-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024
A3.TEMB LTSS () 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
O
BR/RL/ g% fiish b fisfER BRARAR
WEARER 87/1% Ly BERRERLH R&/2REx  IZEE
Issued and
Countrylplace of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held ~ held by the Company registered capital ~ Principal activities
ZBCmE ZEC=E
2024 2023
% %
ZR(BR)ERAT B LR 100 100 W AN
Newrich (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS2  Property holding
FENFERAAGRERERAA) Bk LRk 100 100 B BlinRAREE
Obba Bar Limited (Formerly known as Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Art piece investment and rental
Art Lord Limited)
—BESTARRA B Bk 100 100 30000007 BFEE
One Hundred Years of Film Company Limited  Hong Kong Ordinary HK$3,000,000  Film production
Over Profit International Limited KBRAEE 2Rk 75 50 10051 RARR
BVI Ordinary — (#ztn) US$100  Investment holding
(Note h)
EXBFARAT Bk LAk 100 100 10010008 EFEA
Riche Video Limited Hong Kong ERZERTR BEER  Fim distribution
Ordinary/ J2,000,00037C
Non-voting RERFEEL
deferred W (Hiite)
HK$1,001,000 for
ordinary shares and
HK$2,000,000 for
non-voting deferred
shares (Note ¢)
BAREARDA Bk LR 100 100 2 PFEPREREES
S & W Entertainment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2  Production of film and television
drama series
Smart Value Developments Limited AERLHE Lk 100 100 xn RERR
BV Ordinary US§T  Investment holding
RFREEXREERRAA W) "R ERAR 75 50 1000002F%  FHERERRE
Splendid Construction and Investment Macau Quota capital  (#sth) MOP100,000  Immovable property development
Company Limited (Note b) (Note h) and investment
RERERRAA &k LR 100 100 BT REBR
Star Choice Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Investment holding
SEERARAT &k Lk 100 100 BT KEEK

Star Joy International Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1  Investment holding
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HE_Z-_WF+—_A=1+—HIFE For the year ended 31st December 2024
A3.TEWE N TEE (£) 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
AAH
Hh/RL/ g% fiisi ittt BRARAR
WEARER B3/ £H BERRERLH Ra/2hEs  TZEE
Issued and
Country/place of Proportion of ownership fully paid
incorporation/ Class of interest and voting power share capital/
Name of subsidiary formation/operation shares held  held by the Company registered capital  Principal activities
Z8CRE ZBC=E
2024 2023
% %
BEBRERAR (W) 5! ERER 75 50 B00087%  REBR
Stronghold-Holding Company Limited (Note b) Macau Quota capital (Hiin) MOP25,000  Investment holding
(Note h)
Summer Sound Investments Limited EERAHS 2Rk 75 50 005 RARK
BV Ordinary — (#&tn) US$100  Investment holding
(Note h)
BAEEEEERAR W) FS EEAR 100 - B000RF%  ZEE
Tiffany Lifestyle Limited (Note b) Macau Quota Capital MOP25,000  Retailing store
BERREXEFARAT (3 2k 100 100 1000087  RARRK
Tiffany MCN (HK) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Investment holding
Triumph Top Limited ABEAES LR 100 100 1T REER
BVI Ordinary US§1  Investment holding
Turbo International Co. Limited KBRAEE LRk 100 100 5000057 REEZR
BVI Ordinary US$50,000  Investment holding
ERRERRAT Bh 2Rk 100 100 1000087 REBR
Well Charm Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000  Investment holding
EEHVEXIRERAT hE i 100 100 1000000087  EfTREEY 0E%E
(Hiekg) (Notes ¢ and g) The PRC Registered HK$10,000,000 REFRENREAR
capital BElalE
Distribution of PRC film, corporate
planning, props and equipment
rental and dramatic creation
INEBRASRERRAT hE ihan 100 100 10000000ARE  %EERAREEXHIR
(#ickg) (Notes ¢ and g) The PRC Registered RMB10,000,000 REREEAFREER
capital Multi-channel network and media
business and development and
sales of private label products
N RAAAEEERAT hE AMER 100 100 100000ARE  £5
(fi#EcRg) (Notes ¢ and g) The PRC Registered RMB100,000  Trading

capital
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13.TEWMEBRAFE (&)
(@) ERREEED -
(b) ERFIEEES -
(© EREEEEH -
@) EABERES-
(6) MRBMELM S WAL EEAH EHAARE -

&%ZEZ ARRARgZBRE HEZERELES
EREZEN  EERB T ZHEEADIE

() BREERE(RE BRERAPVEABE) -

(9) BREERF(ZIELE) -

(h)y ARAEBRFEZSHBRARZISREERIEE
# + H25% 45 BReform BaseiF & < # A5 =,
#HE AR E @A Over Profit 25% R °

Best Combo * China Star Entertainment (BVI)
Limited * P EI 2R AR A7 * Classic Champion
Holdings Limited &2 Turbo International Co. Limited
HEARBEERFE - TAEMINB RS EARR
AIFERE -

BERBERAEIN  HBRARZEELXMEATE -

FRA KB RNFAE A RFREMBERERELD
ZEBES

EXERR ARBEZFERESHARENS T E
KBt YENMEFE 2 HEEREMBRRA
BIYZ2Y - oo UEBZEF2EMBRARAZEY
MBERATURED

45 & W% Ht 2 M 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ToME+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Operating internationally.
(b) Operating in Macau.

(c) Operating in the PRC.
(d) Operating in Taiwan.

(e) The non-voting deferred shares practically carry no rights to
dividends nor receive notice of nor to attend or vote at any
general meeting of the Company nor to participate in any

distribution on winding up.

(f)  Limited liability company (Taiwan, Hong Kong or Macau

legal person sole proprietorship)
(g) Limited liability company (wholly foreign owned enterprises).

(h) The Company held effectively 75% ownership and voting
power of these subsidiaries of which 25% is owned by rights
in relation to the shareholding of Reform Base, a company

beneficially owned 25% equity interest in Over Profit.

Best Combo, China Star Entertainment (BVI) Limited,
China Star Holding Limited, Classic Champion Holdings
Limited and Turbo International Co. Limited are directly
held by the Company. All other subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company.

Except otherwise stated, the principal place of operation
of the subsidiaries is in Hong Kong.

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding
at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

The directors consider that the Group’s non-controlling
interests were insignificant to the Group and thus
are not separately presented in these consolidated
financial statements for both years. In addition, no
separate financial information of these non-wholly owned
subsidiaries is required to be presented.
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&5 & B B it % M 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
HE-_Z-NF+-F=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024
432%5{#%@%%%({5’5} 43. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
HIEREZZRS Transaction with non-controlling interests
KEHZERERZEE Capital contribution from non-controlling interests
HE-_Z_=Z=F+-_A=+—BLFERN FE During the year ended 31st December 2023, HCHF (Hong
RARERBMRERERENRBIFEZERBE 2 E Kong) and HCHF (Macau) were incorporated with a capital
E53,0008 TRy - HE-_ZE-_=ZF+_A contribution of HK$53,000 from non-controlling shareholders.
=+ BLEFEZIEERBREZ)FE53,0008LE Capital injection by non-controlling shareholders amounted
NG EERZEE - to HK$53,000 was recorded in the consolidated statements
of changes in equity for the year ended 31st December
2023.
44Z|K NI E\j‘j’%ﬂj{ )‘R’ ,,EE 5 1%1% ?E E}J 44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY
(a) ZRRHHRRR (a) Statement of financial position of the Company
ZEZ=F
2023
T T
HK$’000
ERBEE Non-current assets
Y - EBENRE Property, plant and equipment 415 929
AL IENGIE: $ Interests in subsidiaries 495,871 408,884
496,286 409,813
REEE Current assets
I D= NEIE S Amounts due from subsidiaries 1,643,599 1,702,856
e ENREREA Deposits, prepayment and other
JE Wz IE receivables 644 721
Re RIBITEH Cash and bank balances 3,322 68,474
1,647,565 1,772,051
mEE Total assets 2,143,851 2,181,864
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44 21-;’2\1 BBERRAREFEEH

me

(@) FRRBBMRRE(E)

COMPANY (Continued)
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company
(Continued)

45 & W% Ht 2 M 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ToME+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE

SR =63
2023
FAT
HK$'000
ERREHE Capital and reserves
[N Share capital 24,278 24,608
i &8 Reserves 1,681,334 1,870,013
mER Total equity 1,705,612 1,894,621
ERENAE Non-current liabilities
HEAE Lease liabilities - 380
FEST KT B A R F I8 Amounts due to subsidiaries 24,146 24,396
24,146 24,776
REEE Current liabilities
BWEZS  EEHEE & Deposits received, accruals and
H fih fE <t 3018 other payables 14,143 12,788
HEAE Lease liabilities 380 470
Hipfg & Other borrowing 200,000 100,000
R NGIE ¢ Amounts due to subsidiaries 199,570 149,209
414,093 262,467
EERH Total liabilities 438,239 287,243
EzkEEEHE Total equity and liabilities 2,143,851 2,181,864
REBEEZREE Net current assets 1,233,472 1,509,584
BMEERRBAE Total assets less current liabilities 1,729,758 1,919,397

Bt R RETBELTAUNTEERRESS

BE

CIE-::3

Heung Wah Keung

EF

Director

behalf of the board of directors by:

PR B 3¢
Chen Ming Yin, Tiffany
BE

Director

Approved and authorised for issue and signed on
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COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Movement of reserves of the Company

4% A M B it & B 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—E-_WNFE+-A=1+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

44, STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE

ARTRR
RBEE EIN-E E5RE RithE &t
Bonus
convertible
Share  Contributed bonds  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
iR TR AT TAL T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(Hita) (o) (Hite)
(Note a) (Note b) (Note c)
R-F==%-f-A A fst January 2023 1543627 540865 112 (0716) 1994928
EEFERZERELE Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - - (124915) (124915)
RZEZZFF-A=+-HR At 31st December 2023 and
R=ZZmE-A-8 at 1st January 2024 1,543,627 540,885 1182 (215,631) 1,870,013
D R HR A Share repurchased and cancelled (26,597) = - - (26,597)
BERTERAEERE Cost attributable to repurchase and
cancellation of Shares (114) - - - (114)
ERFRREEFRER Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year - - = (161968) (161,968
R-E-mE+-A=t-A At 31st December 2024 156916 540085 1182 (77599 1,681,334
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IARTARBRARR EERE

==
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(b) FDRFERE(E)
i
BREBRE-AN-FRFE EEE) K

"TZJ&{ i B BIEM R AR R Z RETR
ERBRAKRBITTARARRR -

(a)

ARBZANBABBDERAR-_FTZE_Fh
A+ BAERZ BARR R AR S REREIR M
BEERAKRZE®E -

?ﬁE?fEE%‘i AN—FRFE (BERD - &

RALZHABRAHDRILZESERREA
ZARBRAARGRZERE  BEEATR
RAERHA D REM REER - AW R
TER ARARTFEFABRBTEIRE T
BB DK : ()RR A E B ok A8 0K 12
BENERRAMEEEZER  R(NARAE
EZA2REKANERERERESETR
AR Bt i BBk

(c) BEBEER f—_ﬁﬂ'ﬂ:ﬂ'ﬂﬁiﬂﬁz
Hﬁﬁ%%WiA BIBA BETANRG (RER
B R 2 R AL A AT HA AR 25 AR B AL A AR 1)
ZEBRBR - ANRA R LAY Z AR E FR0.01
BILBETAIERAERRZANTRRES -
AL BT 4 AR 15 55 DA 2 e SR T 7Y [ AL AT 42 AR
BHEREEIZ25 - ANATRBRESL R TR

NI - B R A ) A SR A AT A AT R R 2
HEABBRAKY  HERERELFFEAR

BALFIZATA] BITRER Z AL R R A 8B - 540
P& 3R I AR 1B UL ERAL B AT 3R AR (B 5 o AL A Pl i
BEFWEARBEMRRAG 2L - 1R
BIERARN TR ES 2 A TFBZIEZIEX
KRG AR R ESIFE AT ERITAF
ARREFEERTERRE RZTZNF
+=—A=+—H 5#265008T(=ZTE=_=
&+ 265,000/ 70 ) Z AR ATEALF AT R AR 5 AT
R E S IR0.25% T 1% /£1,060,3178R (=
T =4 :1,060,317/%) SR EE0.01B T Z
BMRLBR -

i Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ME+—A=+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Movement of reserves of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the share premium of the Company can be
used in paying up unissued shares of the Company
to be issued to shareholders of the Company as fully
paid bonus shares.

The contributed surplus of the Company brought
forward represents the amount transferred from the
capital account due to the capital reduction effective
on 10th September 2002 and various capital reduction
subsequently.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus of the Company is
available for distribution or apply the amount standing
to the credit of the contributed surplus account in
such manner as the board of directors considers
appropriate, including but not limited to setting off
against any accumulated losses of the Company.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a
dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if: (i) it is, or would after the payment be,
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; or
(ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be
less than its liabilities and its issued share capital and
share premium accounts.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the
special general meeting of the Company held on
25th October 2012 in relation to the bonus issue
of shares (with a right for shareholders to elect to
receive Bonus CBs in lieu of bonus shares), Bonus
CBs can be converted into ordinary shares at initial
conversion price of HK$0.01 per share were issued
by the Company. The Bonus CBs are recognised
as equity and are presented in “bonus convertible
bonds reserve”. The Bonus CBs are unlisted and
irredeemable but have conversion rights entitling the
bondholders to convert into an equivalent number
of shares as the number of bonus shares which the
Bonus CBs holders would otherwise be entitled to
receive under the bonus issue had the shareholder
not elected for the Bonus CBs. The Bonus CBs do
not carry voting rights at any general meeting of
shareholders of the Company. Bonus CBs holders
can exercise the conversion rights at any time after
the issue of Bonus CBs, subject to the terms and
conditions of the applicable deed poll constituting
the Bonus CBs. At 31st December 2024, there are
approximately HK$265,000 (2023: HK$265,000)
outstanding Bonus CBs which are convertible into
1,060,317 (2023: 1,060,317) fully paid ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each at conversion price of HK$0.25 per
share.
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RAERFERCRY) BELPMELREEM
FERARRSRERERNAE
BrzHmaRleRnBRTOERREERDZRERE -

BREEREDK

C A B %5 it % Mt 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—ZE-ME+—A=+—HIEEE For the year ended 31st December 2024

45. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities

arising from financing activities including both cash and

non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future

cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.
BITR EREE A R
Hitfe & R HESME ERFE BRTA @it
Amounts
Bank Financing due to non-
and other note Lease Interest  controlling
borrowings payables liabilities payables interests Total
TR THER TER TR TER TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZE-=%F—-F—H At 1st January 2023 1,600,000 86,898 7,499 - 503,116 2,197,513
BEZRENE Financing cash flows 167,454 (87,142) (7,258) (134,590) - (61,536)
FHzE Non-cash changes
WEHE New lease entered - - 34,536 = = 34,536
BRTBENA (N79) Finance costs recognised (Note 9) - - 1,008 141,986 = 142,994
i 5 % Exchange adjustments - 244 18 - - 262
WZZZ=Z#+-A=+—HRk  At31st December 2023 and
RZB-NE—-F—H at 1st January 2024 1,767,454 - 35,803 7,396 503,116 2,313,769
HEZRERE Financing cash flows (182,271) - (13,159) (136,192) 24,997 (306,625)
FREEH Non-cash changes
HiEE New lease entered - - 553 - - 553
HEL L Termination of lease - - (6,939) - - (6,939)
BERLZFERE (H#9) Interest expenses capitalised (note 9) 25,947 = = - 3,339 29,286
WE—BHB AR N Ex Acquisition of partial interest of a
(H1it49) subsidiary (note 49) - = = - (249.974)  (249,974)
ERZBERA (H1:79) Finance costs recognised (note 9) = = 1,928 132,899 - 134,827
R=B-ME+=A=1-A At 31st December 2024 1,611,130 - 18,186 4,103 281,478 1,914,897
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16.TEXRERSH
(a) BEZZ-_WE+-_A=+—HLFEA &
SE B D Y17 265,957,000 T EH D
BARETBERERM At ZBoWEFEMR
MRS EY R R RS

(b) HE-Z-_WF+-_A=+—HIFEA &
SERRAZITLHEEGR - HEFGE
AEEBREREEERMEE A E553,0008
JT °©

BE_T_=—FT_A=t—HLFER"
$§%IEJL¥)J¥AE&ﬁﬁJi%ﬁ%ﬁfTﬁ%% cHHE
R AEEERERAEEELHEERR
34,536,000/ 7T, ©

(c) # U EEReform BaseFf#FHModern Visionf%
AEBER=—ZT-_WNF+A+-—HBEWEH25%
JE1E IR 4 % - (B /479,678,000/8 7T © N R
5 5EREE - Over Profithk & 78 A 5] # B 75%42
w2 FERB AR ° %X 57T % kOver Profit
ZEGEEE REEUREEERINMN M
BRztEARENERTKBRET AETZ
18 A P18 38 Fl 8 B 30 & %820,322,0007% 7T © %
RS FBERIFE19 X504 5 °

47 R EHEREIE
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45 & W% Ht 2 M 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
ToME+=-A=1+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December 2024

46. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

(a)

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the
Group reclassified a portion of stock of properties
of HK$265,957,000 as owner-occupied premises.
Accordingly, that portion of stock of properties was
transferred to property, plant and equipment when
the status ceased.

During the year ended 31st December 2024, the
Group entered into new lease agreements for the
offices. On the lease commencement, the Group
recognised right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of

HK$553,000.

During the year ended 31st December 2023,
the Group entered into new lease agreements
for the offices and warehouse. On the lease
commencement, the Group recognised right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of HK$34,536,000.

The Group has acquired 25% of non-controlling
interests as at 12th July 2024 subsequent to the
acquisition of Modern Vision held by Reform Base,
at a consideration of HK$479,678,000. Upon the
completion of the transaction, Over Profit became
an indirect 75% owned subsidiary of the Company.
This transaction does not involve in a change in
control over Over Profit. The consideration was
satisfied by the outstanding amount of the Loan and
the remaining Loan amount of HK$20,322,000 is
repayable by Ms. Chen within 6 to 12 months from
the date of completion of the transfer of the Rights.
Details of the transaction are disclosed in notes 19
and 50.

47. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event took place subsequent to

end of the reporting date.
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AN BHRER-_T_AF=-A=-T/\BEE=S
SHAE RIRAETE -

PBRE-—HEEZENBARZ
FERES

&I EEReform BasefT#BModern Visionfg + A&
BN T -mEL A+ =3 KEL25%IEE R
&=+ R{E H479,678,000/ 7T ° MR 5 FEREF + Over
Profitl B AR BB AT75%E s 2 FERB AR - %
R ZT KOver ProfitZz 24 E8) - ZR 518
A FE194H 5E ©

48.

49.

4% A M B it & B 5 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
—E-NE+=HB=+—RIL%E For the year ended 31st December 2024

APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28
March 2025.

ACQUISITION OF NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS OF AN INDIRECT WHOLLY-
OWNED SUBSIDIARY

The Group has acquired 25% of non-controlling interests
as at 12th July 2024 subsequent to the acquisition of
Modern Vision held by Reform Base, at a consideration of
HK$479,678,000. Upon the completion of the transaction,
Over Profit became an indirect 75% owned subsidiary
of the Company. This transaction does not involve in
a change in control over Over Profit. Details of the
transaction are disclosed in note 19.
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F. 4 B B B 22 Five Year Financial Summary

AEEREREMBFEZETIERREA

2(REACTZEZEERPBRR)HEIINTX -

LEEREER

A summary of the published results and the assets and
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is

set out below.

E Results
BE+t-A=t+-BILEE
For the year ended 31st December
“E-=f —E--f —Z-—% —Z-FTF
2023 2022 2021 2020
FET TET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(&=71)
(Restated)
Yz Revenue 728,216 206,168 3,879 3,717 3,647
B 74 Bl 5 18 Loss before tax (349,322) (288,154) (93,655) (148,649) (107,359)
R (%) /Ee Income tax (expense)/credit (1,307) (1,354) (465) - 32
REBELEEB L Loss for the year from
FEEE continuing operations (350,629) (289,508) (94,120) (148,649) (107,327)
REERILEEEB L Loss for the year from
FEEE discontinued operations - - - (7,866) (3,116)
FEBE Loss for the year (350,629)  (289,508) (94,120)  (156,515)  (110,443)
IATALEEFEERBE:  Loss for the year
attributable to:
ADREEA Owners of the Company (351,930)  (289,477) (94,101)  (156,496)  (110,430)
FERER Non-controlling interests 1,301 (31) (19) (19) (13)
(350,629) (289,508) (94,120) (156,515) (110,443)
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F. 4 BF 5 BE 22 Five Year Financial Summary

BEEREE Assets and liabilities
AR A = =
At 31st December
ZEZ=F B ZZ-—F ZT-EH
2023 2022 2021 2020
FAET T FAET THAT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EERE Total assets 4,205,511 5,184,596 5,247,857 5,285,909 958138574l
BRERE Total liabilities (2,151,111)  (2,524,113)  (2,298,105)  (2,221,933)  (1,908,300)
BEFE Net assets 2,054,400 2,660,483 2,949,752 3,063,976 3,435,271
ARAEBAEGER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 2,053,818 2,661,142 2,950,433 3,064,638 3,435,914
IR Non-controlling interests 582 (659) (681) (662) (643)
B Total equity 2,054,400 2,660,483 2,949,752 3,063,976 3,435,271




252

CHINA STAR ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED th 2 S Bl G R A 1] ¢ ANNUAL REPORT 2024 4%

ﬁ@%%/%%%%&ﬁg%ﬁﬂwﬂMHﬂﬁmDw&mmm%kMMMWmmmHWﬂW

AEERZZ_WME+ZA=+-BZRHERE HE

Particulars of the Group’s properties held for development/sale

MEFBHIINN T : at 31st December 2024 are set out below:
Be  fHERE
fhif BBEE R F£H
1% BR% TIRR ZIFH  (EFK) (E5K) R# FEREE%
Estimated
Approx. gross
Estimated sitearea  floor area Effective %
Stage of completion (square (square held by
Location Lot number completion year meter) meter)  Usage the Group
A BREE 6EEB-C DREMER HITARHER TR 3,900 46157 % BEREES 100%
Zona de Aterros do Porto Lot C,Dand E in Construction completed N/A Residential, commercial
Exterior, Macau (ZAPE) Quarteirdo 6 and on sale and carparking
RFMBLELAEH HENECETER  HIRR it S 4,700 0077 (FERESS 75%
Eh=ikisid (i)
Nam Van Lakes Zone, Avenida Lot 7, da Zone C do Construction stage 2026 Residential and (Note)

Doutor Stanley Ho, Macau Plano de Urbanizagéo
da Zone da Bafa da
Praia Grande

carparking

Wiat: AEBEBRBEEZNEZISREZ  EH25%AE B Note: The Group effectively owned 75% of the property of which 25%

Reform BasefSREZEF AT XEER  Z R E=HES

A FE 2 25%IHE -

AEERZT_ME+ A=+ —BZRENMEFER

FIMTX :

1 2

Location

is owned by rights in relation to the shareholding of Reform

Base, a company beneficially owned 25% equity interest in the

property.

Particulars of the Group’s investment property at 31st

December 2024 are set out below:

RAERAZ

Existing use

HEE R
Category of lease term

AEALTREEEEERER
Section 5 Xinyi Road,
Xinyi Dist., Taipei City, Taiwan

EEREFEL
Residential and car parks

I
Freehold
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